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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT

ERBE

Dear valued shareholders,

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the
“Directors”) of Kin Yat Holdings Limited (the “Company”,
and, together with its subsidiaries, the “Group”), | am
pleased to present you the results for the year ended 31
March 2024 (the “Year” or “FY2024”).

RESULTS OVERVIEW AND KEY
ACHIEVEMENTS IN FY2023/24

Over the past few years, there has been a swift and
drastic change in geopolitical landscape and business
environment. Black swan events have become increasingly
frequent, from free trade to bilateral agreements to trade
tariffs, along with rising geopolitical tensions, supply chain
disruptions, and the unfortunate COVID-19 pandemic.
Consumer products have also seen significant fluctuations
in demand over this period, from initial reservation at the
early stage of the pandemic, to the vibrant work-from-
home economy, and to now the relatively weak consumer
sentiment. In fact, the rapid changes in consumer
behaviour have outpaced the possible adaptations
on the production end. As a result, our business has
suffered, as reflected by a 73.3% drop in revenue, from
HK$4,139,886,000 in FY2019 to HK$1,103,944,000 in
FY2024.

The drop in revenue has also put notable pressure on
our operating scale, with our capacity utilisation hovering
at a relatively low level and unit depreciation cost at a
high level, leading to significant diseconomies of scale.
Compounded by rising material and labour costs, our
manufacturing business reported an expanding loss this
year, from HK$14,889,000 in FY2023 to HK$111,644,000.
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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT

RESULTS OVERVIEW AND KEY
ACHIEVEMENTS IN FY2023/24 (continued)

Despite the unsatisfactory results, we have made
numerous attempts to rejuvenate our business over the
years. In the face of shrinking margins from our former
largest customer, we proactively readjusted our client
portfolio in 2019, aiming to diversify our client mix, tap into
new product categories, and ultimately expand margins.
On this front, we saw initial success from expanding
sector contributions, such as healthcare, smart products,
and juvenile and baby products. However, the drastic
change in the macroenvironment and consumer sentiment
has also led to a slow order replenishment, with brand
owners delaying orders and new product development
projects, thus leading to a slower-than-expected ramp-
up in client acquisition and utilisation, while affecting our
venture into new product categories.

Meanwhile, we invested in product research and
development to support our product diversification
strategy. For example, our micro-electric motor drives
used in Electronic Parking Brake application, which have
a higher price point, received favourable market feedback
due to their quality. Orders for these motors have been on
an upward trend since their introduction. Yet, it currently
lacks sufficient scale to provide significant contributions
to the Group’s profit, especially in a year signified by
weakening market demand.

On another front, we responded to customer calls for
overseas setups in view of rising geopolitical risks and the
need for regional market penetration, by introducing new
production lines in Malaysia, seeing it as Electrical and
Electronic Products Business Segment (“E&E Segment”)’s
manufacturing hub in Malaysia, as a potential pivot into
the Southeast Asian market and as an alternative to our
setups in China. However, since our expansion in 2019,
our Malaysia plant is still in the red mainly due to its lack
of operating scale, slower-than-expected client acquisition
partially affected by the COVID-19 pandemic.
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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT

ERBE

RESULTS OVERVIEW AND KEY
ACHIEVEMENTS IN FY2023/24 (continued)

We also tried to leverage our business networks and
relationships to generate additional value for our
shareholders. We started our real estate development
business in Dushan, yet the projects were hard-hit by
the pandemic and the worsening macroeconomic and
real estate market in China. With growing debt concerns
among developers and homebuyers, along with the
unexpected sharp decrease in sales performance and
hence valuation across the sector, there could be
further provisions to both projects, and a considerable
amount of operating expenses for a prolonged period is
expected, putting more pressure on the Group’s financial
performance.

All these challenges have forced us to dig deep and
rethink our strategy and business continuity.

FUTURE DEVELOPMENT STRATEGIES

Looking ahead, we will continue to focus on boosting
production efficiency and improving cost control, to yield
better margins and more room to manoeuvre. We will
also continue to strengthen our relationships with existing
clients, facilitate our venture into new product categories
and new geographical markets, and focus on product
R&D to drive client acquisition.

We are also mindful of the economic headwinds and the
importance of maintaining a prudent financial strategy. To
this end, we have replaced loans provided by banks in
Hong Kong with shorter-term revolving loans provided by
banks in China, in an effort to mitigate the high interest
rate environment in Hong Kong. We also disposed of
certain idle production facilities to strengthen our financial
position, and adopted a cautious approach to new
investments and capital expenditures, particularly in the
automated production lines of Motors Business Segment,
so that we can reserve more financial resources for future
challenges. Yet, the strategy also need to be changed in
the longer-term, as we are beginning to see an impact
on our motors business, with the Group unable to meet
customers’ demands for highly automated production
lines, thus losing orders and market share.
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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT

FUTURE DEVELOPMENT STRATEGIES
(continued)

All in all, the Group will make every effort to improve its
overall performance, with the keys largely lying in the E&E
Segment successfully acquiring new clients and increasing
order volumes, the Motors Business Segment accelerating
the strategic investments in automated production lines,
as well as the Real Estate Development Business Segment
successfully realising its investments in the existing
projects. Although it is far from impossible, these goals
require favourable externalities from many fronts, and
might not be accomplished by the Group’s efforts alone in
a short period of time. All we can do is to try hard with our
best execution.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS
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heartfelt gratitude to the Board members, our seasoned
management team, and our dedicated employees who
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CHENG Chor Kit
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong, 21 June 2024

ANNUAL REPORT 2024 4 [Z ¥

ERBE

ARBEBREE (&)

mEME  AEBESTERNMNEERR
B ERERERETERD BRI RN
EPNMEMTEE  EREBDBENEY A
BLAEERNBRERE UREBHEZRRE
BOBKNERENAEBEENERE - #R
FEUERREIFETAL  BNFEHEI
MENARES  REEAKENE N K
WVEEERE R MBS KR - HAFIFTREME
BRE2NIAR MBI &L -

B

AAEBERREFERNEZTE2C  KREE
F)E TR BB R R E L R R AR B BB M A
BB TEUA R RREN o NATRFE L & &
EFE HER EHBHERRROR DR
REE - RASRGRE  BHRE D HK
FER A B8 3 SR E R AT HO O B o

HEH

FIEFRITEAREL

B —ET-_WMFEFA=-+—H

KIN YAT HOLDINGS LIMITED #E#5%EABR A a]



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEENWNR DT

Kin Yat is one of the leading industrial enterprises engaged
in the development and production of niche, advanced
and quality electrical and electronic products, as well as
micro-electric motor drives and related products under
its house brand. In recent years, the Company has also
participated in the development of two real estate projects
in Dushan County (“Dushan”), Guizhou Province, China.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

For the year ended 31 March 2024 (the “Year” or
“FY2024”), the global business landscape did not
stabilise despite the world transitioning to the post-
COVID era. Frequent geopolitical incidents, surging
inflation and interest rates, along with the gradual
depletion of pandemic savings, have contributed to the
prevailing consumer conservatism and sluggish demand
for consumer products. The faster-than-expected
slowdown in consumer demand has also led to slow
order replenishment and delayed orders. As a result, the
Group’s order intake has notably suffered, with overall
turnover for the Year decreased by 8.7% year-over-
year (YoY) from approximately HK$1,209,602,000 to
approximately HK$1,103,944,000.

The Group’s total external turnover by segment is
analysed as follows:

° Electrical and Electronic Products Business
Segment (“E&E Segment”): HK$438,556,000,
representing 39.7% of the Group’s consolidated
turnover for the Year (for the year ended 31 March
2023 (“FY2023"): HK$459,846,000, 38.0%).

° Motors Business Segment (“Motors Segment”):
HK$660,150,000, contributing 59.8% of the
Group’s consolidated turnover for the Year
(FY2023: HK$745,516,000, 61.6%).

° Real Estate Development Business Segment:
HK$5,238,000, representing 0.5% of the Group’s
consolidated turnover for the Year (FY2023:
HK$4,240,000, 0.4%).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FINANCIAL REVIEW (continued)

Adding to the complexity, we have seen brand owners
delaying new product development and projects. Lacking
visibility into current and future pipelines, the Group strived
to improve production planning, streamline operations,
and reduce indirect overheads to maintain efficiency and
margins. As a result of increased efficiency and enhanced
product mix, stringent cost control benefits from reducing
staff and layoffs, and favourable reduction in depreciation
expenses and exchange movements which was partially
offset by the adverse impact of the reduced business
volume during the Year, overall gross profit (excluding
impairment) increased 11.1% YoY to HK$140,710,000
(FY2023: HK$126,665,000), with gross profit margin
largely maintained at 12.7% (FY2023: 10.5%).

During the Year, the value-in-use (“VIU”) assessment of
the two manufacturing business segments (each defined
as a separate cash-generating unit or “CGU”) was
performed due to their respective unfavourable business
performance. As a result of the assessment, aggregate
impairment loss on non-financial assets of the Group to
HK$139,408,000 was recognised, mainly attributable
to the impairment losses of properties, plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets and goodwill amounting
to HK$131,040,000, HK$3,718,000 and HK$4,650,000
respectively for the Motors CGU. No impairment for
the E&E CGU was required for the Year after the VIU
assessment. (FY2023: impairment loss of HK$14,076,000
on the properties, plant and equipment and HK$6,207,000
on goodwill for the E&E CGU). The Real Estate Business
Segment also recorded an impairment loss on properties
under development and completed properties held for sale
of HK$26,482,000 in the Year due to a decline in the fair
value of properties from last year in light of the sluggish
property market in Guizhou and slowing economy of the
PRC, compared to an impairment loss of HK$240,078,000
in FY2023. The considerable reduction in impairment
loss of the Real Estate Business Segment from last
year was attributed to the absence of the non-recurring
loss arising from the write-off of the development and
construction costs of the Shelved Phase of The Jardin
Montsouris during FY2023 Therefore, the loss attributable
to equity holders of the Company for the Year narrowed
to HK$212,132,000 from the loss attributable to equity
holders of HK$294,169,000 for FY2023. Basic loss per
share for the Year was HK48.33 cents (FY2023: HK67.01
cents).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEENWNR DT

OPERATIONAL REVIEW

Manufacturing Businesses

The Group operates two manufacturing businesses in
three major production centres in China, of which two
are based in Guangdong Province, namely in Songgang,
Baoan District, Shenzhen City (“Shenzhen”) and Shixing
County, Shaoguan City (“Shixing”), respectively, with the
third located in Dushan, Guizhou Province. The Group’s
production bases are also supplemented by the respective
micro-electric motor and encoder-related production
facility and the E&E Segment production facility in
Malaysia.

Electrical and Electronic Products Business Segment
The E&E Segment provides development, design, and
manufacturing services for four main product categories:
(i) robotics, (ii) juvenile products and baby care products,
(iliy smart products and (iv) healthcare products.

During the Year, consumer sentiment remained relatively
weak, signified by conservative orders from existing
clients and slow product development across sectors,
due to weaker consumer appetite and challenging
macroeconomic environment. The Segment reassessed
its strategies to adapt to the evolving landscape, boosting
efficiency by streamlining production workflows and
realigning human resources composition to reduce
overhead costs. Despite efforts and some success in
niche markets, the Segment reported a modest decrease
in turnover particularly from its European and American
clients. Although there were signs of recovery in the latest
quarter of the financial year, the order levels led to a
relatively low capacity utilisation rate.

External turnover of the Segment decreased by 4.6% to
approximately HK$438,556,000 during the Year (FY2023:
HK$459,846,000), accounting for 39.7% (FY2023: 38.0%)
of the Group’s overall revenue. Despite stringent cost
control and streamlining measures, business development
was slower than expected. After a one-off gain disposal
of assets in Shaoguan of approximately HK$61,812,000
under the Three-old Renovation and specific impairment
provisions of property, plant and equipment of
HK$11,149,000 (FY2023: HK$14,076,000), the Segment
recorded a profit of HK$51,451,000 (FY2023: loss of
HK$15,211,000) for the year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

OPERATIONAL REVIEW (continued)

Manufacturing Businesses (continued)

Electrical and Electronic Products Business Segment
(continued)

The juvenile and baby care products sector showed
certain improvements, with demand steadily picking up
during the later part of the Year. The healthcare sector,
though operating on a low volume and revenue base, also
received active inquiries for new model developments. In
the future, the Segment plans to leverage its Internet of
Things (“loT”) expertise experience to co-develop more
advanced healthcare products with its clients.

Future Outlook

Order volumes may continue to fluctuate, and niche
market clients may need more time to grow and gain
scale. Nonetheless, the Segment will focus on client and
market development, improving order book visibility, and
strategically planning its production schedule to minimise
costs and maximise efficiency. In response to clients’
increasing demand for a diversified and agile production
setup, the Segment intends to further ramp up its
production facility in Malaysia with new investments, and
integrate it into its manufacturing metrics by reorganising
orders, process flow, and resources. This will further
establish the Company as a manufacturing group with
multinational production facilities, allowing the Company to
secure more orders and customers in the future.

The Segment will also continue to nurture existing clients
in niche sectors, such as juvenile and baby care products
and healthcare products, helping them in product co-
development and driving order volume and customer
stickiness. Overall, the Segment will maintain a sharp
focus on areas of competitiveness and stringent cost
control, aiming to boost its current margin level, and
achieve sustainable growth.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEEN WK D

OPERATIONAL REVIEW (continued)

Manufacturing Businesses (continued)

Motors Business Segment

The Motors Segment focuses on the development, design,
manufacturing, and sales of micro-electric motor drives
and related products, ranging from direct-current (“DC”)
micro-electric motors to encoders and related products.
Recently, its product offering was extended to larger-
sized motor drives, brushless DC motors and gearboxes,
under the “Motor Plus” category, to capture the latest
technological trends and market demand. Supported
by its major production facility in Shixing, supplemented
by the production facility in Malaysia, the Segment has
essentially established a dual-base production and
research and development (“R&D”) platform, able to
provide customers with innovative, flexible, closer-to-
market, yet cost-competitive manufacturing solutions.
The Segment has been categorised into four sectors
of application, namely automobiles, office automation
equipment, toys, and household appliances.

Despite high hopes for a strong post-pandemic recovery,
the Segment faced challenges such as geopolitical
incidents, high interest and inflation rates, weaker-
than-expected household consumer sentiment, and
overconsumption during the pandemic, all casting
doubts on the Segment’s business visibility and
sustainability. Product throughput has been slow, as
notable downstream players reporting unsatisfactory sales
performance, and branded partners generally reduced or
delayed new orders and new product development due
to the global economic slowdown. Consequently, sales
volume decreased YoY with external turnover significantly
decreased by 11.5% to HK$660,150,000 (FY2023:
HK$745,516,000).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

OPERATIONAL REVIEW (continued)

Manufacturing Businesses (continued)
Motors Business Segment (continued)

During the Year, the Segment suffered from rising raw
material costs and the appreciation of major operating
expenses, such as labour cost, partially offset by benefits
of the RMB depreciation. In view of the decrease in
orders, the Segment adjusted its production schedule
and inventory levels to help mitigate rising operating
costs. Despite these efforts, the decreased production
volume increased per-unit depreciation expenses, which
in turn has led to a decline in gross margin. In view of this
and considering the uncertainty in the future economic
environment, the negative value-in-use of the Segment
was formed, and an impairment loss on non-financial
assets comprising property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets, goodwill with- amount of approximately
HK$139,408,000 (FY2023: Nil) was recorded, together
with other specific impairments on property, plant and
equipment with total amount of HK$6,732,000 (FY2023:
HK$36,714,000), resulting in a segment loss result of
HK$163,095,000 (FY2023: profit of HK$322,000) for the
Year.

Future Outlook

One of the Segment’s major raw materials, copper,
continued its upward surge in price, recently hitting the
highest level since June 2022. According to Chinese trade
data published in April 2024, the import price of refined
copper in the first quarter was also up 6.9% YoY. Such
increase is expected to put additional cost pressure on
the Segment’s margin. Coupled with the increasing price
competition from peers, the operating environment is
expected to remain challenging. To counter, the Segment
will implement aggressive cost control initiatives, including
closely monitoring inventory level, improving workflows
and increasing production efficiency, and improving
utilisation of staff etc.

On the other hand, the Segment will also strengthen its
R&D and client relationships, in order to ensure steady
order volumes and future collaboration opportunities,
particularly in the electric vehicle sector. On its
manufacturing setup, the Segment will also maintain
its “China Plus One” long-term strategy, capturing the
growing demand for overseas expansion from its existing
clients. The Segment will gradually expand its capacity
in its production site in Malaysia, while exploring more
expansion opportunities in the regional market, further
diversifying its geographical and industry-specific risks.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEENWNR DT

OPERATIONAL REVIEW (continued)

Non-manufacturing Business

Real Estate Development Business Segment

During the Year, the Segment continued to hold two
residential property development projects in Dushan
Economic Development Zone, namely The Royale
Cambridge Residences and The Jardin Montsouris.

China’s troubled property market ended 2023 with the
worst declines in new home prices in nearly nine years,
despite government efforts to support the sector that
was once a key driver of the world’s second-largest
economy. New home prices in December 2023 logged
their steepest drop since February 2015, according to the
National Bureau of Statistics of China, with new residential
developments falling 58% from 1,515 million sg.m. in
2019 to 637 million sg.m. in 2023. Demand suffered from
the broader economic slowdown in China, while notable
industry players facing financial weaknesses, raising
concerns about potential defaults and heightened credit
risks. Under the sluggish market conditions, the Segment
recorded a loss of HK$39,746,000 during the Year
(FY2023: loss of HK$257,521,000), including impairment
provisions of HK$26,482,000 (FY2023: HK$240,078,000).

The Royale Cambridge Residences

With a total site area of approximately 83,166 sg.m.,
the project is divided into two phases. As of 31 March
2024, the completed gross floor area (“GFA”) of the
residential properties of the first phase for sale was
35,338 sqg.m., comprising 116 units of villa, with the
second phase development continuously put on hold
amid the challenging market condition. During the Year, 6
units of the villa were sold, of which 4 were entered into
for the settlement and offsetting part of the outstanding
construction and development cost of the Jardin
Montsouris, bringing the total number of sold villas to 54
as of 31 March 2024.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

OPERATIONAL REVIEW (continued)

Non-manufacturing Business (continued)

Real Estate Development Business Segment (continued)
The Jardin Montsouris

With a total site area of approximately 66,666 sg.m., the
Segment is currently on course to complete its Phase
1A development, which comprises a total of 460 units
of apartments with a total GFA of 64,427 sq.m. for
sale. During the Year, 4 units were sold to construction
contractors, settling part of their outstanding construction
and development cost balances. As of 31 March 2024,
approximately 62% of 460 units of apartments developed
under Phase 1A were contracted for sale. However,
without, the final acceptance certificates, these contracted
sales were not able to be recognised as revenue during
the Year.

In consideration of the dim outlook, the Segment has
discontinued the further development of Shelved Phases
(the “Shelved Phases”) (i.e. Phases 1B, IC and 1D of
the Jardin Montsouris) during the last financial year,
comprising a land area of 45,869 sqg.m., with 275,867
sg.m. of the GFA of the properties yet to be developed,
writing off all the construction and development costs
incurred (except for the related land parcel, in which its
value was assessed and appraised in accordance with the
relevant valuation conducted by an independent valuer)
attributable to the Shelved Phases in the last financial
year. The loss arising from the written-off was one-off and
non-recurring in nature.

Future Outlook

The China real estate market underwent profound
adjustments throughout 2023 due to weak overall demand
and cautious sentiment. Despite the recent rollout of
supportive policies to salvage the beleaguered property
market, the Segment remains cautious about the near
and middle-term prospects for its properties in Dushan
County. The China real estate market is becoming more
polarised. As one of the underprivileged regions in China,
the Segment believes that Dushan is unlikely to see
a quick rebound in residential housing demand in the
near future, given the county’s worsening demographic
composition, subdued economic activities, and
oversupply. The downward pressure on property prices is
also expected to continue as local developers increasingly
favour further discounts for quick cash conversion.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEENWNR DT

OPERATIONAL REVIEW (continued)

Non-manufacturing Business (continued)

Real Estate Development Business Segment (continued)
Future Outlook (continued)

In view of the recent sales performance, the Segment will
prioritise completing the remaining minor construction and
auxiliary works of Phase 1A of The Jardin Montsouris,
and securing the relevant final acceptance certificates.
Efforts will continue to sell the remaining property units
to individual end-users, and the Segment will explore
the possibility of realising the projects as a whole for an
appropriate consideration to liquidate investments sooner.

GROUP OUTLOOK

Given the deteriorating macroeconomic environment
and fast-changing consumer market, the Group does
not expect a quick recovery for its businesses in the
near future. Rising material costs, increasing order book
uncertainty, worsening capacity utilisation, and growing
finance costs will all put pressure on the Group’s financial
performance. The stagnated real estate market in China
may also further impact its real estate development
business and hence financial results. As a result, much
effort will be on customer retention and acquisition to
secure order book, as well as cost control initiatives to
improve and enhance margins.

To expand its revenue streams, the Group will continue to
nurture new sectors’ development, while keeping a keen
eye on the changing consumer preferences for potential
new market entries. Despite the low capacity utilisation
rate of the E&E Segment Malaysia production plant,
the Group is committed to pursing its “China Plue One”
strategy, aiming to ramp up the usage of its Malaysian
plant and laying a solid foothold for its overseas market
expansion. The Group will also strive to boost its capacity
utilisation through order and resources reorganisation, in
order to mitigate the rising cost pressure from the rising
per-unit depreciation. All in all, the Group will cautiously
manage its working capital, implement stringent cost
control measures, and exercise caution in dealing with
uncertain market conditions and challenges ahead.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

DIVIDENDS

The Board has resolved not to declare any final dividend
for the Year (2023: Nil).

FINANCIAL CONDITIONS, LIQUIDITY
AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

The Group primarily used its internally generated cash
flows and banking facilities to finance its operations
and business development. The Group has always
been executing a prudent and conservative strategy
in its financial management. As at 31 March 2024, the
Group had time deposits of HK$129,990,000 (31 March
2023: HK$10,006,000), cash and bank balances of
HK$118,810,000 (31 March 2023: HK$203,372,000),
and net current assets of HK$180,992,000 (31 March
2023: HK$257,905,000). As at 31 March 2024,
shareholders’ equity was HK$855,589,000 (31 March
2023: HK$1,104,685,000). Total consolidated banking
facilities of the Group from all banks as at 31 March 2024
amounted to approximately HK$457,300,000 (31 March
2023: HK$548,486,000). As at 31 March 2024, total bank
borrowings amounted to HK$369,146,000 (31 March
2023: HK$351,265,000).

As at 31 March 2024, the bank borrowings of the Group
repayable within one year amounted to HK$369,146,000
(81 March 2023: HK$269,065,000) and the remaining
balance repayable within second to fifth years was nil (31
March 2023: HK$82,200,000).

As at 31 March 2024, the current ratio of the Group
(current assets divided by current liabilities) was
maintained at 1.20 times (31 March 2023: 1.31 times)
and the gearing ratio of the Group (total bank borrowings
divided by total equity) was 43.1% (31 March 2023:
31.8%).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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CAPITAL STRUCTURE

As at 31 March 2024, the total issued share capital of
the Company was HK$43,896,000 (31 March 2023:
HK$43,896,000), comprising 438,960,000 (31 March
2023: 438,960,000) ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each.
There was no change in the share capital of the Company
during the Year.

CHARGE ON THE GROUP’S ASSETS

As at 31 March 2024, the following assets were pledged
as collaterals for credit facilities granted to the Group by a
bank and certain other borrowings to the Group.

BAREE

RZE-_WMF=ZA=+—H ' ARFHE
1T AY N 4258 543,896,0008 7L (ZE - =
F=H=+—H :43,896,000/ L) * B4
438,960,000 (ZE = =F=HA=+—H :
438,960,0000%) B I EE0.108 T W L i@
ff o RRABI 2 BRARETFEREES) -

FEBHNEEIKF
RZZEZWNFE=ZA=+—H xEEERKE
FTAREEZRITEERMERE T EMAEFIK
BUTEERERSR -

2024 2023
—E_ME —E-=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET

Credit facilities from a bank: RITEERE
Leasehold land and buildings HELHHNEF 104,647 -

Other borrowings: H AR

Properties under development ERPYE 6,664 14,825
Completed properties held for sales BELREZRIME 7,864 4,826
14,528 19,651
119,175 19,651

FOREIGN CURRENCY EXPOSURE

The Group’s monetary assets, liabilities and transactions
are principally denominated in Hong Kong dollars and
RMB or U.S. dollars. The Group does not have a foreign
currency hedging policy on it. In order to manage and
minimise the foreign exchange risk, the management shall
from time to time review and monitor the foreign exchange
exposure and will consider hedging the significant foreign
currency exposure when appropriate and necessary.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

INTEREST RATE RISK

The Group’s financial facilities are denominated in Hong
Kong dollars and RMB and interests on bank borrowings
are chargeable based on certain interest margin over the
Hong Kong Interbank Offered Rate and the People’s Bank
of China lending rate which are therefore of floating rate in
nature. The Group has not entered into any interest rate
risk hedge to mitigate exposure to interest rate risk during
the Year.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION
POLICIES

As at 31 March 2024, the Group employed around 3,900
full-time employees, of which less than 70 of them were
stationed in Hong Kong headquarters with the remaining
working mainly in the PRC and Malaysia.

The Board’s remuneration committee of the Company
made recommendation to the Board on the policy and
structure of the Company for all remuneration of Directors,
reviewed and determined the remuneration package of
individual executive Director and senior management of
the Company with reference to the Board’s corporate
goals and objectives, responsibilities and employment
conditions elsewhere within the Group and in the
market. The Group remunerates its employees largely
in accordance with prevailing industry standards. In
Hong Kong, the Group’s employee benefits include staff
retirement scheme, medical scheme and performance
bonus. In the PRC and Malaysia, the Group provides its
employee’s staff welfare and allowances in accordance
with the prevailing labour laws.

ANNUAL REPORT 2024 4 [Z ¥

EEENWE D

A = & e
AEBEZHBRMEAETRAREFE M
RITEEZNEBNREBRITRERS LD
HARBRITERMEMETEEZHE - At
HMERFHNE RAFE - AEEIL K
A 7T A 0 M) 2% Ja g S b A R0 B M) R L fn o

BE R FMER

R-ZE-_WNE=ZA=+—8 AEEEEY
3,900 2 HEE AR ETHEABILNEE
ARN706L - EpEERF B R HERAE TE -

ARBZELZCGETHMEZBEERALAEF
AEREFTFMAIBRRARBRAESSR
HiE R2REZGMRI RN KA
3% BEMAEE LTSN REBCNER
B KEHLEBEARRARMENNTESR
BEREEABNHFHGE ARETEZRR
RBUOZTEGEETERERM -REE
AEEZEEBMBEE TRIKGE  BE
FPEIREMIEA - RPBRFRAED - RNE
BRRRITEPEREEBRHE TR R
R -

KIN YAT HOLDINGS LIMITED #E#5%EABR A a]

19



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

As set out in the annual results announcement of the
Company dated 21 June 2024 in relation to the date
of annual general meeting of the Company (the “AGM”)
and the closure of register of members (the “Register of
Members”), the AGM for the Year was initially scheduled
to be held on Thursday, 29 August 2024 and the Register
of Members would initially be closed from Monday, 26
August 2024 to Thursday, 29 August 2024, both days
inclusive, during which period no transfer of shares will be
effected to determine the entitlement of shareholders to
attend and vote at the AGM.

With reference to the Company’s announcement dated
18 July 2024, the AGM is rescheduled to be held on
Thursday, 26 September 2024 (the “Rescheduled AGM”).
Corresponding to the change of the date of the AGM, the
Register of Members is rescheduled to be closed from
Monday, 23 September 2024 to Thursday, 26 September
2024, both days inclusive, during which period no transfer
of shares will be effected. In order to be eligible to attend
and vote at the Rescheduled AGM of the Company, all
transfers of shares, accompanied by the relevant share
certificates, must be lodged with the Company’s branch
share registrar and transfer agent in Hong Kong, Tricor
Tengis Limited, at 17/F., Far East Finance Centre, 16
Harcourt Road, Hong Kong, for registration by no later
than 4:30 p.m. on Friday, 20 September 2024.

Cheng Chor Kit
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
Hong Kong, 21 June 2024
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF THE DIRECTORS

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Cheng Chor Kit, aged 72, is the chairman and the
chief executive officer of the Company. He is the founder
of the Group and is responsible for the Group’s overall
operation and strategic planning. He is also a member
of the Board’s remuneration committee and nomination
committee. Mr. Cheng served as a member of the
Guangdong Provincial Committee of the Chinese People’s
Political Consultative Conference (the “CPPCC”) and a
Standard member of the Shaoguan Committee of the
CPPCC. Mr. Cheng has over 50 years of experience in the
toy industry.

Mr. Liu Tat Luen, aged 59, is an executive Director since
December 2009. Mr. Liu holds a Bachelor Degree in
Science (Quantity Surveying) from the University of Hong
Kong and a Master Degree in Business Administration
from the Chinese University of Hong Kong. Prior to
joining the Company, Mr. Liu served as a director and
a responsible officer in a corporate finance advisory
firm (type 6 regulated activities under the Securities
and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO”) in Hong Kong and
has over 20 years of working experience in the financial
industry in Asia as a whole.

Mr. Cheng Tsz To, aged 37, is an executive Director
since June 2014. After graduating with a Master’s degree
of Engineering in Mechatronics with honors from the
University of Sheffield, the United Kingdom, Mr. Cheng
joined the Group in 2010 and is the chief executive officer
of the Electrical & Electronic Business Segment of the
Group. He is the son of Mr. Cheng Chor Kit, the executive
Director and the controlling shareholder (as defined under
the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”)) of
the Company and is the younger brother of Mr. Cheng Tsz
Hang, the executive Director of the Company.

ANNUAL REPORT 2024 4 [Z ¥

ESERHE

BITES

BEAEE £t 2R ARREERTH
mE - WAAEBARA TABEAREEE
REEMKERE -RIREZTSETHM
ZEENRELZEEKE - BAELEGELT
BARBAHAEZ ((PEARBAHES
Z)EREZREEZE  RPBEARBAH
HEREREHRETZREGREKEZE - BE
ERMAEBAERD T F&5R -

BERELEE Athm B-TTAE+=
ARBBERTESZ BRAERAERRBL
ITHASMELT 2N WHEEFEPXKRE
ZIREBRBLEM - RIMAKXRAR - B
EERBE —HEEREXZARR (ATETE
BEFMABGHI (TEZRRAEER)ET
FOEIMEBEEHEH) HEEFTRAEAR
B ERNBEIMNERTEREE _+F
Z TR -

WrHELLE =ttm BT —HFEXA
EEERTES RNABEJNFAEAREX
EEBGHMEFRRBBE T BUEK  BEE
RZF-—FENMALREEH  RAKEERK
ETEMEBOBRIITBAH - HAKRATF
HWITEFREBRBRR (ERRBEME XA
BRAREZ LA (T EMRA)) ERE 4
REZRTFRARDWPTESTE FHEEZ
R

KIN YAT HOLDINGS LIMITED #E#5%EABR A a]

21



22

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF THE DIRECTORS

ESERFE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (continued)

Mr. Cheng Tsz Hang, aged 40, is an executive Director
since March 2016. After studied Physics and Mathematics
in the Loughborough University, the United Kingdom, Mr.
Cheng joined the Group in 2007. He is the chief executive
officer of the Motors Business Segment of the Group since
July 2013. Mr. Cheng is the son of Mr. Cheng Chor Kit,
the executive Director and the controlling shareholder (as
defined under the Listing Rules) of the Company and is the
elder brother of Mr. Cheng Tsz To, the executive Director
of the Company.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

Mr. Wong Chi Wai, aged 58, has been an independent
non-executive Director since September 2004. He is the
chairman of the Board’s audit committee and a member
of the Board’s nomination committee and remuneration
committee. On 28 August 2023, he was appointed as the
chairman of the Board’s audit committee and resigned
as the chairman of the Board’s nomination committee.
Mr. Wong currently serves as an independent non-
executive director of C&D International Investment Group
Limited (stock code: 1908) and Arts Optical International
Holdings Limited (stock code: 1120), all of which are
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. From
June 20083 to 21 September 2020, Mr. Wong also served
as an independent non-executive director of Bonjour
Holdings Limited (stock code: 0653). Mr. Wong obtained
a Bachelor’s Degree in Social Science and was awarded a
post-graduate certificate in laws by the University of Hong
Kong in 1988 and 1993, respectively. He is a practising
certified public accountant in Hong Kong and an associate
member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in
England and Wales. He has over 30 years of experience
in the accountancy profession. Other than his private
practice in accounting, Mr. Wong has been admitted as
a solicitor at the High Court in March 2019 and currently
practices as a consultant in a law firm.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF THE DIRECTORS

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS (continued)

Mr. Cheung Wang Ip, aged 63, has been an independent
non-executive Director since July 2014. He is the
chairman of the Board’s remuneration committee and
a member of the Board’s nomination committee and
audit committee. Mr. Cheung is a Chartered General
Practice Surveyor by profession and has over 30 years of
professional work experience in the property industry and
related fields, including valuation and feasibility study. Mr.
Cheung is a corporate member of both the Royal Institute
of Chartered Surveyors and the Hong Kong Institute of
Surveyors (General Practice) as well as a member of
Associacao da Avaliacao da Propriedade de Macau.
He is a member of the China Real Estate Chamber of
Commerce Hong Kong Chapter and a member of China
Real Estate Appraiser in the PRC. In addition, Mr. Cheung
served as a member of the Shanxi Provincial Committee
of the CPPCC. Currently, Mr. Cheung is the Operation
Head of Hong Kong and Macau and an executive director
of Vigers Appraisal and Consulting Limited (“Vigers”), he
is also an executive director of Vigers Macao Company
Limited (Vigers is an indirectly wholly-owned subsidiary of
a listed company whose shares listed on the Singapore
Exchange Securities Trading Limited). Prior to joining
Vigers in 2006, Mr. Cheung was a senior director of the
Valuation and Consultancy Department in Savills Hong
Kong Limited, where he held the position of the Head
of Hong Kong and Macau valuation team. He had held
various positions in companies including the Mass Transit
Railway Corporation, Guangzhou Investment Company
Limited and Jones Lang Wootton.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF THE DIRECTORS
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS (continued)

Mr. Chan Yim Por Bonnie, aged 58, has been an
independent non-executive Director since August 2023.
He is the chairman of the Board’s nomination committee
and a member of the Board’s remuneration committee
and audit committee. From July 2011 to 31 March 2021,
Mr. Chan also served as an independent non-executive
director of Golden Century International Holdings Group
Limited (stock code: 0091, formerly known as “New
Smart Energy Group Limited”). He is a practising solicitor
and notary public (practising) in Hong Kong who was
admitted as a solicitor in Hong Kong in 1991 and in
England and Wales in 1992. He is currently a member
of The Law Society of Hong Kong and the Hong Kong
Society of Notaries. He obtained a Bachelor’s Degree of
Laws in 1988 and a Master’'s Degree of Laws in 1993
and has been practising as a solicitor in the commercial
field in Hong Kong since 1991. He established his own
firm, Messrs. Yeung & Chan, Solicitors in 1996 and is
now the sole proprietor of the firm. He has been a part-
time lecturer and tutor of the Postgraduate Certificate
in Laws at The University of Hong Kong since 2002 and
was admitted as an adjunct lecturer of the HKU School of
Professional and Continuing Education in 2009. Mr. Chan
is a member of the HKSAR Notaries Public Disciplinary
Tribunal Panel since 2019.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

The Directors of the Company present their report and the
audited financial statements for the year ended 31 March
2024.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment
holding. Details of the principal activities of the Company’s
principal subsidiaries are set out in Note 14 to the financial
statements. The principal activities of the subsidiaries
consisted of the design, manufacture and sale of
electrical and electronic products, motor drives, other
manufacturing businesses and real estate development.
There were no significant changes in the nature of the
Group’s principal activities during the Year.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The Group’s loss for the Year and the Group’s financial
position at that date are set out in the financial statements
on pages 85 to 219 of this annual report.

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final
dividend to the shareholders for the Year.

DONATIONS

During the Year, the Group made charitable donation of
HK$11,000 (2023: HK$62,000).

BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the business and the performance of the
Group for the year ended 31 March 2024 is provided
in the chapters of “Chairman’s Statement” and
“Management Discussion and Analysis” set out on pages
4 to 7 and pages 8 to 20, respectively, of this annual
report.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

The Group’s main operations are carried out both in Hong
Kong and Mainland China and are regulated by the local
laws and regulations accordingly. During the Year and up
to the date of this annual report, the Group has complied
with the relevant laws and regulations that have significant
impact on Hong Kong and Mainland China.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

EEEHRE

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND
UNCERTAINTIES

The Group faces various risks and uncertainties in
operations. To cope with the risks, the Group’s risk
management and internal control systems are in place
to ensure the principal risks are continuously identified,
monitored and managed on an established basis.

Post-COVID-19 era

Despite the world transitioning to the post-COVID era, the
epidemic changed ultimate customers’ confidence and
their buying habits, resulting in reducing our customers’
purchase orders, and ultimately, a drop in overall sales of
our products. Meanwhile, the sustained lockdowns on the
mainland also affected our labour availability, supply chain
and export logistic were also considerable. Under such
interlocking circumstances, the risks faced by the Group’s
businesses at all levels have been exacerbated.

Macroeconomic and political environments

The turbulent factors in the world order, such as the
Russia-Ukraine conflict, the impact of the epidemic, and
the game between great powers have contributed to
global inflation. Since 2022, the global economies have
adjusted their base interest rates to control the high
inflation risks brought about by their quantitative easing
policy. Doubtlessly, the action not only slowed down the
post-epidemic economic resumption but also significantly
increased the Group’s cash outflow, eroded its operating
performance and increased its financial pressure.

Details of the Group’s foreign currency exposure
and interest rate risk are provided in the chapter of
“Management Discussion and Analysis” set out on pages
8 to 20 of this annual report.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND
UNCERTAINTIES (continued)

Supply chain risks

As a manufacturing corporation, a stable supply of quality
materials is a prerequisite for and pivotal to the production
of excellent products. The disruptions in the supply chain
and logistics caused by the epidemic have now stabilised
but the strong demand for a variety of products collided
with persistent supply shortages and drives widespread
prices of materials up. Nonetheless, through the long-term
business relationships with a number of suppliers, we
perceive the risk of the supply chain to still be manageable
and are confident that we can secure a stable supply
of required materials at reasonable prices to fulfill our
operational needs.

People risks

The Group’s future development strongly relies on
recruiting the right talents. As discussed above, during
the epidemic, many employees decided to quit their jobs
and return to their hometowns, resulting in a shortage
of skilled employees. A shortage or loss of talents with
suitable skills or experience may pose a potential risk to
the Group’s achievement of its strategic objectives. Other
than providing competitive salaries and benefits to attract
and retain qualified talents, the Group also took this
opportunity to improve automation to fill the shortage of
manpower.

The abovementioned do not present an exhaustive
picture of the risks and uncertainties facing the Group.
The Management of the Group would closely monitor
these factors and evaluate their impacts on the Group’s
operation from time to time, and formulate and devise
appropriate policies and measures to cope with the
threats of the risks posed to the operation.
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KEY RELATIONSHIPS WITH STAFF,
CUSTOMERS, SUPPLIERS AND
SHAREHOLDERS

The Group’s success depends on the support from
key stakeholders which comprise our staff, customers
suppliers as well as our shareholders.

The Group values our employees as the most significant
and valuable assets to the Group, a comprehensive
benefit package is offered to each employee for
recognising their efforts. The Group also has a significant
mission for providing a healthy and safety workplace to
all employees. During the Year, no significant accident
occurred due to workplace accident.

The Group commits to provide quality services and
products to each customer, any complaints from our
customers are handled and investigated in thorough and
efficient manner.

The purchase of goods and contracting of services are
based solely on need, quality and price of the goods and
services. A fair and open competition in procurement with
high ethical standards promoted by the Group assure
high products quality at all times to gain the confidence of
customers.

For details of relationship with the shareholders of the
Company can be found in the chapter of “Corporate
Governance Report” set out on pages 46 to 73 of this
annual report.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the consolidated results, assets and
liabilities of the Group for the last five financial years is set
out on page 220 of this annual report. The summary does
not form part of the audited financial statements.

BORROWINGS

Particulars of the Group’s bank borrowings as at 31
March 2024 are set out in Note 28 to the financial
statements.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE OPTIONS

Details of movements in the share capital and the share
options of the Company during the Year, together with the
reasons therefor, are set out in Note 30 and Note 31 to
the financial statements, respectively.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and
the Group during the Year are set out in Note 32 to the
financial statements and in the consolidated statement of
changes in equity, respectively.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
bye-laws of the Company (the “Bye-Laws”) or the laws of
Bermuda, which would oblige the Company to offer new
shares on a pro rata basis to existing shareholders.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 March 2024, the Company’s reserves available
for cash distribution and/or distribution in specie,
comprising the contributed surplus and the retained
profits, amounted to HK$438,809,000. Under the
Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda, the Company’s
contributed surplus of HK$104,750,000 may be
distributed under certain circumstances. In addition, the
Company’s share premium account with a balance of
HK$156,015,000 may be distributed in the form of fully
paid bonus shares.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the Year, sales to the Group’s five largest
customers accounted for 56% of the total sales for the
Year and sales to the largest customer included therein
amounted to 13% of the total sales.

Purchases attributable to the Group’s five largest suppliers
accounted for 19% of the total purchases of the Group for
the Year and purchases from the largest supplier included
therein amounted to 7% of the total purchases.

As far as the Directors are aware, neither the Directors,
their associates (as defined under Listing Rules), nor
those shareholders which, to the best knowledge of the
Directors, own more than 5% of the Company’s issued
share capital, had any beneficial interest in the Group’s
five largest customers and suppliers.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
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DIRECTORS

The Directors during the Year and up to the date of this
annual report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Cheng Chor Kit (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Liu Tat Luen

Mr. Cheng Tsz To

Mr. Cheng Tsz Hang

Non-executive Director
Dr. Fung Wah Cheong, Vincent*

Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. Wong Chi Wai

Dr. Sun Kwai Yu, Vivian**

Mr. Cheung Wang Ip

Mr. Chan Yim Por Bonnie***

* Dr. Fung Wah Cheong, Vincent resigned as a non-executive
Director on 28 August 2023.

> Dr. Sun Kwai Yu, Vivian resigned as an independent non-
executive Director on 28 August 2023.

***  Mr. Chan Yim Por Bonnie appointed as an independent
non-executive Director on 28 August 2023.

Biographical details in respect of the Directors at the
date of this annual report is provided in the chapter of
“Biographical Details of the Directors” set out in pages 21
to 24 of this annual report.

In accordance with the Bye-law 87(1), Mr. Cheng Chor
Kit, Mr. Liu Tat Luen and Mr. Cheng Tsz Hang, being
the Directors who should retire by rotation, will retire at
the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company,
and, being eligible, offer themselves, for re-election at the
aforesaid annual general meeting.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

DIRECTORS (continued)

The Directors confirm that the Company has received from
each of its independent non-executive Directors an annual
confirmation of his/her independence pursuant to Rule
3.18 of the Listing Rules, and the Company considers the
independent non-executive Directors to be independent.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the Bye-Law 166 of Bye-Laws, subject to
the applicable laws, every Director shall be indemnified
and secured harmless out of the assets of the Company
from and against all actions, costs, charges, losses,
damages and expenses which he/she may incur or sustain
by reason of any act done, concurred in or omitted in
or about the execution of his/her office. The Company
has taken out insurance against the liability and costs
associated with defending any proceedings which may be
brought against the Directors.
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EEEHRE

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Mr. Cheng Chor Kit, the executive Director and the
chairman of the Board, entered into a service contract
with the Company commencing from 1 August 2005
without a fixed term but subject to termination by either
party giving not less than six months’ notice in writing to
the other party.

Mr. Wong Chi Wai, the independent non-executive
Director, has renewed his service contract with the
Company commencing from 28 September 20283 (for a
term of three years), subject to retirement by rotation and
re-election at the annual general meeting of the Company
in accordance with the Bye-Laws. The service contract,
unless terminated by either party giving not less than three
months notice in writing to the other party, the termination
of which should not be later than the end of the three
years.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

(continued)

Saved as disclosed above, all the Directors entered into
a service contract with the Company for a term of three
years, subject to retirement by rotation and re-election
at the annual general meeting of the Company in
accordance with the Bye-Laws. Each of the executive and
independent non-executive Directors, unless terminated
by either party giving not less than six months’ notice and
three months’ notice, respectively, in writing to the other
party, the termination of which should not be later than the
end of the three years.

Apart from the foregoing, no Director proposed for
re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting of
the Company has a service contract with the Company
which is not determinable by the Company within one year
without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES

As at 31 March 2024, the interests of the Directors and
chief executive of the Company in the shares, underlying
shares and debentures of the Company and its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO
which are required (a) to be notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part
XV of the SFO (including interests or short positions which
he/she is taken or deemed to have under such provisions
of the SFO); or (b) pursuant to section 352 of the SFO,
to be entered in the register referred to therein; or (c)
pursuant to the Model Code of Securities Transactions
by directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) to be
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange, were as
follows:
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EEEHE

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES (continued)

(a) Interest in the shares of the Company and its
associate corporations

(a)

BEERESTHRAERKR® - H
AR REESEZEZRAE &)

Number of ordinary shares held

RADBRAEEBEZE 2 RO WEDS

FeERRRHEE
Approximate
percentage of
Personal Spouse Corporate shareholding
interests interests interests Total BAERE
HARR EREER EEER b WEDL
(Note 1)(Hit1)
The Company A4 7
Mr. Cheng Chor Kit 26,634,000 3,700,000 252,920,000 283,254,000 64.52%
BRfEE (Note 2) (fi£2)
Mr. Liu Tat Luen 2,000,000 - - 2,000,000 0.45%
BEERHE
Mr. Cheng Tsz To 3,000,000 - - 3,000,000 0.68%
BrEts
Mr. Cheng Tsz Hang 3,000,000 - - 3,000,000 0.68%
Brigns
Mr. Wong Chi Wai 500,000 - - 500,000 0.11%
Mr. Cheung Wang Ip 200,000 - - 200,000 0.04%
REREE
Note: B
Dr. Fung Wah Cheong, Vincent and Dr. Sun Kwai Yu, Vivian BEEBTREFNETN _E-_=FN\A

resigned as a non-executive Director and an independent

non-executive Director respectively on 28 August 2023.

All interests stated above represent long positions.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES (continued)

(a) Interest in the shares of the Company and its

EEEHE

BEENBEETHRAERKRG -8
AR REESEZEZRAE &)

(@) REQXAREEBZIEzZRHONESR

associate corporations (continued) (%)
Number of ordinary shares held
FeERRRHEE
Approximate
percentage of
Personal Spouse Corporate shareholding
interests interests interests Total BAERE
HARR EREER EEER b WEDL
Associated Corporations 1A% %
Padora Global Inc., (“Padora”)
Mr. Cheng Chor Kit 520 160 - 680 68.00%
ipde Sk
Mr. Cheng Tsz To 160 - - 160 16.00%
LIESES
Mr. Cheng Tsz Hang 160 - - 160 16.00%
LIES P
Notes: Htat
(1)  The approximate percentage of shareholding is (1) KEEHVEDSLDIBREARRR-E
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calculated based on 438,960,000 shares, being
the total number of issued ordinary shares of the
Company as at 31 March 2024.

As at 31 March 2024, Padora, through its wholly-
owned subsidiary, Resplendent Global Limited
(“Resplendent”), indirectly held 252,920,000 shares
of the Company. Mr. Cheng Chor Kit is interested
directly in 52.0% of Padora, and the remaining
shares are held equally by his spouse, and the
Directors of the Company, namely, Mr. Cheng Tsz To
and Mr. Cheng Tsz Hang.

Save as disclosed in Note (2) above, all Directors
of the Company have confirmed that they had no
interests in any of its associated corporations of the
Company as at 31 March 2024.

TMEZA=+—HEBTLEERA
£7438,960,000/% 5T & -

R-Z-M&=H=+—H ' Padora
7% i H 2 & K B 2 flResplendent
Global Limited ([Resplendent |) 4
¥ 252,920,000/ A R B k15 o %8
I 5 & B ¥ ¥ B Padoraz 52.0% 1
@ HBRTROBEZES  KAAF
EBREFEL A RE T AT
5o

B EXMERMEE  ARAMAE
EERR WER_T_MF=A
=t BXEES AR AR
M fEas o
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES (continued)

(b) Interests in the underlying shares of the

BEENBEETHRAERKRG -8
AR REESEZEZRAE &)

(b) RAQXFHBERG zER

Company
Number of
underlying shares Price of
in respect of Company’s
share options held shares
and approximate immediately
percentage of Exercise hefore the
shareholding Vesting period price grant date
fisBREL Date of BEE Evercise  pershare  AAFRH
Name of Director Capacity HBRAZER Grant  from to period BR  REBERY
2 56 RRERAAAL  REAE A 3 ik e A¥HZRE
HKSE)  HKSET)
Mr. Wong Chi Wai Beneficial owner 400,000 112017 11712017 - 2.262 220
ks ERkAA (0.09%) 6/7/2027
100,000 R0t 72017 12092017 13/9/2017 - 2.262 2220
(0.02%) 6/7/2027
100,000 972018 97/2018 12092018 13/9/2018 - 2470 2470
(0.02%) 8/7/2028
Mr. Cheung Wang Ip Beneficial owner 100,000 972018 9/7/2018 0012018 21/7/2018 - 2410 2410
REXAE EaRAA (0.02%) 8/7/2008
Notes: e

(1) Dr. Sun Kwai Yu, Vivian resigned as an independent
non-executive Director on 28 August 2023. Pursuant
to the Company’s 2012 Share Option Scheme, her
share option was lapsed as she did not exercise the
share option.

(2)  Mr. Cheng Kwok Kin, Paul deceased on 12
September 2022. Pursuant to the Company’s 2012
Share Option Scheme, his share option was lapsed
as his legal personal representative did not exercise
the share option within the period of 12 months from
his death.

All interests stated above represent long positions.

(1) HEEWNBELR-_Z_=FNA=-+N
ABEBYIENTES - REAQA
T - FEREE AR BT E
TERERE A EBREBLKX
B o

(2 BRELEER-_Z-_—_FHAA+_-H
Bt - IRIBART T — —FHERE
FTE ARBZATEERBALE
REBHEE B s 21218 A NTT 0 E
AR - E UL 2 RS RR -

LB ESYRIER -
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES (continued)

(b) Interests in the underlying shares of the
Company (continued)

The above options were granted under the 2012
Share Option Scheme.

The Directors’ interests in the Company’s share
options are disclosed in Note 31 to the financial
statements.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2024,
none of the Directors nor chief executive of the
Company had interests or short positions in any
securities of the Company or any of its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
SFO) which are required (a) to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including
interests or short positions which he/she is taken
or deemed to have under such provisions of the
SFO); or (b) pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to
be entered in the register referred to therein; or (c)
pursuant to the Model Code, to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENT

Other than the share option scheme of the Company as
disclosed, no equity-linked agreements that will or may
result in the Company issuing shares or that require the
Company to enter into any agreements that will or may
result in the Company issuing shares were entered into by
the Company during the Year or subsisted at the end of
the Year.

EEEHE

BEENBEETHRAERKRG -8
AR REESEZEZRAE &)

(b)

REQXREBERD 285 (F)

FAERETIIRE — T — —FRERE
Elfeduit
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BE7TR8D R ME AR A R B R HE
@R R (BRREES RBE RN
BRGXREEFIRSER 2
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Pz s SRR

IR R 8 175
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EEEHRE

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE
SHARES

Save as disclosed under the section headed “Directors’
and chief executive’s interests and short positions in
shares, underlying shares and debentures” of this chapter
and in the share option scheme disclosures in Note 31
to the financial statements, at no time during the Year
were there any rights to acquire benefits by means of
the acquisition of shares in the Company granted to any
Directors or their respective spouses or minor children,
or were any such rights exercised by them; or was the
Company, or any of its holding companies, subsidiaries
and fellow subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to
enable the Directors to acquire such rights in any other
body corporate.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

Details of the Company’s share option schemes are
disclosed in Note 31 to the financial statements.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN
TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS OR
CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed under the section headed “Connected
Transaction” below, none of the Directors nor their
respective associates had a material interest, either
directly or indirectly, in any transactions, arrangements
or contracts of significance to the business of the Group
to which the Company, or any of its holding companies,
subsidiaries and fellow subsidiaries was a party during the
Year.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts (as defined in Section 543 of the Companies
Ordinance (Cap. 622)) relating to the management and/or
administration of the whole or any substantial part of the
business of the Company were entered into or subsisted
during the Year.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

MATERIAL ACQUISITION AND
DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES AND
CAPITAL ASSETS

As reported in the 2023 annual report and the
announcements of the Company dated 24 March 2023,
29 March 2023, 19 April 2023, and 25 April 2023 and
the circular dated 31 May 2023, the Group has entered
into a transaction to dispose of the land use rights of
the lands (comprise three parcels of land situated at
Huang Hua Yuan Industrial Area, Tai Ping Town, Shixing
County, Shaoguan City, Guangdong Province, the PRC
(the “Lands”)) and the erection, construction, machinery,
and other relevant assets on the Lands under the
Three-old Renovation. The asset disposal transaction
was completed on 27 April 2023. The Group recorded a
net gain on the asset disposal transaction before tax of
approximately HK$61,812,000 for the Period.

Saved as disclosed above, there was no material
acquisition or disposal of subsidiaries during the Year.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTION

As reported in the 2023 annual report and the
announcement of the Company dated 31 March 2023,
the Company entered into a renewal tenancy agreement
(“Renewal Tenancy Agreement”) with Unicon Investments
Limited (“Unicon”), to renew a leasing agreement,
concerning the leaseback of the property located at 7/F.,
Galaxy Factory Building, 25-27 Luk Hop Street, San Po
Kong, Kowloon, Hong Kong, as the Company’s principal
place of business in Hong Kong, for a term of three
years commencing from 1 April 2023 to 31 March 2026,
with a monthly lease rental of HK$124,800 (inclusive of
government rent, rates and management fee).

The transactions contemplated under the Renewal
Tenancy Agreement are subject to the reporting and
announcement requirements but are exempt from the
circular (including independent financial advice) and
independent shareholders’ approval requirements under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

CONNECTED TRANSACTION (continued)

As Unicon is wholly owned by Mr. Cheng Chor Kit (“Mr.
Cheng”), an executive Director, the chairman and chief
executive officer of the Company and the controlling
shareholder of the Company (as defined under the
Listing Rules). Thus, each of Mr. Cheng and Unicon
is a connected person of the Company. Accordingly,
the entering into the Renewal Tenancy Agreement and
the transactions contemplated thereunder constitute a
one-off connected transaction of the Company under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. As the applicable
percentage ratios in respect of the right-of-use assets to
be recognised under the Renewal Tenancy Agreement
exceed more than 0.1% but are less than 5%, the
transactions contemplated thereunder are subject to the
reporting and announcement requirements but exempt
from the circular (including independent financial advice)
and independent shareholders’ approval requirement
under Rule 14A of the Listing Rules.

Saved as disclosed above, under the Listing Rules,
the Company did not have any other disclosable
non-exempted connected transaction during the Year and
up to the date of this annual report.

ANNUAL REPORT 2024 4 [Z ¥

EEERE

BEXS &)

ERREAAARIZHITES TEEHTH
BHRRANAZZERBE(TEE A
WEsrt ((BhE)2BHEE RIULT
T OBAERKREHARATZBEEAL
Eit - BB TBRIE14AS - FTYEHEEE
B RIE BT 2 R HBR AR 2 — K
MEBERS - R BREEEEEHEE TR’
RERESEZERE DL RBIB0.1%E
ERB% « HIRIE F BB 14AE - 15 1k 45
ARG ARTRBRRAG BT - W
BREBTRE(DIEBIMBER) RBIK
HYfE 2 T o

fr EXFREEN  REBELEHRA - AAF]
RAFERBEANFRAMPERLGBAET R
BREREEERS -

KIN YAT HOLDINGS LIMITED #E#5%EABR A a]

4



42

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

EEEHRE

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND
OTHER PERSONS’ INTERESTS IN

SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND

DEBENTURES

As at 31 March 2024, so far as is known to any Director
or chief executive of the Company, the following persons
had an interest or short position in the shares, underlying
shares and debentures of the Company which would fall
to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions of
Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were

recorded in the register to be kept by the Company under
Section 336 of the SFO, were as follows:

Approximate

FTERRRHEMATIRES A
BRORERERE 2 ED

RZF-_MNE=ZA=+—H8  BARBEM
EZSRSTHRABRA U TALTRAR
AR RO REERETEAARE
&5 N B G EXVER B2 M3
RARE - RIRIBEE T M HIE 5GP 58 336{FAC
ARRBIFENECMOERIOREMT

7 BB [R AR

Number of percentage of Number of
ordinary share shareholding share option
Name of substantial held BAE R held
shareholder Nature of interest and capacity FEEER WEZL i
TERFER BB EREERSH BRGBEE  (Note 1) (Afat1) BREHEB
Resplendent Global Limited Beneficial owner 252,920,000 57.62% -
EnEBA (Note 2)
(Kizt2)
Padora Global Inc., Interests in controlling 252,920,000 57.62% -
corporation (Note 2)
ek NGy (Kizt2)
Mdm. Tsang Yuk Wan Interests in controlling 252,920,000 57.62% -
(“Mdm. Tsang”) corporation (Note 2)
BEELT PR E M (B Rt2)
gzt
Personal interests 3,700,000 0.84% -
BARE
Interest of spouse (Note 3) 26,634,000 6.06% -

All interests stated above represent long positions.

RLBEs (Hi23)
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND
OTHER PERSONS’ INTERESTS IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES (continued)

Notes:

(1)  The approximate percentage of shareholding is calculated
based on 438,960,000 shares, being the total number of
issued ordinary shares of the Company as at 31 March
2024,

(2) 252,920,000 shares of the Company are held by
Resplendent, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Padora, relating
to the same block of shareholding of Mr. Cheng Chor Kit
(“Mr. Cheng”) disclosed in the section headed “Directors’
and chief executive’s interests and short positions in
shares, underlying shares and debentures” above. By virtue
of the SFO, Mr. Cheng and his spouse, Mdm. Tsang, are
deemed to be interested in all the shares of the Company
held by Resplendent.

(3) 26,634,000 shares of the Company are held by Mr. Cheng
in a personal capacity. By virtue of the SFO, Mdm. Tsang is
deemed to be interested in all the shares of the Company
held by Mr. Cheng.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2024, the
Directors or chief executive of the Company were not
aware of any person who had an interest or short position
in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of
the Company which would fall to be disclosed to the
Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part
XV of the SFO, or which were recorded in the register to
be kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO.
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EEEHE

DIRECTORS’ AND CONTROLLING
SHAREHOLDERS’ INTEREST IN
COMPETING INTERESTS

The Directors are not aware of any business or interest
of the Directors, the controlling shareholder and their
respective associates (as defined under the Listing Rules)
of the Company that compete or may compete with the
business of the Group and any other conflict of interest
which any such person has or may have with the Group
during the Year.

PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF
LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company, nor any of its subsidiaries
purchased, redeemed or sold any of the Company’s listed
securities during the Year.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company is committed to maintaining a high standard
of corporate governance practices. Information corporate
governance practices adopted by the Company is set
out in the chapter of “Corporate Governance Report” on
pages 46 to 73 of this annual report.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of the Directors, the
Company has maintained the prescribed public float under
the Listing Rules during the Year and up to the latest
practicable date prior to the issue of this annual report.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

SIGNIFICANT EVENTS AFTER THE
REPORTING PERIOD

On 18 April 2024, Resplendent Global Limited
(“Resplendent Global”), as the offeror (the “Offeror”)
and the Company jointly announced (the “Joint
Announcement”) that on 27 March 2024, the Offeror
requested the Board of the Company to put forward the
Proposal to the Scheme Shareholders for the privatisation
of the Company by way of a scheme of arrangement
under Section 99 of the Companies Act. Resplendent
Global is ultimately beneficially owned as to 52% by Mr.
Cheng, who is the chairman and chief executive officer
of the Company, and as to 48% equally by his spouse,
Mdm. Tsang Yuk Wan, and their two sons, namely, Mr.
Cheng Tsz To and Mr. Cheng Tsz Hang, both also being
executive Directors. Unless otherwise defined, capitalised
terms used herein have the same meanings as those
defined in the Joint Announcement. Please refer to the
Company’s relevant announcements dated 18 April 2024,
6 May 2024, 8 May 2024 and 11 June 2024 posted on
the HKEx for details of the privatization proposal.

Save as disclosed above, there is no significant event
that occurred after the reporting period up to the latest
practicable date of the annual report.

AUDITOR

PricewaterhouseCoopers will retire and a resolution for
their re-appointment as auditor of the Company will be
proposed at the forthcoming annual general meeting of
the Company.

On behalf of the Board
Cheng Chor Kit
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong, 21 June 2024
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Kin Yat convinces that the long-term business and
sustainable growth of the Group are built on the corporate
culture. The Board acts as the core of the Company’s
corporate culture and upholds the values and principles
of integrity, accountability, and transparency throughout
the Group. This belief of our corporate culture is not only
supported and practised by the Board, but also by all our
employees of the Group, who commit to upholding the
highest standard of integrity and honesty in every aspect
of our business. By taking these, we believe that the
shareholder value will be maximised in the long-term as
well as the accountability to all stakeholders.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board regularly reviews the guidelines and reports
the latest development in corporate governance to the
chairman of the Board. In the opinion of the Board, the
Company has complied with the code provisions as set
out in the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”)
contained in Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules throughout
the Year except for the deviation described in the section
“Chairman and Chief Executive Officer” in this Corporate
Governance Report (the “CG Report”).

The Board has also reviewed the CG Report and is
satisfied that the Company has been in full compliance
with all the requirements stipulated in the CG Report in
Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules, apart from the above
described deviation.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

DIRECTORS’ AND RELEVANT
EMPLOYEES’ SECURITIES

TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model
Code”) set out in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules as its
own code on terms no less exacting than the required
standard set out in the Model Code regarding securities
transactions by the Directors.

Having made specific enquiry of the Directors, all the
Directors confirmed that they have complied with the
required standard set out in the Model Code throughout the
Year. All relevant employees of the Group who, because
of their office in the Group, are likely to be in possession
of unpublished price sensitive information have been
requested to comply with the provisions of the Model Code.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Role and functions of the Board

The Company’s overall management is vested in its
Board, which accepts that it is ultimately accountable
and responsible to shareholders for the decision and
performance of the Group. The Board’s role is to
provide entrepreneurial leadership, led by the chairman
of the Board, set the Company’s strategic aims and the
Company’s values and standards, and ensure that its
obligations to its stakeholders and others are understood
and met.

The Board has established a schedule of matters reserved
for its approval, the specific responsibilities reserved
for the Board include (1) setting the Group’s strategies
and dividend policy, (2) approving budgets, reviewing
operational and financial performance, (3) approving
significant investments and divestments, (4) reviewing risk
management and internal control system of the Group,
(5) ensuring appropriate management development and
succession plans in place, (6) approving appointments
of Directors and other senior executives, (7) approving
corporate social responsibility policies, (8) ensuring
effective communication with shareholders and (9) other
significant operational and financial matters.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Board Composition

As of the date of this annual report, the Board currently
consists of a total of seven members, including four
Directors with executive functions and three independent
non-executive Directors.

During the Year and up to the date of this annual report,
the Directors were:

Executive Directors
Mr. Cheng Chor Kit
(Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Liu Tat Luen
Mr. Cheng Tsz To
Mr. Cheng Tsz Hang

Non-executive Director
Dr. Fung Wah Cheong, Vincent*

Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. Wong Chi Wai

Dr. Sun Kwai Yu, Vivian**

Mr. Cheung Wang Ip

Mr. Chan Yim Por Bonnie***

* Dr. Fung Wah Cheong, Vincent resigned as a non-executive
Director on 28 August 2023.

* Dr. Sun Kwai Yu, Vivian resigned as an independent non-
executive Director on 28 August 2023.

***  Mr. Chan Yim Por Bonnie appointed as an independent
non-executive Director on 28 August 2023.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Board Composition (continued)

Mr. Cheng Tsz Hang and Mr. Cheng Tsz To are the
sons of Mr. Cheng Chor Kit, the executive Director and
the controlling shareholder (as defined under the Listing
Rules) of the Company. Save as disclosed above, none of
the Directors has any financial, business, family or other
material or relevant relationships among the Directors.

Our independent non-executive Directors possess diverse
academic and professional qualifications, financial and
management expertise and bring a wide range of business
and financial experience to the Board, and their views
carry the same weight as executive Directors.

All the Directors, since appointed, have disclosed to
the Company the nature of offices held in other public
companies or organisations and other significant
commitments, and promised to notify the Company of any
change of such information as soon as practicable. Each
Director confirmed that he/she had given sufficient time
and attention to the affairs of the Company for the Year.

As at the date of this report, the Board comprises
Directors of single gender with diverse backgrounds
and expertise in the Group’s businesses since Dr. Sun
Kwai Yu, Vivin resigned as a Director. The Company will
appoint at least a director of a different gender on the
Board no later than 31 December 2024. The nomination
committee of the Board (the “Nomination Committee”)
reviews the implementation and effectiveness of the Board
Diversity Policy annually to ensure it remains compliant
with the regulatory requirements as well as effective and
appropriate for the Company.

The Board considers the current Board composition has
provided the Company with a good balance of skKills,
experience and diversity of perspectives appropriate
to the requirement of its business. With the balanced
composition of executive and non-executive Directors
with vital independent elements, which can effectively
make insightful discussions on critical issues and exercise
judgement with an independent mind. The Board will
continue to regularly review its composition taking into
consideration board diversity for the needs and benefits of
the Company’s business.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Board Composition (continued)

The Directors’ biographical details are set out in
“Biographical details of the Directors” on 21 to 24 of this
annual report. All Directors, including independent non-
executive Directors, have been identified in all corporate
communications, including this annual report, that disclose
the name of each Director. Further, an updated “List of
Directors and their Roles and Functions” is maintained and
available on the respective websites of the Company and
the Stock Exchange.

Board Independence

The independent non-executive Directors do not
merely review and scrutinise the Company’s financial
performance. In addition, based on the experience with
various professionals, the independent non-executive
Directors bring a wide range of skills and business
experience in exercising an independent and sound
judgment on issues related to strategy, policy, and key
appointments to the Company. Furthermore, they play
a significant monitoring role in any matter related to the
conflict of interests. The Directors believe that the present
structure of the Board with the diversity of composition
can ensure the independence and objectivity of the Board
that maintains good corporate governance practices
to safeguard the interests of the shareholders and the
Company and enhance the performance of the Group.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Board Independence (continued)

The Board has received from each of the independent
non-executive Directors, the written confirmation of
their independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules. Taking into consideration of three independent
non-executive Directors’ independent scope of work
in the past years, the Nomination Committee and the
Board considers all of them to continue to demonstrate
the attributes of an independent non-executive Director
by providing independent views and advice as well
as the abilities to exercise independent judgment and
provide and balance and objective view in relation
to the Group’s affairs. With their background, all the
independent non-executive Directors are fully aware of the
responsibilities and expected amount of time dedicated
to the Company. Based on the foregoing, the Board
believes that there is no evidence that their tenure has
had any impact on their independence. The continuous
appointment of the current independent non-executive
Directors will bring considerable stability to the Board and
the Company has significantly benefited from the presence
of all of them.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Directors’ Appointment, Re-election and Removal
Each of the Directors has entered into a service contract
with the Company for a specific term and is subject to
retirement by rotation and re-election at an annual general
meeting at least once every three years in accordance
with the Bye-laws. Whether any director appointed by
the Board to fill a causal vacancy in the Board shall hold
office until the first general meeting of the Company after
his/her appointment and be subject to re-election at such
meeting.

The Board recognised that it is important that all Directors
should be able to dedicate sufficient time to the Company
to discharge their responsibilities. As described above, all
Directors have confirmed to the Company that they have
given sufficient time and attention to the Company’s affair
during the Year.

Mr. Cheng Chor Kit, Mr. Liu Luen Tat and Mr. Cheng
Taz Hang will retire by rotation at the forthcoming annual
general meeting of the Company, being eligible, will offer
themselves for re-election.

The appointment of new Directors for re-election at
annual general meetings must be approved by the Board.
The Board has delegated to the Nomination Committee
to select and recommend candidates for directorship
including the consideration of referrals and engagement
of external recruitment professionals when necessary.
New Directors appointed by the Board are subject to re-
election by shareholders at the forthcoming annual general
meeting pursuant to the Bye-Laws. In considering the
appointment of new Directors, the Nomination Committee
will assess the candidate according to the criteria set out
in Rules 3.08 and 3.09 of the Listing Rules. In the case of
a candidate for an independent non-executive Director,
he/she should also meet the independence criteria set out
in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

Newly appointed Director has received induction and
legal advice on the first occasion of his/her appointment
to ensure appropriate understanding of the business and
operation of the Company and full awareness of Director’s
responsibilities and obligations under the Listing Rules and
relevant statutory requirements.

Mr. Chan Yim Por Bonnie has obtained the said legal
advice and has confirmed he understood his obligations
as a Director.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Delegation of Authority

The Board has delegated the authorities and day-to-day
responsibilities to the management and clearly requires
the management to execute the objectives and strategies
established by the Board and circumstances in which
the management should report back. The Board also
exercises a separate and independent assessment of the
performance of the management on a periodically basis
to ensure the delegation is appropriate to the Company’s
needs.

The management is responsible for running the Company’s
businesses and for proposing the development of the
Group’s strategies and overall commercial objectives in
consultation with the Board. The management is also
responsible for implementing decisions of the Board and
its committees, developing main policies and reviewing
the business organisational structure and operational
performance. Furthermore, the management is obligated
to supply relevant, adequate, clear and timely information
and report to the Board and its committees in a consistent
format. The Board, where necessary, can make further
enquiries to the management on any matters they are
concerned.

Board Meeting

For the Board discharges their responsibilities, the
Directors are required to meet, either in person or through
other electronic means of communication regularly. The
schedule of the Board meetings for the coming year is
determined and informed to all Directors in the fourth
quarter meeting annually. To ensure the discussions
attains the consensus of the Board, the chairman of the
Board enheartens for Directors to express their opinion
during the Board discussion actively.

In practice, prior to each meeting of the Board, as
delegated by the chairman of the Board, the company
secretary of the Company prepares and despatches the
notice of meeting to all Directors for at least 14 days.
The management supplies the relevant documents and
information to the Board and each committee in a timely
manner to ensure that all the participants are given
adequate time to review and prepare the matter discussed
for making informed decisions in the meeting.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Board Meeting (continued)

Where any Director requires more information than
provided by management, that Director can make further
enquiries during the discussion and/or invite the relevant
personnel to provide further explanation, where necessary.

Directors may participate either in person or through
electronic means of communications. The Board met five
times during the Year and meeting attendance records are
set out on page 73 of this annual report.

The minutes of the Board and its committees’ meetings
are prepared by the company secretary of the Company
whom the Board delegates. The draft minutes are
circulated to all members of the Board and each
Committee for their commentary. The final minutes are
open for inspection by all members of the Board at the
Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Pursuant to provision C.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of
chairman and chief executive officer shall be separated
and should not be performed by the same individual and
the division of responsibilities between the chairman and
chief executive officer should be clearly established and
set out in writing.

The roles of the chairman and the chief executive officer
of the Company are not separated and are performed
by the same individual, Mr. Cheng Chor Kit. The balance
of power and authority is ensured by the operations of
the Board which comprises experienced and high calibre
individuals, with a highly independent element in the Board
where the Board members meet regularly to discuss
issues affecting the operations of the Company. The
Board believes that this structure is conducive to strong
and consistent leadership, enabling the Company to make
and implement decisions promptly and efficiently.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Board Diversity Policy

To enhance the effectiveness and the balanced
development of the Board, the Board commits to
promoting diversity among the composition of its Board
members. The Board Diversity Policy provides a process
and guideline which the Company will implement to
achieve its diversity and ensures the Board has the
appropriate mix of skills, experience and diversity
perspectives required for the Company’s businesses.
The following charts indicate the diversity of the Board
members in terms of gender, age, length of services and
professional experience.
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The Group also values the diverse talents and experiences
of its employees across all levels of the Group. The Group
has put in place appropriate recruitment and selection
practices such that a diverse range of candidates are
considered, including but not limited to gender, age,
cultural and educational background, qualification,
ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge and
length of service.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Board Diversity Policy (continued)

As at 31 March 2024, the Board currently has no female
Director and 70.0% of our total workforce is female. The
Board would continue to take initiatives to identify suitable
candidates so as to appoint at least one female Director
on the Board no later than 31 December 2024. The Board
will continue to adjust the proportion of female members
in the future if suitable candidates are available. The Board
considers sufficiently diversified total workforce exists
and views that it is not necessary to set numerical targets
and timelines for the gender diversity of the workforce for
the time being. The Nomination Committee has not set
any measurable objectives for the implementation of the
Diversity Policy in relation to the Board members and the
workforce of the Group (including gender diversity).

The Nomination Committee reviews the Board Diversity
Policy annually to ensure its continued effectiveness
and appropriateness for the Company. The Board and
the Nomination Committee reviewed the Board Diversity
Policy and its implementation and confirmed its continued
effectiveness during the Year.

Directors’ Training

Every Director should keep himself or herself abreast
of the responsibilities as a Director and of the conduct,
business activities and development of the Company.
Each new incoming Director receives an induction
package covering the introduction of the Group’s
businesses and real-life overview of the Company,
induction of their roles and responsibilities, the practical
procedure duties and the compliance of laws and
regulations.

All Directors are encouraged to pursue an ongoing
development and refreshment of their knowledge and
skills to ensure that their contribution to the Board remains
relevant and productive.

On 29 November 2023, a tailor-made seminar
was organised to Directors in related to the recent
development of corporate governance. All Directors on
that date participated in this seminar.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Directors’ Training (continued)
The training of each individual Director for the Year is set

EEE )
By ()
REENAEFZEIHIMT

out below:

Types of training
Name of Director EEHE EAER
Executive Directors BITES
Mr. Cheng Chor Kit B A A/B
Mr. Liu Tat Luen BiERTAE A/B
Mr. Cheng Tsz To L e A/B
Mr. Cheng Tsz Hang 87y S A A/B
Non-executive Director FHTES
Dr. Fung Wah Cheong, Vincent* HESE L N/A T iEH
Independent non-executive Directors BYHHTES
Mr. Wong Chi Wai =4 A A/B
Dr. Sun Kwai Yu, Vivian** BREmiE L N/A 38
Mr. Cheung Wang Ip RARERE A/B
Mr. Chan Yim Por Bonnie*** ot A/B
A Attending briefings/seminars/conference/forums A HEENE /NG GHHIE
B Reading/studying training or other materials B BB, 95 35 )l sk HL fth & A

*k
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Dr. Fung Wah Cheong, Vincent resigned as a non-executive
Director on 28 August 2023.

Dr. Sun Kwai Yu, Vivian resigned as an independent non-
executive Director on 28 August 2023.

Mr. Chan Yim Por Bonnie appointed as an independent
non-executive Director on 28 August 2023.

*k

*kok

BEESBLTR-FE-_=FNA=+/HFE

HHFTEE -

BFEMEL R _FE=_=F A=+ /NHFE

BUIFPTES -

BRRFEAER - E-_=F A=+ NNAEE

ERBIINTEE -
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Conflict of interest

If a Director has a material interest in a manner of
significant nature to be considered by the Board, a
physical meeting or meeting by video conference will be
held to discuss such matter instead of seeking Directors’
written consent by way of circulation of written resolutions.
Pursuant to the Bye-laws, such Director who is considered
to be materially interested in the matter shall abstain from
voting and not be counted in the quorum.

Directors’ and Officers’ Liability Insurance

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance
coverage on directors’ and officers’ liabilities in respect of
any legal actions taken against the Directors and senior
management of the Company arising out of corporate
activities. The insurance coverage is reviewed on an
annual basis.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established the following Board
committees, all chaired by independent non-executive
Directors, with clearly defined terms of reference, which
are on no less exacting terms than those set out in the CG
Code of the Listing Rules:

- Remuneration Committee (the “Remuneration
Committee”);

- Nomination Committee; and

- Audit Committee (the “Audit Committee”)

The roles and responsibilities of each Board committee
are set out by the Board with clearly defined written
terms of reference, and this document is available on the
websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company. Under
the written terms of reference, each Committee reports
directly to the Board on its decisions or recommendations
after their discussion.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)

Pursuant to the written terms of reference, each
Board committee has the authority to engage outside
consultants or experts as it considers necessary to
discharge the committee’s responsibilities. Minutes
of all Board committees meetings are circulated to all
Board members. To further reinforce independence
and effectiveness, all Audit Committee members being
appointed are independent non-executive Directors, and
the Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee
have been structured with a majority of independent
non-executive Directors being the Board committees’
members. During the Year and up to the date of this
annual report, each Board Committee’s members include:

TEERBRE

BEEZEE (2

BEEEBESE ABTEEE &I -
EEC R TS EEeAREHRATERE
BAMERNKER  FEEEeR T 258
CERERYX SR EETGREEN - Ak
—SMABIERERE  FEEEIYE
REBERENABYRNTES MEM
EEERIEREEE I MEH B IR
EEAT RAFEAREEAFHRAE
EEeRTREEBENRERE

Remuneration Nomination Audit
Committee Committee Committee
FWzae REZE8 ENZEE
Mr. Cheng Chor Kit Executive Director Member % & Member fX & N/A i A
HRars HITEZE
Dr. Fung Wah Cheong, Vincent*  Non-executive Director Member X 8 Member 5 & N/A T iE A
BEEH LT FaiTES
Mr. Wong Chi Wai** Independent non-executive Director Member X & Member i & Chairman £ /&
Bt xE BUFATES
Dr. Sun Kwai Yu, Vivian*** Independent non-executive Director Member % & Member i\ &  Chairperson £ /&
BEmE L BUFHTES
Mr. Cheung Wang Ip Independent non-executive Director Chairman & Member % & Member F% &
REEEE BUFHITES
Mr. Chan Yim Por Bonnie*** Independent non-executive Director Member B & Chairman /% Member fX &
PR AR 58 BUFHTES

*

Dr. Fung Wah Cheong, Vincent ceased to be a member of
the Remuneration and Nomination committee on 28 August
2023.

> Mr. Wong Chi Wai has been appointed as the chairman of
the Audit Committee and ceased to serve as the chairman
of the Nomination Committee but remains as a member of
the Nomination Committee on 28 August 2023.

Dr. Sun Kwai Yu, Vivian ceased to be the chairperson of the
Audit committee, a member of the Nomination committee
and Remuneration committee on 28 August 2023.

**  Mr. Chan Yim Por Bonnie has been appointed as the
chairman of the Nomination Committee and a member of
the Audit committee and Remuneration committee on 28
August 2023.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)

Remuneration Committee

The remuneration packages offered by the Company
should be able to attract and motivate the Directors and
senior management of the Company for their sufficient
quality, whilst at the same time taking into account
the shareholders’ interests as well. The main roles
and responsibilities of the Remuneration Committee is
aimed to assist the Board to develop and administer
fair and transparent procedures for setting policy on
the remuneration of Directors and senior management
of the Company and to ensure no individual Director
or any of his/her associates can determine his/her own
remuneration.

The Remuneration Committee reviews and determines,
with delegated responsibility, the remuneration
packages, including but not limited to basic salaries,
deferred compensation, stock options and any benefits
in kind, pension rights, incentive payments and any
other compensation payments, of individual executive
Directors and senior management of the Company with
reference to the Board’s corporate goals and objectives,
responsibilities and employment conditions elsewhere
within the Group and in the market. The Remuneration
Committee also independently reviews and approves the
compensation and related arrangements for executive
Directors and senior management of the Company in
respect of any loss or termination of office or appointment.

The Remuneration Committee held one meeting
during the Year to review and approve the Directors’
remuneration packages. Meeting attendance records of
the Remuneration Committee are set out on page 73 of
this annual report.

Information relating to remuneration of each Director for
the Year is set out in Note 10 to the financial statements.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)

Nomination Committee

The primary responsibility of the Nomination Committee,
follow the Company’s Nomination Policy and Diversity
Policy, reviews the structure, size and composition of
the Board from time to time and advises to the Board
on the candidates, conditions, selection standards and
procedures of the proposed appointment of Directors and
senior management of the Company.

The Nomination Committee is also responsible for
recommending the individuals suitably qualified to become
board members or senior management to the Board. The
Nomination Committee considers the past performance,
qualifications and diversity of such candidates in selecting
suitable candidates for directorship and management.

The Nomination Committee held one meeting during the
Year to review the structure of the Board, discuss the
current target for gender diversity on the Board, assess
the independence of the independent non-executive
Directors and make recommendations to the Board on the
re-election of Directors. Meeting attendance records of
the Nomination Committee are set out on page 73 of this
annual report.

Audit Committee

The Company has not deliberately established a risk
committee and a corporate governance committee,
the prominent roles and responsibilities of the Audit
Committee are to assist the Board in (1) maintaining
effective risk management and a system of internal control
and compliance with the Company’s obligations (including
external financial reporting obligations) under the Listing
Rules as modified from time to time and applicable laws
and regulations is in place; (2) overseeing the integrity
of the financial statements of the Company; and (3) on
behalf of the Board, (i) selecting the Company’s external
auditor and approving their remuneration (including
non-audit services), (i) assessing the independence and
qualifications of the external auditors, and (i) overseeing
the performance of the Company’s internal audit function.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)

Audit Committee (continued)

During the Year, the Audit Committee has reviewed with
the management the accounting principles and practices
adopted by the Group and financial reporting matters,
including the review of the audited financial statements
for the year ended 31 March 2023 as well as the interim
report for the six months ended 30 September 2023.
During the Year, the Audit Committee also reviewed the
Group’s financial controls, risk management and internal
control systems, discussed with the internal auditor to
ensure the effectiveness of the Company’s internal audit
function, conducted discussions with the external auditor
on financial reporting, compliance, the effectiveness of
the audit process, and reported all relevant matters to the
Board. In addition, the Audit Committee has met twice
with the external auditor of the Company and reviewed the
financial results of the Group for the year ended 31 March
2024, including the accounting principles and practices
adopted by the Group.

None of the Audit Committee members is a former
or existing auditor of the Company within two years
immediately prior to their respective appointments.

The Audit Committee held four meetings during the Year
(including the two separate meetings with the external
auditor). Meeting attendance records of the Audit
Committee are set out on page 73 of this annual report.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)

Corporate Governance Function

The Board delegated its responsibilities to the Audit
Committee with clearly defined written terms of reference,
for performing the corporate governance functions:

1. to develop and review the policies and practices of
the Company on corporate governance and make
recommendations to the Board;

2. to review and monitor the training and continuous
professional development of the Directors and senior
management of the Company;

3. to review and monitor the policies and practices
of the Company on compliance with legal and
regulatory;

4, to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct
and compliance manual applicable to the Directors
and employees of the Group; and

5. to review the compliance by the Company with the

CG Code and the disclosure requirements for the CG
Report.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

Directors’ and External Auditor’s Financial Reporting
Responsibility

The management has timely and frequently provided
a balanced and understandable assessment of the
Company’s performance to the Board. The Board is
responsible for preparing the financial statements which
give a true and fair view of the Group’s state of affairs and
the results together with the cash flows situation for the
Year. In preparing the financial statements, the generally
accepted accounting standards in Hong Kong have been
adopted; appropriate accounting policies have been used
and applied consistently, and reasonable and prudent
judgments and estimates have been made.

Other than the discussion in respect of the financial
conditions, liquidity and financial resources in the chapter
of “Management Discussion and Analysis”, the Board
is not aware of any material uncertainties relating to
events or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon
the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.
Accordingly, the Board has continued to adopt the going
concern basis in preparing the financial statements of the
Group.

The Independent Auditor’s Report on pages 74 to 84 of
this annual report has set out the reporting responsibilities
of the external auditor of the Company.

Auditor’s Remuneration
The auditor’s remuneration and the fee for non-audit
services for the Year are as below:

Nature of services REMHE
Audit services ZH RS
Non-audit services FEZ EUR 75
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

The Board is responsible for overseeing the Group’s risk
management and internal control systems and financial
control and reviewing their effectiveness. The Group is
committed to set up and maintain a sound and effective
internal control system that is designed to provide
reasonable, but not absolute, assurance against material
misstatement or loss and to manage rather than eliminate
the risks of failure in operational system and achievement
of the Group’s objectives.

The Group has adopted a three-tier risk management
approach to identify, access and manage different
types of risks. As the first line of defence, operational
management are responsible for identifying, assessing
and monitoring risk associated with each business
activities or transaction. The management, as the second
line of defence, defines rules sets and models, provides
technical support, develops new system and oversees
project management. It ensures that risks are within the
acceptable range and that the first line of defence is
effective. As the final line of defence, an internal control
advisor assists the Audit Committee to review the first and
second lines of defence.

During 2024, an internal control team was appointed
by the Company to assist the Group to conduct yearly
review on the internal controls system according to the
internal audit plan agreed by the management and Audit
Committee. The management are satisfied with the
effectiveness of the Group’s internal controls and consider
that the key areas of the Group’s system of internal
controls are reasonably implemented.

The internal controls should provide reasonable but not
absolute assurance against material misstatement or
loss, safeguard the Group’s assets, maintain appropriate
accounting records and financial reporting and ensure
effective compliance with the Listing Rules and all other
applicable laws and regulations.
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INSIDE INFORMATION

Kin Yat, as a listed corporation, must, as soon as
reasonably practicable after any inside information has
come to its knowledge, disclose the inside information
to the public, unless the information falls with any of
the “Safe Harbours” as provided in SFO. Every Director
must take all reasonable measures from time to time to
ensure that proper safeguards exist to prevent a breach
of a disclosure requirement in relation to the Company.
In addition, as included in our staff handbook, a strict
prohibition to all Directors and relevant employees on
the unauthorised disclosure or use of confidential and
inside information as well as deal in the securities of the
Company when they are in possession of undisclosed
inside information.

To fulfil the disclosure obligation, during the Year, the
Company has disclosed inside information to the market
as a whole by way of the electronic publication system
operated by the Stock Exchange and other means in
accordance with the Listing Rules so that all participants
of the market have equal and simultaneous access to the
same information.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The company secretary of the Company is to support the
Board that there is good information flow and responsible
for advising the Board on governance matters as well as
facilitating the induction and professional development of
Directors.

Mr. Hung Kam Wing, Timmy (“Mr. Hung”) joined the
Group in August 2021 as the Group Financial Controller.
Currently, he is a fellow member of the Institute of
Chartered Accountants in English and Wales and an
associate member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants.

Mr. Hung confirmed that he complied with all the required
qualifications, experience and training requirements under
the Listing Rules.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS AND
INVESTOR RELATIONS
Shareholders’ Rights

1.

ANNUAL REPORT 2024 4 [Z ¥

Rights to convene Special General Meeting
Pursuant to the Bye-Laws, any one or more
registered shareholders holding at the date of
deposit of the requisition not less than 10% of the
paid up capital of the Company carrying the right of
voting at the general meetings of the Company shall
at all times have the right, by a written requisition,
to require a special general meeting to be called
by the Board for the transaction of any business
specified in such requisition; and such meeting shall
be held within two months after the deposit of such
requisition.

The written requisition must state the purpose of
the meeting, signed by the requisitionist(s) and be
delivered to the Board or the company secretary of
the Company at the Company’s principal place of
business at 7/F., Galaxy Factory Building, 25-27 Luk
Hop Street, San Po Kong, Kowloon, Hong Kong, and
such may consist of several documents in like form,
each signed by one or more requisitionist(s).

If within twenty-one days of such deposit, the
Board fails to proceed to convene such meeting,
the requisitionists themselves or any of them
represented more than one half of the total voting
rights of all of them, may convene a meeting in
accordance with the provisions of Section 74(3) of
the Companies Act of Bermuda.

TREBRE

BRRENRREEBE

IR RER
1.

BREREIGFIA 22 #F
RIFQBAR - ERNERZ2F B R
BARABRBRA (M SEMNATRAR
AIBRRAE LRE) A PR10% 2 — %
HEBELZRREBNEAKRE
BERZFZREEGARBRERIKR
g UREBHMEIFAMBETAER
MAEMEZRANERERZFRMEAR
AT AR -

REFARBEZENZRLEATHEZ
ZEH WERXEARARAZEBERM
B (it RE B NI HER N A #25-27
FRBEIMAEME)  RARAREEEH
REAMEWR  MEFAT RS HDBRLUBRK
ZXAFARK - MEBBAE—RRNEZH

EFARE -

HWARERERER —_+—HRN EFER
EAHERER  AZFAREBRGER
EERHREREEEB —FZEPEM
AR BITREBEBERERRAFRTAQ)K
ZHEXAHEE -

KIN YAT HOLDINGS LIMITED #E#5%EABR A a]

67



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
& EEARE

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS AND
INVESTOR RELATIONS (continued)

BRREMNRBREEBRR 2

Shareholders’ Rights (continued) IRERER (4F)

2. Procedures for putting forward proposals at 2. RREAELIEZEFZESF
shareholders’ meetings
Any one or more registered shareholders, at the A —BHZBELRZBRERERER
date of submission of written requisition, represents E2HAH  KERHEER() 2BRRAR
either (a) not less than 5% of the total voting rights ERETDRE® b)) PR —EZRK
of all shareholders; or (b) not less than one hundred R AREREEZFARKEARE L
shareholders, entitled to submit a written requisition REREZ -
for putting forward proposals at the general meeting.
The written requisition duly signed by the registered BETRREAEZECZEEDES (L
shareholders, must state the purpose of the written HARPEmMESBZEMN)  BR—MHT
requisition, together with a statement of not more BE—TF AAEEEBREERIE
than one thousand words with respect to the matter EECCRAEBRETBTEEEN
referred to in the proposed resolution must be o WEFBERBELAZRBA - RIA
deposited at the principal place of business in Hong N SNl R A VA7 SR DN () ==
Kong, not less than six weeks before the general EEAMBER - AIZERKRRRG /I~
meeting in case of a requisition requiring notice of a R —IBRE -
resolution; or not less than one week in case of other
requisition.

3. Procedures for directing shareholders’ enquiries to 3 REBREFSIELEHNZIESF

the Board

The Board understands that in-depth communication
with shareholders is an important way to understand
the thinking of shareholders. Shareholders may at
any time send their enquiries to the Board in writing
through the company secretary of the Company
whose contact details are as follows:

7/F., Galaxy Factory Building, 25-27 Luk Hop Street,
San Po Kong, Kowloon, Hong Kong

Fax: (852)-2351-1867
Email: webmaster@kinyat.com.hk

KIN YAT HOLDINGS LIMITED #EH&EBAR A7

BE=gRm  ARFRAEFETEER
REBZENEZ A c RERFHERUER
FREBARBZARAWENEFTGIR
HEWR  REWEZBEFEOT

BB NI B NA H25-275
ERHEIMAETE

@ H : (852)-2351-1867
T : webmaster@kinyat.com.hk
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS AND
INVESTOR RELATIONS (continued)

Investor Relations

1.

ANNUAL REPORT 2024 4 [Z ¥

Shareholders’ communication

The Board recognises the importance of maintaining
clear, timely and effective communications
with shareholders. Annual and interim reports
are published to provide shareholders with
comprehensive information of the Company’s
operational and financial performances. The
Company practices timely dissemination
of information and makes sure its website
(www.kinyat.com.hk) contains the most current
information, including annual reports, interim reports,
announcements, monthly returns and press releases,
and is updated in a timely manner to ensure
transparency.

The Board endeavour to maintain ongoing and
transparent communications with all shareholders
and, in particular, use the general meeting as a
platform for shareholders to state and exchange
views with the Board directly and encourage their
participation. The Directors are available to answer
questions from shareholders throughout an annual
general meeting. The external auditor is also
available at an annual general meeting to address
shareholders’ queries in accordance with the
requirements of applicable Listing Rules.

The annual general meeting for the year of 2023
of the Company (the “2023 AGM”) was held on 28
August 2023 and all the members of the Board and
the Chairman/Chairperson of each Board Committee
together with the external auditor presented in the
2023 AGM. Pursuant to Rule 13.39(4) of the Listing
Rules, any vote of shareholders on all resolutions
at general meetings must be taken by poll. The poll
results in respect of the resolutions proposed at the
2023 AGM were published on the websites of the
Stock Exchange and the Company on 28 August
2023.

TREBRSE

BRREMNRBREEBRR 2

REEBA
1. HRREZEE

EFFRPERRRFEH - BEMNE
BOBEBRZEEN A RFRGHEFER
PFHREAMBRERBEBEEARAR AL
ERMBERBZZEER - XNARIZE
191 7% 38 Ber 85 5 B R} R B R 5 A48 S (www.
kinyat.com.hk)& B B AT 2B X+ B
TEER - PHISRE - A ARKEH
Mfe WEREFUARREBEHE -

EEgR TS BRE2ESE
BRRCHAAEAEZER FHEE
BERAGUF e BRFBBARER
EREEEEQRBER - EFZHNEM
PRERB A g B R ERIR 2 8ZMA - s
BREmTeRNRREFKE LIREE
RLEMRANZRERERREERA -

AR ZEZ=—FREAFRE([=ZF
—ZHERERFRENDER=ZE ==
FNAZTN\BET  BEEST S
B BREZCZESZER  BRIINE
BEMHUEE S =FEREFREK
g o RIE £ R BIS13.39(4) 1K - R
RARE EARERENALKRERE
FRETRR - AR T _=ZFRE
AFRELIREZREARZVELRD
RZEBEZ=FN A+ /\BFIHREE
Bt K KX R 48k -
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
& EEARE

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS AND
INVESTOR RELATIONS (continued)

To conform with certain amendments to the Listing
Rules and the applicable laws of Bermuda, the
adoption of the amended and restated bye-laws (the
“New Bye-Laws”) was approved by the shareholders
of the Company by way of a special resolution at the
2023 AGM.

Consolidated version of the Company’s
constitutional documents is available on the website
of each of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange and the
Company.

KIN YAT HOLDINGS LIMITED #EH&EBAR A7

BRREMNRBREEBRR 2

Investor Relations (continued) REEBR(E)

1. Shareholders’ communication (continued) 1. HEREZEH(E)
The 2024 AGM will be held on Thursday, 26 —TE_NEREBFAGHEN_Z N
September 2024, for details of the information on the FRAZTAB(EHM) £17 - BH
2024 AGM, please refer to this annual report and its “ECNMERRBFAGZHAER
accompanying Explanatory Statement. The Board EAMANTFRNEEN AR - E
continues to maintain regular dialogue with financial S BRBRTESH ORI RIERE
analysts and institutional investors as appropriate BREE (WMEMR) EMETEHE AR
to keep them informed the Group’s strategies, BETHAEE 2R 28 BER
operations, management and plans. In order to ETEl e BAMEARNFHEBRRREESRZ
strengthen the bi-directional communications MHEMER REARKEENERE
between the Company, shareholders and investors, B (webmaster@kinyat.com.hk) 2 & {5 B
an email contact (webmaster@kinyat.com.hk) e TEHARASREBASELE
responded by senior management of the Company B
are available to shareholders and investors.

2. Sufficient and timely information 2. AHRAEARZEE
The Board recognises the significance of providing ExeRARNRREREHERZEEZH -
information to shareholders to enable each NS ZREARBRAE LIREZRIA
shareholder to make an informed assessment for EECREELANETE - Fh - 0%
the purposes of voting on each of the matters put WRLEEXHAREEREFTETR
before shareholders at the general meeting. Copies R
of the annual report, financial statements and related
documents are despatched to shareholders in
accordance with the statutory requirements.

3. Significant constitutional documents 3. FEFEXMH

B LTRARBRE ZBERERN
BT ARARRER T -_=F
BRERBFEANEG EARRIRERT A HLE
RNEERT REY 2 2 RARI ([FAF
IR DI

RRBZBEXNM ZERARAAREE
B RARNAREB ZWUEANER
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS AND
INVESTOR RELATIONS (continued)

Investor Relations (continued)

4.

ANNUAL REPORT 2024 4 [Z ¥

Dividend Policy

Our goal is to share the fruit of our effort and provide
a stable and sustainable return to our shareholders.
The Company has adopted a Dividend Policy
(the “Dividend Policy”) which is a guideline on the
distribution of dividends to shareholders of the
Company.

In considering the payment of dividends, there
shall be a balance between maintaining sufficient
capital for expanding the Group’s business as well
as rewarding the shareholders of the Company.
The Board shall also take into account, among
other things, when considering the declaration and
payments of dividends:

- the actual and expected financial performance
of the Group;

- the capital and debt level of the Group;

- the general market conditions;

- any working capital and capital expenditure
requirement;

- any future development plans of the Group;

- retained earnings and distributable reserves of
the Company and each of the members of the
Group;

- the liquidity position of the Group;

- any restrictions on dividend payouts imposed
by any of the Group’s lenders;

- the statutory and regulatory restrictions which
the Group is subject to from time to time; and

- any other relevant factors that the Board may
deem appropriate.

TREBRE

BRREMNRBREEBRR 2

BREEBRER(E)
4. REEBFE

DERMABIORR - REREHREE
MAIFFENEHRDRMNBER - AR A
ERAREEE ([REBE D ERDIK
BEFARRBRZIES -

ERIRNEER  BEAFARESH
AEBEDREBARBDBARFBRRZ
RS FE - EFEERE IR MR K
ERTAZE(EPEE)ATEE:

- AKREZERMBEHMBRE

- AEEZADREFKT
- —ETHHRR

- EFAZEEEREAFAIFNR:

- AKRBEZREBERE
- ARFANUERAKEZKERAZ
REE &M N A DR

- AKREZRBESMN

- AKEERARMZDIKEER
i

- AEEIRAETZEEREE
Rl &

- EXSUERA/BEIEMEM
HEREE -
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

SRERBE

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS AND
INVESTOR RELATIONS (continued)

Investor Relations (continued)

4. Dividend Policy (continued)
Under our Dividend Policy, the recommendation
of the payment of any dividend is subject to the
absolute discretion of the Board as well as any
restrictions under the law’s requirements of Bermuda
and Hong Kong, the Listing Rules and the Bye-Laws
of the Company. The declaration of final dividend will
be subject to the approval of the shareholders.

The Dividend Policy shall in no way constitute
a legally binding commitment by the Company
in respect of its future dividend. In addition, any
dividend unclaimed shall be forfeited and shall revert
to the Company in accordance with the Bye-laws of
the Company.

DISCLOSURE OF INFORMATION OF
DIRECTORS UNDER RULE 13.51B(1) OF
THE LISTING RULES

Pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules, there is
no changes in information of the Directors subsequent to
the date of the 2023/2024 interim report of the Company.

KIN YAT HOLDINGS LIMITED w5 E B R A

BREIMNRBREEBR 2

REEBR(E)

4. REEE (&)
RERMANBERR EFTQHERY
B ISR IR AR R - WREST
BRERBBAOIMRE - EHRAEA
NEZ AR AR P ERR S - kK H
B SRR B R AL ©

BB EREB B AR BB E R R
IR B SR B BDER AR N 2 %GE o It
S - AR (] R BB BB B W K R AR
BARRZARAAFEBALRT -

BELTHRAFE13.51B(I)FEE
EEEH

BiE TR FE1351BMNIE  RARB ZF
CE/CECNETHRERRE EE2
BRI e o
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

THE ATTENDANCE RECORD OF
EACH MEMBER OF THE BOARD IN
FY2023/2024

The number of Annual General Meeting, Board and its
Committees meetings attended by each Director for the
Year.

AN\ Az b 4
1k éwnﬂi%

R /CE_NUFERS
EREHESRTH

RAFERN BUEEMHFEZIRRBFA
G EXONERREETARE-

Annual
General Remuneration ~ Nomination Audit
Meeting FullBoard  Committee = Committee =~ Committee
RREFAE 2BEZE HHZEEE REZE€ BRKZEE

Executive Directors BTE=E
Mr. Cheng Chor Kit PReEE 11 5/5 11 11 NATER
Mr. Liu Tat Luen BERLE 1 56  NATEE  NATEE  NATEE
Mr. Cheng Tsz To BFERE 11 55  NATER  NATER  NATER
Mr. Cheng Tsz Hang BrRsE 1 56  NATERE  NATER  NATHER
Non-executive Director FRTES
Dr. Fung Wah Cheong, Vincent* HEERT 11 0/ 0/ 01 NATEE
Independent non-executive Directors ~ BUFHTES
Mr. Wong Chi Wal Bi#EE 1 5/5 11 1/1 4/4
Dr. Sun Kwai Yu, Vivian™ BEmELe 1 1/1 11 1/1 1/1
Mr. Cheung Wang Ip REFEE 1 5/5 11 1/1 474
Mr. Chan Yim Por Bonnig™* BR A% 50 A i 4/4 0/0 0/0 3/3

*

Dr. Fung Wah Cheong, Vincent resigned as a non-executive
Director on 28 August 2023.

* Dr. Sun Kwai Yu, Vivian resigned as an independent nonexecutive
Director on 28 August 2023.

Mr. Chan Yim Por Bonnie appointed as an independent
non-executive Director on 28 August 2023.

* BEEBIN = \A -+ N\BHEIE
HEMITES -

> HEMBE+R _ZE-_=F /A -+ N\BHEIE
B IEHITES -

o RAREENR-_ZE_=F N \A=-+/\BEZ
EBBIULIERITES o
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

18 M % BLED R

_a

pwec

To the Shareholders of Kin Yat Holdings Limited
(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION

What we have audited

The consolidated financial statements of Kin Yat Holdings
Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”),
which are set out on pages 85 to 219, comprise:

° the consolidated statement of financial position as
at 31 March 2024;

° the consolidated income statement for the year
then ended;
° the consolidated statement of comprehensive

income for the year then ended;

° the consolidated statement of changes in equity for
the year then ended;

° the consolidated statement of cash flows for the
year then ended; and

° the notes to the consolidated financial statements,
comprising material accounting policy information
and other explanatory information.

Our opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements
give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial
position of the Group as at 31 March 2024, and of its
consolidated financial performance and its consolidated
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”)
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared
in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

KIN YAT HOLDINGS LIMITED &5 E B R A A

BERAE

BEEEEARITAKRR
(RERZEZMHALZ HFRLA])

=R

EMEETHAR

EREEARAB CATHEEIERR]) RE
MEAR (ATHREESE])IEHNESSE
19EMERA M B]mE - 81

e RIZ-_NFE=-A=+—HNHEANE
RRR

s HEZRLFEMNKRABRZEIHX:

s HERBLFENHKREEAZRER K

«  BAMBERNE QEEAFHER
AR REMREER -

BEMHWER

BARR ZEEAVBBRRCRETES
AEag((BEStMAg]) RGN(EE
MBREE) ([EEMBRELEL ] EE
MABHRRT BERER_-_T_HF=A
=T HNEREMBERAREEEZALF
EHHEAMBRARGAETRE  LEE
RBBC(ARGOID M WEREZ BEE -
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSASs”) issued by the HKICPA.
Our responsibilities under those standards are further
described in the Auditor’'s Responsibilities for the Audit
of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our
report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants
(“the Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our
professional judgment, were of most significance in
our audit of the consolidated financial statements of
the current period. These matters were addressed in
the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion
thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters.

Key audit matters identified in our audit are summarised
as follows:

° Impairment assessments of non-financial assets of
the Motors (the “Motors CGU”) and Electrical and
Electronic (the “E&E CGU”) cash generating units

° Assessment of net realisable values of properties
under development (“PUD”) and completed
properties held for sale (“PHS”)

ANNUAL REPORT 2024 4 [Z ¥
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BPCRBEFA S AGEMNC(EBER
FRN(TEBE LR ) EITER - RAOEZ
SR TERENEECDEARE [ ZBEHE
AHRB M BHERAENR T B PIEE—F

HAHEGE - RAMESHERGTERIEETER
BEEWRABANESFT RIRHEER -

Bt

REEEGFTMASEMO(EXSFEER
STADATEBEIFRD - ZPIBLR BS
CWERITTAFNEMERERAEL -

FREETER
BRESZTHEISREBERMANEZHE - RA
HARGEVBREANEIR/EENT
HeBEEREERMEFEREAMHE R
KREAEBRBETREN B TEHE
LEETRRHEBNER

BAERPREAIOERET FEBALT
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

18 M % BLED R

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

BERETEE®)

Key Audit Matter
BRESSE

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
EMNESNMEEERETER

Impairment assessments of non-financial assets of the Motors (the “Motors CGU”) and Electrical
and Electronic (the “E&E CGU”) cash generating units
FRERER((ERERREELAEN ) REEREFER((ETERRSELEN ReELENNHE

ERMEERENML

Refer to notes 4.1(d), 15, 17 and 18 to the
consolidated financial statements.

FLHEEU B HREMNFE4.1(d)

As at 31 March 2024, the Group had non-financial
assets totalled HK$502,545,000 in its Motors and
E&E CGUs, comprising of property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets with carrying
amounts of approximately HK$477,472,000 and
HK$25,073,000 respectively.
RZZE_MF=A=+—H BEEEBENEHRE
mAeEABEUNREFERREELEEMN S
Bl & FE 4858 /502,545,000 T - BEME - W E

R A K (5 P #E B EBREE 2 Bl 4 /477,472,000
8 7T %.25,073,0007% 7T °

5 178%18 ¢

During the year, specific provision of impairment
amounted to HK$11,149,000 and HK$6,732,000
were provided for certain non-current assets upon
scale down of one of its production plants of E&E
CGU and Motors CGU respectively.

RAFEE REFERRSEEBEUREMERS
PEABMMNER —BALEEMERRREER 23
ETIHERBEETRRERTEED RI/H11,149,000
7 7T 126,732,000/ 7T ©

During the year ended 31 March 2024, as a result
of the unfavourable performance of the Motors
CGU and lower-than-budgeted revenue and profit
growth in E&E CGU, management considered that
impairment indicator exists for the non-financial
assets of the Motors and E&E CGUs. Impairment
assessments of non-financial assets are performed
by estimating the recoverable amounts of the CGUs
which were determined based on higher of fair value
less costs of disposal and value in use.
RBZE_Z_MNF=A=+—HILFE HREH
Euufﬁi3$$1imﬁiﬁz_1$%&E&%Euufﬁi}g
BB RRNERENEE  ERBERASE
BMEMRSEFEUNETFEnREEFEMAIE
CREEGFERERER FeREENRENET
BIEReEE BT RE S EEMET - BIAARTF
BEBREHEXNARERBEEFTRSEMEE °

We performed the following procedures to address
this key audit matter:
BB LR ETEEETUTRERR

o Obtained an understanding of management’s
internal control and assessment in identifying
the indicators of potential impairment and
estimating the recoverable amounts of the
Motors and E&E CGUs, and assessed the
inherent risk of material misstatements
by considering the degree of estimation
uncertainty, complexity, subjectivity and
other inherent risk factors;
THREEBEZRNEERERR I AT EHEM
&%%Euufﬁéﬁiﬁﬁﬂl&@%%ﬁmW*Bﬁ*
ERFE - WERAGT T EEEEMEE - &
MM TEMERHEMANERREZE  AFTHE
R E SRR At B (A 2 LBy

° Compared the current year’s actual results
with the forecast made last year to evaluate
the reliability and historical accuracy of
management’s budgeting process;
BARFENEREREEFHOTEAARETL
EI L/(uﬂﬁ”fiﬁ TBERGARERNA FEERE
S2AEREE

° Assessed the competence, capabilities and
objectivity of the independent external valuer
engaged by management;

S EIR BT R E L INER R ER A B -
HREFEM

KIN YAT HOLDINGS LIMITED a5 E B R A A
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

R 7 TS

BERETEE®)

Key Audit Matter
BREETEE

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
RPN EFTNATEEBRENSE

The value in use calculation used cash flow
projections based on management approved
financial budget covering a five-year period and
projected the cash flow beyond the period covered
by the budget with a terminal growth rate. Certain
key assumptions used by the management in the
value in use calculation include revenue growth
rate, gross profit margin, discount rate and terminal
growth rate. Management also performed sensitivity
analysis on the recoverable amount of the CGUs.
For the year ended 31 March 2024, impairment
loss amounted to HK$139,408,000 of the Motors
CGU was recognised based on management’s
assessment. No provision of impairment to E&E
CGU is made based on the value in use calculation.
FTRBEMNGEERATEREREZEN T FHME
B ETEE /IR SR TER - I Ak A 1 & R 388 FTiR
EfHzENBReR EEEAEGEEAEBER®RE
ANRELARBREFBWRAERE  EFX . MRE
RKABRE EEREEHZELREESEMNA
WEISREETTHRMELI T - BE_T_NF=H
=t+—HILEE REEEENTE  EHERRS®
4 BB\ HE AR R (B E5 181139,408,0007% T © IF £ 1R 1%
CREBEEAEREFERRSELEUGIRAEBER
1 e

We considered the impairment assessment of non-
financial assets of Motors and E&E CGUs is a key
audit matter because it involved management’s
significant judgements and estimates.
HREREMMREFERRSELBNIFEHEEN
BER G R ERENERAB NG - HAIRRE
—BARRERTEIE -

o Assessed the appropriateness of the
methodology used in determining the
recoverable amounts with the assistance of
our in-house valuation experts;
ERMHABEEZRA B T 1L EE AT
Bl &R PTERA AR EE 1

o Assessed the reasonableness of the key
assumptions used such as revenue growth
rate, gross profit margin, terminal growth
rate, and discount rate by comparing them to
approved budget, historical results, market
data or industry research;
BRECHERE  BERE  mHBERT
EMITEITHE - FMEEANEERR (1
WABRE - EME - SFRERERIFREK)
&R

o Compared the higher of fair value less costs
of disposal with value in use; and
DA E B SRR B A E AT ERER
Eﬁm%v&

° Evaluated the sensitivity analysis prepared by
management on the key assumptions used
in the value in use assessment to understand
the impact of reasonable changes in key
assumptions on the estimated recoverable
amounts of the Motors and E&E CGUSs;
ERMEEENEBEER T AT R AR ERR
ﬁmeE PATVERTAS - A T R EBRNE

“{bffﬁﬁﬁ;ﬁrﬂﬁ *%EDD&EE__T_F DIE%F
FBA AN S ENRE

Based on the above, we considered that the
management’s judgements and assumptions used
in the impairment assessment are supported by the
evidence obtained from the procedures performed.
RIE EXXArt - HPIRARIBER PR E IR E R
B R BRGEETIE FRESHRFEM R
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

18 M % BLED R

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

BERETEE®)

Key Audit Matter
BEENSE

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
EMNESTONEEERENSE

Assessment of net realisable values of properties under development (“PUD”) and completed

properties held for sale (“PHS”)
BRPMERBELEZR T YETER FEMNTM

Refer to notes 4.1(e), 19 and 20 to the consolidated
financial statements.
EL2HGREUBmERMEL1(e) - 19K20

As at 31 March 2024, the PUD and PHS of
the Group amounted to HK$297,451,000 and
HK$58,682,000 respectively. The carrying amounts
of PUD and PHS are stated at the lower of cost and
net realisable value (“NRV’). During the year ended
31 March 2024, impairment loss of HK$17,117,000
and HK$9,365,000 were made in the consolidated
income statement to write down the PUD and PHS
to their NRV, respectively.
RZZE-_WNF=ZA=+—8  EEENZEESY
ERBEREZRIWED R /297,451,0007 7T K&
58,682,000 7T - HEERPWERFIELEZRTYE
ZEESEEKARA BIHFE ([ 2BFE]) R
BEEVFR -HE_ZT-_WF=A=+—HILFE -
AW LT D RIFHE17,117,000/%5 7T &.9,365,000
BITHREEE UWEEEFMERFELE 2R
T MR = B r] #38FE -

We performed the following procedures to address
this key audit matter:
B LR E S FEEITIA TR

° Obtained an understanding of management’s
internal control and assessment of net
realisable values of PUD and PHS and
assessed the inherent risk of material
misstatement by considering the degree
of estimation uncertainly, complexity,
subjectivity and other inherent risk factors;
THREBEBTMERTMERFELHEZRT
YRR FEN A EE R - WEEML
STTHETERERMIRE BN B REM
WIEERMBEZE - U ERERER M N ER

B

o Assessed the competence, capabilities and
objectivity of the independent external valuer
engaged by management;

L EREMEENE LN EREERE -
CERAPSE-3 Sk

° Assessed the methodologies used in
determining the NRV with the assistance of
our in-house valuation expert; and
ERFINABEEZEROME) TR EE R &
REERMERANTE &

KIN YAT HOLDINGS LIMITED a5 E B R A A
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

R 7 TS

BERETEE®)

Key Audit Matter
BEENSE

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
EMNESTONEEERENSE

Determination of NRV of PUD and PHS involved
critical accounting estimates on the selling price,
variable selling expenses and, for PUD, the costs
to completion. The judgements and estimations are
subject to high degree of uncertainty. The inherent
risk in relation to the assessment of NRV of PUD
and PHS is considered relatively higher due to
uncertainty of significant assumptions used.

EBrTERTYERELEZRIMENTTRIRFE
BESRHHEER AIREEEAURERTYE
W LRANBER G AT ZFHEREARSF
BENTETEY BHRAEANEZRIZNTETE
- BERAYRLEEHECRTIMENAIZIE
FEMEEENANERRERR/BEEES -

We considered this is a key audit matter because
the estimation of NRV involved significant degree of
management’s judgements and assumptions.

A A IR E A R E TR B E A H AR
FBMRAR—BREFEE-

° Assessed the reasonableness of the key
assumptions used such as selling price,
variable selling expenses, and, for PUD, the
costs to completion;

AP AR EEZRE (NEE - ATZIHER
xk (ERPYEMS) RIKEK) NEE
L

Based on above, we considered that the
management’s judgements and assumptions used
in the NRV assessment are supported by the
evidence obtained from the procedures performed.
BIE EXFt - BRMRARATERFETEMAERE
[ 8 H T R B RAS R EIT R P R BUS B R FTSFE o
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

18 M % BLED R

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
other information. The other information comprises all of
the information included in the annual report other than
the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s
report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does
not cover the other information and we do not express any
form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other
information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the
audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude
that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have
nothing to report in this regard.

KIN YAT HOLDINGS LIMITED #E#&EEAR A7

Hif5 8

ERARERAHRMERAR - HitEE®E
R (REANBRERRMNERARE
SN N FTB 58

BFEHEEMBEREANBERY TRERME
B BT EHZSEMESERTMER

HYEERE A5 TR o

BARMESEEMBHRERNEFT  RANE
TEMEEMES  HUBRET  ZEHEM
EERTEGEMBBRIBMAERIER
TRTHROBAGEEAEBEHEUTFE
ERBERRANBNR -

ERBMAERTOITE  WREMBREM
EEFEEABRRL  HMFTFEREZE
BofwEhm  BFPRBEMEKE -
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS
AND THE AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements that
give a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs
issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary
to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the
directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable,
matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or
have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the
Group’s financial reporting process.

ANNUAL REPORT 2024 4 [Z ¥

R 7 TS

EERERZEENRAMBR
REAARENERE

BERREFARARBE GRS RM
ECE BT R EEAD) KB BCR RS B
BEAETHRBEEMTENGEEMBERE
VTHERBREEAVBRROBEIFE
MAMFFRERMEBN BB RRA T
HAREZEHI AR -

EREFEAVBRRE EF88TH &
SEFBBELEMRE N LHEERABRTHRE
RSELEAMNER  URERKELE
SEFEN RIFEFAEN EXEER
HFLLEE  SHBEMBERNRBE IR -
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

18 M % BLED R

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether the consolidated financial statements as
a whole are free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion. We report our opinion solely
to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not
assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any
other person for the contents of this report. Reasonable
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when
it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and
are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we
exercise professional judgment and maintain professional
scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error, design
and perform audit procedures responsive to those
risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
The risk of not detecting a material misstatement
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the
override of internal control.

KIN YAT HOLDINGS LIMITED #E#&EEAR A7

BB ET RS M BHRRAE
MEE

BFNBER EHEEMBEBRBEREEDS T
T 7 o 70 BRRF 288 5R 1 G 2 BB K #E AR Rt
MEEERE LHABERIMERNZE
AR - HPMER BT (EREB) SR
MOER BRI REREEME A -
BT ERABENRNTRATAMEMBALA
LHAEEFMEE - EERERBKFHRE
o ETERBERB(EBRA LR ET
ME  EX-BEXRERRMFAERBEEH
B oo SHARFRAA] LA B ARFF Sk #E AR 5l 2 - IR
EEBHEMEBIEMAERAEZERS
MBRREMEERBEEEVBRRMEL N
ROERTE - BB BR SRR BRI AT AR F K o

EREBE(EREAENDETEFNBRES
BPERTEXHE RIFETEXRERE
J& o BAPI IR -

o GBIANEEfh A A BRRE Sk 85 AR 1 B BUAR
EMBHMRFEERERRANER -
Rt RBITEIEF AR ELAR
AR T = AEE B RE  1ER
BB REOER - MRIRFFAI RS N &
wofmE - BERER ERRE - 0K
BRAEESZ £ - FitReeBEREAR
FMEHMERERBANRERSRR
BE 25 3R X 86 5 T 8 2 A B K 85 AR PR AL 19
K
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

ANNUAL REPORT 2024 4 [Z ¥

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant
to the audit in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by the
directors.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors'
use of the going concern basis of accounting and,
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether
a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists,
we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions
are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the
date of our auditor’s report. However, future events
or conditions may cause the Group to cease to
continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and
content of the consolidated financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the
consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

KIN YAT HOLDINGS LIMITED

R 7 TS

R B RS M RRAE
NEE &)

TR AR M A B IE S - ARFHE
ENEEF BEEMLFY S£H
AEEH N EREERER -

AEEFARASTRRNGE N RE
Mg AT MR RENA RN -

LHEERAFBELZSTERNREN
TR 4 o RIZPTERMETRE

ERAFEREFHELBRAABHERT
HMEM  KEmMAEERY BERBEORE
BREENEEENEE - WREAR
REEERTHEENE  MABEEZH
B s RBEREIERAVBHER
FERBENE BEEBOERETE -
AIRMEEERRFEREBER - HFIM
i BN BEN SR E A LU E
AHBREE - AT RRFEKIBERA LS
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AEREMERRNERIHRIA
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

18 M % BLED R

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

° Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence
regarding the financial information of the entities or
business activities within the Group to express an
opinion on the consolidated financial statements.
We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of
the audit and significant audit findings, including any
significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify
during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements
regarding independence, and to communicate with
them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and
where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or
safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit
Committee, we determine those matters that were of
most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period and are therefore the
key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public
disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare
circumstances, we determine that a matter should not
be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be
expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this
independent auditor’s report is Chan Kai Bun.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 21 June 2024

KIN YAT HOLDINGS LIMITED a5 E B R A A
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT

For the year ended 31 March 2024

HE_Z-_MF=—A=1+—HIFE

Notes
Bt
Revenue W = 5
Cost of sales 5 5 B AR 8
Gross profit before impairment AR 2 E A
Cost of sales — Impairment loss on HEXA-—ME  HEK
property, plant and equipment and REARGERAEEE
right-of-use assets BIEEE 8
Cost of sales — Impairment of HERAK-ZEBHWER
properties under development and BELEZ
completed properties held for sale BT ERE 8
Gross loss after impairment BERZER
Other income and gains, net Ha g A Rz - 558 6
Selling and distribution expenses HERDHAX 8
Administrative expenses TEAX 8
Impairment loss on goodwill R 2R EEE 8
(Impairment losses)/reversal of tRMEEZ CRERE),
impairment losses on financial assets Y& {& 518 # [0l
Operating loss K& EE
Finance income B U A 7
Finance costs MBER 7
Finance costs, net WIEER  F8 7
Loss before income tax MATSBATEE
Income tax (expense)/credit Fsf (AxX) K& 11
Loss for the year attributable to ERAFEREBERA
equity holders of the Company EEERNEE
The above consolidated income statement should be read Ltz a

in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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2024 2023
—E-NEF —TE-=4F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FET
1,103,944 1,209,602
(963,234) (1,082,937)
140,710 126,665
(152,639) (50,790)
(26,482) (240,078)
(38,411) (164,203)
64,474 36,579
(34,449) (38,185)
(154,044) (119,183)
(4,650) (6,207)
(7,607) 5,139
(174,687) (286,060)
2,653 1,599
(18,537) (13,262)
(15,884) (11,663)
(190,571) (297,723)
(21,561) 3,554
(212,132) (294,169)

I 34
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

AeZEWEKR

For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE_Z-_NF=-A=+—HILEFE

Loss for the year

Other comprehensive loss:
Items that may be reclassified to

the income statement:

Exchange translation reserve on
translation of foreign operations

Release of exchange translation
reserve upon disposal of
a subsidiary

Other comprehensive (loss)/income
not to be reclassified to the income
statement in subsequent periods:
Deficit on revaluation of

land and buildings
Deferred tax credited to
asset revaluation reserve

Other comprehensive loss
for the year, net of tax

Total comprehensive loss
for the year attributable to
equity holders of the Company

Loss per share attributable to
equity holders of the Company

Basic and diluted

The above consolidated statement of comprehensive
income should be read in conjunction with the

accompanying notes.

2024 2023
—EF —E-=HF
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
k=3 FET FET
FAEBIE (212,132) (294,169)
HihZHEEIE -
AEF T EE W K2
EH -
BREBINEBEEZ
b X R (34,711) (156,631)
HE—HWEAER
ARBRIE H S
3,174 -
.......Bssn) (156,631
REGERETEEH 74
B m K EMEE
(E1E)  Wa -
T i RIEFEGBA
15 (13,002) (43,527)
REEEMBHETAZ
EERIE 29 7,575 9,102
(5,427) (34,425)
FREMEEERE
MERBE (36,964) (191,056)
KATREBREAEA
EBEFREZ2EEEELE
(249,096) (485,225)
AATEBEZEEA
EhEERER
EXLEE 13 HK(48.33) centsifll  HK(67.01) centsi#
FaldR & 2T a5k FE G R B B B A — G B

KIN YAT HOLDINGS LIMITED a5 E B R A A
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
e MR R

As at 31 March 2024
RZZE-_WF=A=+—H

ASSETS

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment
Investment properties
Right-of-use assets

Properties under development
Intangible assets

Prepayments and deposits
Deferred tax assets

Total non-current assets

Current assets
Properties under development
Completed properties held for sale
Inventories
Accounts and bills receivable
Prepayments, deposits and
other receivables
Financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss
Tax recoverable
Time deposits
Restricted bank deposits
Cash and cash equivalents

Assets classified as held for sale

Total current assets

Total assets

ANNUAL REPORT 2024 4 [Z ¥

2024 2023
—E-NF —ZTZ=F
Notes HK$°000 HK$’000
e FET FiET
BE
FRBEE
Y - BB REE 15 524,140 781,529
wEME 16 43,477 54,016
FREEE 17 25,523 29,484
BERAYE 19 97,686 103,216
mEEE 18 = 4,650
ENFIENRES 23 28,357 24,571
RIETHIE A E 29 2,215 4,145
ERBEELE 721,398 1,001,611
REBEE
BRPYE 19 199,765 207,404
BERE R IWE 20 58,682 79,128
EE 21 168,166 195,559
JEBERE R KRB 22 242,079 210,742
BAZRE - ZER
H th JE I FRIA 23 163,331 114,333
BEBBEREAFEYEZ
TREE 24 15,259 27,408
AJ Uy [ 7 18 6,277 4,457
TEHTF R 25 129,990 10,006
BRI ERITF K 25 581 1,093
RekReEZERY 25 118,810 203,372
1,102,940 1,053,502
DERFIELEERE 26 = 41,100
RBEEBLE 1,102,940 1,094,602
BHEE 1,824,338 2,096,213

KIN YAT HOLDINGS LIMITED #E#&%EABR A a]
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

e AR R &

As at 31 March 2024
R-ZE-MF=A=+—H

EQUITY

Equity attributable to equity holders of
the Company

Share capital

Reserves

Total equity

LIABILITIES

Non-current liabilities

Deferred income and other payables
Bank borrowings

Lease liabilities

Deferred tax liabilities

Total non-current liabilities

Current liabilities

Accounts and bills payable,
other payables and provisions

Contract liabilities

Bank borrowings

Lease liabilities

Tax payable

Total current liabilities
Total liabilities

Total equity and liabilities

R

AR A mIFEA
JE G # o

N

{18

@A

=N
FRBEE

A FE A B EL At 8 SR

RITEE
HERE
ELEHRAAE

FRBEERE

REBAE
R BRAR MR E
H A JE 5 3RIR K B A
BHaE
ﬁﬁ%%
HERR
& 7R

EASREE L

wmeE

HEZKAE

The above consolidated statement of financial position
should be read in conjunction with the accompanying

notes.

These consolidated financial statements on pages
85 to 219 have been approved for issue by the Board of
Directors on 21 June 2024 and were signed on its behalf.

Cheng Chor Kit
BREE

Director

EF

KIN YAT HOLDINGS LIMITED a5 E B R A A

FOEE2190B 2 X EHRA
N - ZE X
THEERERESE

2024 2023

—ENEF —E-=HF

Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
kA FET FHET
30 43,896 43,896
32 811,693 1,060,789
855,589 1,104,685

27 19,977 36,767
28 = 82,200
17 5,093 6,477
29 21,731 29,387
46,801 154,831

27 322,880 346,325
5(d) 156,598 158,958
28 369,146 269,065
17 7,282 5,596
66,042 56,753

921,948 836,697

968,749 991,528

1,824,338 2,096,213

L% B 75 7R 50 3R T 528 T B B B R — 6 B

o

Liu Tat Luen

BER

Director

EF

B REARCHES
:+ B EEETI A
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
M\é?ﬁ£%§§%§%§§

For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE-_Z-_WNF=-ZA=+—HILFE

Attributable to equity holders of the Company

ANERERAARR
Reserves
e
Share-
Share based Asset  Exchange Capital
Share  premium  payment revaluation translation redemption Contributed Other  Retained Total Total
capital  account reserve reserve reserve reserve Surplus reserve profits  reserves equity
HR B
RERH §E g%

Bx ROEER OREE  EMEE  EXBE  ROBE  HARR  RHER  REEN  BREE  ERAR
HKS'000 ~ HKS'000  HKS000  HKS'000  HKS000  HKS000  HKSO00  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS'000
FET  TEn Fén Fén FEr FEr Fir FET FET FET Fén

At 1 April 2023 4389 156,015 670 125,056 (84,712) 14 6,150 (11,230) 868,826 1,060,789 1,104,685
Revaluation deficit (Note 15) - - - (13,002) - - - - - (13,002) (13,002)
Deferred tax credited to asset revaluation reserve
(Note 29) - - - 3,045 - - - - - 3,045 3,045
Deferred tax credited to asset revaluation reserve j
upon disposal of property, plant and equipment BEITAL
(Note 29) EEHAEH2) = - - 4530 - - - - - 4530 4530
Exchange translation on ranslaton of BEENEHL
foreign operations ENEE - - - - () - - - - an) ()
Release of exchange translation reserve upon tE-BHBAAE
disposal of a subsidiary ERELEE - - - - 3,174 - - - - 3,174 3,174
Loss for the year ERER - - - - - - - - Py 21 (@r21%)
Total comprehensive loss for the year FRREERLE - - - (5421 (31,587) - - - (12132 (249,006)  (249,09)
Release of asset revaluation surplus upon HENE  BRRXERER
disposal of property, plant and equipment EEERRR - - - (18,420) - - - - 18,420 - -
Lapse of share option EREEN - - (221) - - - - - 21 - -
At 31 March 2024 WZEZRE=ZA=1-R 43806 156,015 449 101,209 (116,249) 14 6,150 (11,230) 675,335 811,693 855,589
Attributable to equity holders of the Company
RARERREARR
Reserves
L
Share-
Share based Asset  Exchange Capital
Share  premium payment  revaluation translation  redemption  Contributed Other ~ Retained Total Total
capitll ~ account Tesenve Tesenve Tesenve resenve Surplus reserve poofs— reserves eauity
iR
r ROEEE  HREE  EMEE  ENRE  BEHE  SARR EhEER  REAET BBUE  EROE
HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK§'000 HK§'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK8'000 HK$'000
Fér  FEr T AT AT AT FET 7T AT bz AT
At 1 April 2022 R-E--£RA-A 438% 156,015 670 159,481 7919 1 6,150 (11,2300 116299 1546014  1,589910
Revaluaton defcit e 15 Bl - - - () - - - - N
Defrred tax credlted to asset revaluation resenve. RAEE
(Note 29) EERE W) - - - 9,102 - - - - - 9,102 9,102
Exchangg ranslation on translaton of BEENZHL
foreign operations EZZE - - - - [138489) - - - - (198489 (138.489)
Release of exchange traniafion resene wpon AR -EHELABER
deregstration of a subsidiary (Note 6 ERGEMWT) - - - - (18,14 - - - - (18142 (18,14
Loss for the year FREE - - - - - - - - (294169 (294,169 (294,169
Total comprenensive loss for the year FREEEELEE - - - (34,425 (156,631) - - - (294169 (485205)  (485,209)
At 31 March 2023 R-E-=£=f=1-H 43896 156,015 670 125,056 (84,712 i 6,150 (11,230) 868,826 1,060,789 1,104,685
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

AN Ao~ —1
mEBHERER
For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE_Z-_NF=A=+—HLFE

Cash flows from operating activities
Loss before tax
Adjustments for:
Finance costs
Finance income
Fair value loss/(gain) on financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss, net

Fair value loss on investment properties
(Gain)/loss on disposal of property,
plant and equipment
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary
Gain on termination of lease
Gain on deregistration of a subsidiary
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
Depreciation of right-of-use assets
Impairment loss on property,
plant and equipment
Impairment loss on right-of-use assets
Impairment loss on goodwill
Impairment losses/(reversal of impairment
losses) on financial assets
(Reversal of provision)/provision for
impairment of inventories, net
Impairment of properties under development
Impairment of completed properties
held for sale
Deferred government subsidies income

Decrease in completed properties held for sale
Increase in properties under development
Decrease in inventories
(Increase)/decrease in accounts and
bills receivable
Decrease in prepayments, deposits and
other receivables
Decrease in accounts and bills payable, other
payables and provisions
Increase/(decrease) in contract liabilities
Increase in deferred income
Decrease/(increase) in restricted bank deposits

Cash generated from continuing operations

Interest received

Interest paid

Hong Kong profits tax (paid)/refunded
Overseas income taxes (paid)/refunded

Net cash inflow from operating activities

REEPrRERE
Bt A5 1B
BATREEHAE
HBER
FHBA
EBBERATEIEZ
EMEELATE
B/ (ha) 58
REMEXZ ATFEZER
HEWE B Lk&EL
(k) /B8
& — R E DAL W
RIEHEE 2 Wi
— PR P /2 ) B e M
nE - BERREBNE
EREEENE
nE - BERERELZ
EREY S
EREEEZRERRE
BEAEER
SREEREER/
CRLfE & BB R)
FEREBERRD)/
BmEE
BRTPMEZHE
RIELEZRINEZHE

BT T 8 B A

REELEZRTHRAED
BRTMEEM

FERD
YRR RRE (M) /5

BNRE e RAGEKRE
R,/ (Em)
BNERLRE  AURNHEA
KB
anasEn/ (i)
EREWALE
RREBIERAD/ (EM)

RELEEBMELRS

BMAE
ENHE
(Bf) /REEEFGH
(BR)/BERIBIMAEH

RETPLRERAFE

KIN YAT HOLDINGS LIMITED a5 E B R A A

Notes
hriz

G O O O O O (&>

@

2024 2023
—E-mE —EZ=H
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FHET
(190,571) (297,723)
18,537 13,262
(2,658) (1,599)
6,706 (274)
9,372 9,906
(61,550) 613
(5,208) -
= (21)

= (18,142)
101,912 119,452
7,526 6,726
148,921 50,790
3,718 -
4,650 6,207
7,607 (5,139)
(24,360) 5,801
17,117 191,304
9,365 48,774
(4,531) (9,158)
46,558 120,779
9,433 6,226
(7,468) (9,894)
56,609 61,996
(37,345) 73,202
6,176 33,958
(24,048) (126,209)
1,416 (21,803)
- 4,767

492 (520)
51,823 142,497
2,653 1,599
(18,537) (20,356)
(2,755) 5,078
(2,384) 332
30,800 129,150
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
mERERER

For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE-_Z-_WNF=-ZA=+—HILFE

Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of property, plant and equipment
(Increase)/decrease in short-term bank deposits
Proceeds from disposal of property,

plant and equipment
Proceeds from assets classified as held for sale
Proceeds from disposal of financial assets

at fair value through profit or loss

Net cash outflow from investing activities

Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from bank borrowings
Repayment of bank borrowings
Proceeds from other financing
Repayment of other financing
Repayment of lease liabilities

Decrease in pledged deposits

Net cash outflow from financing activities

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at

the beginning of year
Effect of exchange rate changes on

cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of year
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2024 2023
—E-mE —E-=F
Notes HK$°000 HK$'000
hriz FAT FET
REZHZRERE
BEWNE BERFRE (36,509) (57,286)
BERTEZRCEM R (120,969) 2,663
HENE - BEREEMERE
34(a) 11,572 5,288
NEEBERNEEECMGEHNE 26 59,657 -
HEEBBREATENEZ
SREEMSHE 5,462 -
BREEH 7R RLFE (80,787) (49,335)
REZHRERE
BITEEEE ZFBHR 373,563 376,133
BEBIER (395,283) (537,358)
HiBEMEHE 2,788 28,450
BEHMHME (6,000) -
BEMAEERE (7,060) (6,048)
EEATIOND - 11,783
BEEY RS MLFE (31,992) (127,040)
REeRASERNZAY ZH (81,979) (47,225)
FNZREEBLERY
203,372 256,934
EXEHUBRERRSZRML
ye (2,583) (6,337)
FRZBEELBASERY 25 118,810 203,372
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GENERAL INFORMATION

Kin Yat Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (together the “Group”) are principally
engaged in the design, manufacture and sale of
electrical and electronic products, motors and real
estate development.

The Company is a limited liability company
incorporated in Bermuda. The address of its
registered office is 7/F., Galaxy Factory Building, 25-
27 Luk Hop Street, San Po Kong, Kowloon, Hong
Kong.

The ordinary shares of the Company are listed on the
Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited.

The Company is a subsidiary of Resplendent Global
Limited, a company incorporated in the British Virgin
Islands. The directors of the Company consider
Padora Global Inc., a company also incorporated in
the British Virgin Islands, to be the ultimate holding
company of the Company.

These financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars (“HKD”), unless otherwise stated.

KIN YAT HOLDINGS LIMITED #E#&EEAR A7

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

This note provides a list of the significant accounting
policies adopted in the preparation of these
consolidated financial statements. These policies
have been consistently applied to all the years
presented, unless otherwise stated. The financial
statements are for the Group consisting of the
Company and its subsidiaries.

Basis of preparation
(a) Compliance with HKFRS and HKCO

The consolidated financial statements of the
Group have been prepared in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRS”) and disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance Cap. 622.

(b) Historical cost convention
The consolidated financial statements have
been prepared on a historical cost basis,
except for the following:

° certain financial assets, certain classes
of property, plant and equipment
and investment properties, which are
measured at fair value or revalued
amount, and

° assets held for sale, which are measured
at the lower of carrying amount and fair
value less costs to sell.

B 75 ¥ 2= BT AE

TESTHEBE

A EREREZEFE M B RREH
RANEIBZRABRBE -BREHA
S ZEBRRAZ2BFREER
ER - BBEB/ARE (BARTR
HBARER) RH -

mEEE

(a) BIEEBMBREEARETER
A& A
AEEZREMBRERIREBER
MREEN(EFEMHREE
811) KRB EEDIF622F 1 FED
ZEBRERR

(b) ESERAE
RAMBHRRIRRE LKL
B T B IABR D -

s ETHUAFEIEMHENE
ZEMEE -FTREZY
¥ WMEERBARKED
E 3

o UBREESEAQFER D EX
AZBEEAEZRHELE
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 7% ¥R AR Y 5

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Basis of preparation (continued)

(c)

Amendments to existing standards, annual
improvements and accounting guideline
adopted by the Group

The Group has applied the following
amendments to existing standards, annual
improvements and accounting guideline for
the first time for their annual reporting period
commencing 1 April 2023:

HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts and the

related Amendments

Amendments to HKAS 1
and HKFRS Practice
Statement 2

Disclosure of Accounting
Policies

Amendments to HKAS 8  Definition of Accounting
Estimates

Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax Related to Assets
and Liabilities arising from a
Single Transaction

Amendments to HKAS 12 International Tax Reform - Pillar
Two Model Rules

The amendments to existing standards, annual
improvements and accounting guideline listed
above did not have any impact on the amounts
recognised in prior periods and are not
expected to significantly affect the current or
future periods.

KIN YAT HOLDINGS LIMITED #E#&EEAR A7

2 FESTHHEHEME®)

mEEE(E)
(c) FEERAURFER - FEIE

REFtESI 2 BT A

AEBER_ZT_=FHAF—H
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Basis of preparation (continued)

(d)

ANNUAL REPORT 2024 4 [Z ¥

New and amended standards and
interpretation not yet adopted by the
Group

The following new and amended standards and
interpretation have been published but are not
effective for the financial year beginning on or
after 1 April 2024 reporting periods and have
not been early adopted by the Group.

Amendments to HKAS 1

Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current

B 75 ¥ 2= BT AE

2 FESHBEBE )

mEEE(E)
(d) ZAEEERERNZHET REBET
EARRE

THFE] M TR R ZRED
M BEARZZZZMFMOA—
Ak aMEMBTRFEEES - B
ANEE I IR T A

Effective for
annual reporting
periods beginning
on or after
RUTREEz%
Bz et HBER

1 April 2024

and Non-current Liabilities with Covenants

BRGERE IR (BFTA)

Hong Kong Interpretation 5
(Revised)

RABESBARDIFRDEMERENFRB AR

Presentation of Financial Statements — Classification
by the Borrower of a Term Loan that Contains a

“ZE-HFEMA—H

1 April 2024

Repayment on Demand Clause

ERRBELR (KELT)

EHERNDE

Amendments to HKFRS 16

Amendments to HKAS 7 and
HKFRS 7

AACHENETREREBHG
WELERETHR (BETA)

HEmBELY

Amendments to HKAS 21
ERGHERE215 (BFTAX) RZ A AN
Amendments to HKFRS 10 and

HKAS 28
BEARMBHRELEIE105 R

B G ERE285 (BFIA) BEMENLE
The new accounting standard and other
amendments to existing standards and
interpretation are not expected to have a
material impact on the Group in the current or
future reporting periods and on foreseeable
future transactions.

PHEHRERO2 - ERABEBERBEREERID

Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback

EEMBREENFE6H (BFIA) ERMAENHEARE

Supplier Finance Arrangements

Lack of Exchangeability

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and
its Associate or Joint Venture

REFRABENT

“E-mEMA—H
1 April 2024
“T-mEMA—H
1 April 2024
“ET-mEM™MA—H
1 April 2025
ZEREMA—H
To be determined

RELEZREM T

SR ERTERI R E IR A R
MEFTAEREBBRHTEHAR
% A 2OR R RS B A Ko B] B
KORGERERNTZE -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 7% ¥R AR Y 5

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

2 FESHBEBE )

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Basis of preparation (continued)
(d) New and amended standards and

mEEE(E)
(d) ZAEEE M RERANZH 5T RAEBET

interpretation not yet adopted by the
Group (continued)

In June 2022, the Hong Kong Government
enacted the Employment and Retirement
Schemes Legislation (Offsetting Arrangement)
(Amendment) Ordinance 2022 (the
“Amendment Ordinance”) which will be
effective from 1 May 2025 (the “Transition
Date”). Under the Amendment Ordinance, any
accrued benefits attributable to the employer’s
mandatory contributions under mandatory
provident fund scheme (“MPF Benefits”) of
an entity would no longer be eligible to offset
against its obligations on long service payment
(“LSP”) for the portion of the LSP accrued on
or after the Transition Date. There is also a
change in the calculation basis of last monthly
wages for the portion of the LSP accrued
before the Transition Date.

In July 2023, the HKICPA published
“Accounting implications of the abolition of
the mandatory provident fund - long service
payment offsetting mechanism in Hong Kong”
that provides accounting guidance relating to
the offsetting mechanism and the abolition of
the mechanism. To better reflect the substance
of the abolition of the offsetting mechanism,
the Group has changed its accounting policy
in connection with its long service payment
liability and has applied the above HKICPA
guidance. This has no material impact on the
Group’s results and financial position for the
prior periods.

KIN YAT HOLDINGS LIMITED a5 E B R A A
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BEFE FAEECEXEEEE
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ALABEBSTAGIES - &Y
A& E B R RE MR

MUEBAZE -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

3.1

ANNUAL REPORT 2024 4 [Z ¥

Financial risk factors

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of
financial risks: market risk (including foreign
exchange risk, interest rate risk and price
risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group’s
overall risk management programme focuses
on the unpredictability of financial markets
and seeks to minimise potential adverse
effects on the Group’s financial performance.
Risk management is carried out by the senior
management of the Company under policies
approved by the Board of Directors of the
Company.

(@) Market risk
(i) Foreign exchange risk
The Group mainly operates in the
PRC and Hong Kong.

The functional currency of the
Hong Kong reporting entities is
HKD and the transactions are
mostly denominated in HKD and
United States dollar (“USD”").
As transactions or balances
denominated in USD are reasonably
stable with the HKD under the
Linked Exchange Rate System, the
directors are of the opinion that the
Company does not have significant
foreign exchange risk. The exposure
to fluctuation in exchange rates will
only arise from the translation to the
presentation currency of the Group.
Accordingly, no sensitivity analysis is
performed.

B 75 ¥ 2= BT AE

Mg EREE
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DR R E U

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(continued)

3.1

Financial risk factors (continued)
Market risk (continued)

(a)

(i)

Foreign exchange risk (continued)
The functional currency of the
PRC reporting entities is Renminbi
(“RMB”) and the transactions are
mostly denominated in RMB and
HKD. The conversion of RMB into
foreign currencies is subject to the
rules and regulations of the foreign
exchange control promulgated by
the PRC government.

The Group is exposed to foreign
exchange risk primarily through
financing, capital expenditure and
expenses transactions that are
denominated in a currency other
than RMB, which is the functional
currency of the major subsidiaries
of the Group. The Group manages
its exposures to foreign currency
transactions by monitoring the
level of foreign currency receipts
and payments. The Group ensures
that the net exposure to foreign
exchange risk is kept to an
acceptable level from time to time.
The Group is presently not using
any forward exchange contract to
hedge against foreign exchange
risk as management considers its
exposure is not significant.

At 31 March 2024, if HKD had
strengthened/weakened by 5%
(2023: 5%) against RMB with all
other variables held constant,
loss for the year would have been
approximately HK$25,552,000
lower/higher (2023: loss for the year
would have been approximately
HK$10,007,000 higher/lower).
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)
(@) Market risk (continued)

(i)

ANNUAL REPORT 2024 4 [Z ¥

Interest rate risk

The Group’s main interest rate risk
arises from borrowings with variable
rates, which expose the Group to
cash flow interest rate risk. The
Group’s borrowings and receivables
are carried at amortised cost.

The Group monitors closely
its interest rate exposure by
maintaining an appropriate floating
rate borrowings and considers
hedging significant interest rate
exposure should the need arise.
The position is regularly monitored
and evaluated by reference of
anticipated changes in market
interest rate.

At 31 March 2024, if interest rates
on bank and other borrowings
had been 50 basis points (2023:
50 basis points) higher/lower with
all other variables held constant,
loss for the year would have been
approximately HK$1,801,000
higher/lower (2023: loss for the year
would have been approximately
HK$2,201,000 higher/lower) mainly
as a result of higher/lower interest
expense on floating rate borrowings.

KIN YAT HOLDINGS LIMITED
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DR R E U

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(continued)

3.1

Financial risk factors (continued)
(@) Market risk (continued)

(i)

Price risk

The Group’s exposure to price
risk arises from investments held
by the Group and classified in the
consolidated statement of financial
position as fair value through profit
or loss (Note 24).

Loss for the year would decrease/
increase by approximately
HK$181,000 (2023: Loss for the
year would decrease/increase by
approximately HK$1,433,000) as a
result of 10% (2023: 10%) change in
price on equity securities classified
as at fair value through profit or
loss.

(b) Credit risk

(i)

Risk management

Credit risk arises if a customer or
other counterparty fails to meet its
contractual obligations. The credit
risk of the Group mainly arises from
trade and other receivables and
deposits with banks and financial
institutions.

The Group has policies that limit the
amount of credit exposure to any
financial institutions. Substantially
all the deposits in banks are held
in reputable financial institutions
located in Hong Kong and the PRC,
which management believes are of
high credit quality and management
does not expect any losses arising
from non-performance by these
counterparties.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)
(b) Credit risk (continued)

(i)

(i)

ANNUAL REPORT 2024 4 /&

Risk management (continued)

The Group also has policies in place
to ensure that sales of products
are made to customers with an
appropriate credit history. Sales to
large or long-established customers
with good payment history comprise
a significant proportion of the
total sales. The Group’s historical
experience in collection of trade and
other receivables falls within the
recorded allowances.

The Group has concentration
of credit risk as the top five
trade debtors accounted for
approximately 62% of its total
trade debts balance as at 31
March 2024 (2023: 56%). In view
of this, management of the Group
regularly assesses by monitoring the
individual profile of these accounts
receivable. The Group also uses
non-recourse accounts receivable
factoring arrangement with bank to
cover the credit risk. In this regard,
management of the Group considers
that the credit concentration risk
has been significantly mitigated.

Impairment of accounts receivable
The accounts receivable of the
Group is subject to the expected
credit loss model. The Group
applies the HKFRS 9 simplified
approach to measure expected
credit losses which uses a lifetime
expected loss allowance for all
accounts receivable.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DR R E U

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(continued)

3.1

Financial risk factors (continued)
Credit risk (continued)

(b)

(i)

Impairment of accounts receivable
(continued)

To measure expected credit
losses, the Group categorises its
accounts receivable based on the
customer profiles, shared credit risk
characteristics and the days past
due.

The expected loss rates are based
on the aging profiles of accounts
receivable over a period of 24
months (2023: 12 months) before
31 March 2024 or 31 March 2023
respectively and the corresponding
historical credit losses experienced
within this period. The historical loss
rates are adjusted to reflect current
and forward-looking information on
macroeconomic factors, affecting
the ability of the customers to settle
the receivables.

The Group has identified the Gross
Domestic Product index of the
countries where customers mainly
operate to be the most relevant
factors, and accordingly adjust
the historical loss rate based on
expected changes in these factors.
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)
(b) Credit risk (continued)

(i)

ANNUAL REPORT 2024 4 [Z ¥

Impairment of accounts receivable
(continued)

Impairment losses on accounts
receivable are presented as net
impairment losses within operating
profit. Subsequent recoveries of
amounts previously written off are
credited against the same line item.

The Group identifies two categories
of its accounts receivable which
reflect their credit risk as follows:

Measurement of expected credit
loss on individual basis

For accounts receivable relating
to customers which are affiliated
companies of listed entities with
satisfactory credit history or do not
have continuing business with the
Group, are assessed individually
for impairment allowance. As at 31
March 2024, the balances of such
individually assessed accounts
receivable and the corresponding
loss allowance are HK$48,065,000
(2023: HK$50,309,000) and
HK$62,000 (2023: HK$28,000),
respectively.

Measurement of expected credit
loss on collective basis

Other than accounts receivable
which were assessed on individual
basis, trade receivables have been
grouped based on shared similar
credit risk characteristics and the
days past due.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 75 ¥ 2= BT AE

3 BXEARBRER#)

31 H¥RKBEZ(EZ)
(b) EERK (&)

(i)

KIN YAT HOLDINGS LIMITED #E#&%EABR A a]

R 38 18 (4R)

JE W AR SRR R E B R
R 2 RRE
EIEHRR - AR UEILA
EMHEN SR AR—
A -

AEEDETEMBERK
B TXRBREEE
[ Bz

B B RAERER

EBRIFEEREZLE
MERBNBEBARRER
SREANEE W EIGESE
BERNEFBBENE
IR BR SR B BB SR A B
BEE - R F
=A=+—8 %%
BT 2 FEUBR A &4
R ARE B EEE D R
/548,065,000 7T (—
L~ =4 : 50,309,000
B Jt) K62,000/8 IT

— T~ =4 :28,000
ABIT) o

R ERYEEER

B BB AT i 2 FE W AR K
S BB RIERRER
EHEOELUEERR
FERBHRES A -

103



104

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DR R E U

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 3

(continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(b) Credit risk (continued)

(i)

Impairment of accounts receivable

(continued)

Measurement of expected credit

loss on collective basis (continued)

The loss allowance as at 31 March
2024 was determined as follows for

accounts receivable:

At 31 March 2024

Assets
Gross carrying amount
Loss allowance

Expected loss rate

At 31 March 2023

Assets
Gross carrying amount
Loss allowance

Expected loss rate

MEERRER &)

3.1

MEEREE(E)
(b) FERE (&)

(i) FEM AR 1E ()
EREREEEE
(%)
R-_ZE-_MF=A
=+ —AZEKRERTE
BREBETET :
130  31-60  61-90
days days days Over
Current pastdue pastdue pastdue 90 days Total
AHZE BENE BH61E  BHooR
I 30R 60A 90A ME @it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000
FET FELT  FELT  TFET  TET TET
RZB-MmE
ZA=t+-H
EE
%%EE@TE 135189 43,690 894 1,046 10,127 190,946
B (1,629)  (2408) (172  (739)  (7,556) (12,502)
133,560 41,284 722 307 2571 178,444
BHBEX 12%  55%  192%  70.7%  746%  6.5%
S
ZA=1-H
BE
BREE 126878 26,702 8858 692 6,134 169,264
BiERE (2,818  (1,377) (624) (394)  (3590)  (8,809)
124,060 25,325 8,234 298 2,544 160,461
BHEEX 2.2% 5.2% 70%  56.9%  58.5% 5.2%

KIN YAT HOLDINGS LIMITED a5 E B R A A
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)
Credit risk (continued)

(b)

(c)

ANNUAL REPORT 2024 4 [Z ¥

(i)

Other financial assets at amortised
cost

Other financial assets at amortised
cost include deposits and other
receivables. Management considers
that the credit risk for certain
balances has increased since
initial recognition with reference
to the counterparty historical
default rate and current financial
position. The Group applies the
HKFRS 9 general approach to
measure either 12-month or
lifetime expected credit losses
for these other financial assets
based on the historical settlement
pattern and financial position of
these other financial assets and
the forward-looking recoverability
analysis of the counterparties.
As at 31 March 2024, the
corresponding loss allowance is
approximately HK$6,748,000 (2023:
HK$3,200,000).

While cash and cash equivalents,
time deposits, restricted bank
deposits and bills receivable are
also subject to the impairment
requirements of HKFRS 9, the
identified impairment loss was
immaterial.

Liquidity risk
Prudent liquidity risk management,
implies maintaining sufficient cash and

the availability of funding through an

adequate amount of banking facilities.

The Group aims to maintain flexibility in
funding by keeping credit lines available

at all time.

B 75 ¥ 2= BT AE

3 BXEARBRER#)

31 H¥RKBEZ(EZ)

(b)

(c)

KIN YAT HOLDINGS LIMITED #E#&%EABR A a]

FERR (&)

(ii)  EEEHHAGTEZEM
THEE
I AT EZE A

TREEREFREHE
MU FRIE - EEERZ
SEHFHNBTEOER
BRI BN - BIRfE
REETHENEER
% B VIR MR AR B4
- AEBBREZE
EtemEE BELE
FE R BT AR
RS HF R BT ERTUL
E5HT - EABEBIME
WEERFSHEZ — K
FRFEZEEMS
mEENI2MEA K2
HTEHEEEE - K=
E-_NME=/A=+—
A BEBERENR
6,748,000 T (=&
— =4 : 3,200,000/
TT) °

HAREMNASER
Y EHER - XREI
RITF AR SRR IR TR
AERBBU B RELE
A5 Z BB E -
HEE BRI 2 RERBEL
REK-

RBESEB
EHNRBESARERE
KgBRRZES  EBR
R 2 B ITR ARG B
B ARBEEEBARS
R MEEREARERE
SEEE -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DR R E U

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(continued)

3.1

Financial risk factors (continued)

(c)

Liquidity risk (continued)

Management monitors rolling forecasts of
the Group’s liquidity reserve on the basis
of expected cash flows. The Group’s
policy is to regularly monitor current and
expected liquidity requirements and its
compliance with lending covenants, to
ensure that it maintains sufficient reserves
of cash and adequate committed lines of
funding from major financial institutions to
meet its liquidity requirements in the short
and long term.

Hong Kong Interpretation 5 requires a term
loan that contains a clause that gives the
lender the unconditional right to call the
loan at any time shall be classified in total
by the borrower as current in the statement
of financial position. This is irrespective
of whether a default event has occurred
and notwithstanding any other terms and
maturity stated in the loan agreement. As
at 31 March 2024, no borrowings (2023:
HK$28,394,000) was classified as current
liabilities due to this requirement.

At the reporting date, the Group
held cash and cash equivalents of
approximately HK$118,810,000 (2023:
HK$203,372,000) (Note 25) and accounts
and bills receivable of approximately
HK$242,079,000 (2023: HK$210,742,000)
(Note 22) that are expected to generate
cash inflows for managing liquidity risk. In
addition, the Group held time deposits and
financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss of approximately HK$129,990,000
(2023: HK$10,006,000) (Note 25) and
HK$15,259,000 (2023: HK$27,408,000)
(Note 24) respectively, which could be
realised to provide a further source of cash
if needed.

KIN YAT HOLDINGS LIMITED a5 E B R A A

3

BERRERE &)

3.1

B mEEE)

(c)

REBEERME(F)

EEEREBHRSRE
ERAKERPETHEN
RIFTER - AEEZBRR
EHREREMRERRDE
EHERMEBTERZOB
o RMERASEERF
REeRHEBAREXZHB
WEAKRRHENES K
ENEEHERMZAEHE

BERBESRRTE  WEE
HERBE RIEX  BTE
TR AR R R] R AR B
RIEEER - BIERAZERE
BARARAGZERZ BER
BRERIH  MAmASHELE
BREM  ARER RS
ZEMIGREEHE - R=F
“HE=ZA=+—H  LEE
F(ZZEZ =4 : 28,394,000
7B7T) R TR E M D 85
mBRE-

RHEEBH A%@F
ERSRBESERDY
118,810,000 T (ZE ==
£ 1 203,372,000 7T) (Fft
F25) LA EEBR A R E
#)242,079,0008 T (=&
— =4 210,742,000/ 7T)
(MfsF22) - FEH A ELER
ERANEEREE S E
BN REBEFHBE
BEZEAFEIEREZE
HEFREEGMEED L
129,990,000 L (ZE ==
4 110,006,000 7T) (M 5
25) }15,259,0005 7 (=&
— =% 27,408,000/ 7T)
(FizE24) - IR BB ERE
WAREREINR S
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DR EE U

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

3

BERRERE &)

31 H¥RKBEZ(EZ)

(c) Liquidity risk (continued) (c) REBELEMKE)
The table below analyses the Group’s TEREIAEE SR A ER
financial liabilities into relevant maturity ERIREHRES 4T HH
groupings based on the remaining period Z BT BRfE R A B 2 H 48 R
at the end of the reporting period to the A TREBZEHEAR
contractual maturity date. The amounts BHRTBHEESRE o
disclosed in the table are the contractual
undiscounted cash flows.
On demand or One to Two to
within one year two years five years Total
REXS—ER -EEWE WEEEE @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
fEn FErn FEx FEn
2024 i 113
Accounts and bills payable ~ ERNEREFRZE 184,059 - - 184,059
Financial liabilities included ~ 5F A K B FUE &
in other payables, accrued ~ JEEEEY
liabilities cRAR 70,329 - - 70,329
Bank borrowings RITEE 384,059 - - 384,059
Lease liabilities MERRE 7,622 4,373 843 12,838
646,069 4,373 843 651,285
2023 “BCCE
Accounts and bills payable ~ ERNEREFRZEE 202,402 - - 202,402
Financial liabilities included  5F A K B ZUE &
in other payables, accrued ~ JEEEEZ
liabilities cHEE 54,256 4,986 18,703 77,945
Bank borrowings RITEE 283,434 90,978 - 374,412
Lease liabilities BERE 5,964 3,790 2,951 12,705
546,056 99,754 21,654 667,464

ANNUAL REPORT 2024 4 [Z ¥ KIN YAT HOLDINGS LIMITED #E#&%EABR A a]
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DR R E U

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(continued)

3.1

Financial risk factors (continued)

(c)

Liquidity risk (continued)

As at 31 March 2024, there are no bank
borrowings subjected to repayment on
demand.

The following table summarises the
maturity analysis of bank borrowings
subject to repayment on demand based
on agreed scheduled repayments set
out in the loan agreements as at 31
March 2023. The amount includes
interest payments computed using
contractual rates. Taking into account
the Group’s net assets, the directors
do not consider that it is probable that
the bank will exercise its discretion to
immediate repayment. The directors
believe that such borrowings will be
repaid in accordance with the scheduled
repayment dates set out in the loan
agreements.

3

BERRERE &)
34 HERBREZEZ)
(c) FBELRMR (&)

E/\\ —ZF -0 i =g= +_
H MERTEERKREX

B -

TRBAR T _=F=A
=t- HZ\TEQIE}&ZE\E
THEENIEMIN - HRIE
B R 150 8 P R 2 195 RE AR SRR

RHE - ZTEBREASOF
RABZRENK - BERE
AAREENEERE EF
RBBITITEERBER R
VENERNEEIK -EF

BE REBEREKRBRER
W P& A TR E B K B B (E

&Z o

Maturity analysis - bank borrowings subject to repayment on demand
clause based on their original scheduled repayments

RN -HEEERRERTLBRTHE RERCERAARR

Within One to Two to Carrying

one year two years five years Total amount

-£R -FEWE MERLE ) REE

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$°000

FEr FEr TH7x Tirx FEr

2023 “E-=F 31,906 31,426 - 63,332 58,683

KIN YAT HOLDINGS LIMITED

BasEARAR
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(continued)

3.2 Capital management

The Group’s objectives when managing capital
are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue
as a going concern in order to provide returns
for shareholders and to maintain an optimal
capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.

The Group manages the capital structure and
makes adjustments to it in the light of changes
in economic condition. In order to maintain
or adjust the capital structure, the Group
may adjust the amount of dividends paid to
shareholders, obtain bank borrowings, or issue
new shares.

The Group monitors capital on the basis of the
gearing ratio. This ratio is calculated as total
bank borrowings divided by total equity.

B 75 ¥ 2= BT AE

3 B¥EARER#)

3.2

ExEE
AEBZEAEERBREERE
AEEZFHELERN BRI
HEOR - ARERFHENENER
PURAE & AR -

AEEEREANGER  URELH
RN EBEH AR - RN
BREXGRE AKEBReFABRCH
BRZBE 2 - BEURTTRRHK
BITH

AEBFAEARELFERE
A o B EARITIE W RERIAR
R E -

Total bank borrowings
Total equity

Gearing ratio
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KIN YAT HOLDINGS LIMITED

2024 2023
—ENF —ETE-=F
HK$°000 HK$’000
FE T FET
369,146 351,265
855,589 1,104,685
43% 32%

HaREERAR
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 7% ¥R AR Y 5

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 3 MERER®
(continued)
3.3 Fair value estimation 3.3 AFEMLE

The table below analyses the Group’s financial TRIZAE ’“?Tﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁfﬁﬁiiﬁ

instruments carried at fair value as at 31 March YENEBREAERR - =

2024 and 2023 by level of inputs to valuation FEN_E-_=F=ZF=+—H Z

techniques used to measure fair value. Such EATFTEAENSRTAEETS

inputs are categorised into three levels within a e ZEWABBEATFERERF
fair value hierarchy as follows: DEZE BHEWET

e quoted prices (unadjusted) in active e HAEREEXBGERERM
markets for identical assets or liabilities B2 ME (RERAR) (F—
(level 1); &)

e inputs other than quoted prices included e HMEESKBEVERER (K
within level 1 that are observable for the B1%) sk E# (BB AT
asset or liability, either directly (that is, as B)EREME 2@ ASE (1
prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from MmN E— i&WZ*ﬁf % 51)
prices) (level 2); and (=) :

e inputs for the asset or liability that are not o EENBBVWIHFKEFAEE
based on observable market data (that is, IS8T 2 8 A8E (BT
unobservable inputs) (level 3). AR ASE) (E=E) -

The following table presents the Group’s TERIN - E-NER T —=

financial assets that are at fair value at 31 FZAZ+—HAEBEURFE

March 2024 and 2023. TECZEREE -

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
E-E $-E F=E @i
HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FEn FEn FEz FEn

At 31 March 2024 RZB-mE=A=1-H

Assets BE

Financial assets at fair value ZEBERHE A TEIIE

through profit or loss LEREE 1,812 - 13,447 15,259

At 31 March 2023 RZE-=F=ZA=1—H

Assets BE

Financial assets at fair value #BIEHEATEIE

through profit or loss LEREE 85 14,244 13,079 27,408

KIN YAT HOLDINGS LIMITED a5 E B R A A
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DR EE U

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 3 MEERERE®
(continued)
3.3 Fair value estimation (continued) 3.3 DFEME(E)

ANNUAL REPORT 2024 4 [Z ¥

There were no transfers between level 1, 2 and
3 and no other changes in valuation techniques
during the year.

Financial instruments in level 1

The fair value of financial instruments traded
in active markets is based on quoted market
prices at the statement of financial position
date. A market is regarded as active if quoted
prices are readily and regularly available
from an exchange, dealer, broker, industry
group or regulatory agency, and those prices
represent actual and regularly occurring market
transactions on an arm’s length basis.

Financial instruments in level 2

The fair value of financial instruments that are
not traded in an active market (for example,
over-the-counter derivatives) is determined
using valuation technigues which maximise
the use of observable market data and rely as
little as possible on entity-specific estimates.
If all significant inputs required to fair value an
instrument are observable, the instrument is
included in level 2.

Financial instruments in level 3

If one or more of the significant inputs is
not based on observable market data, the
instrument is included in level 3. This is the
case for key management insurance.

The fair value of insurance policy investments
that is not traded in an active market is
determined based on the cash surrender
value. The significant unobservable inputs
that determine the fair value is cash surrender
value, which is contractually agreed upon
entering into the insurance contract.

FR-F-B F_EBRF=EZ
B EER - (HETENEEE
@J o

F-EBzE®MIA
EEBMBEEZSRMIAZA
FERBEMBIRARABMZTE
BEAE - BARHNEHUES
R KR KRR FAAL
HEEERENGRE  MEBR
BREEAFRZELETZE
REBERDERZE  ZHHHE
RIREM o

F_Brze®mIA
TIEREFBRMBEENSMITA
WAFE BB INTETE) F
REERNETE - S HERITE
EFNATERMSEEE  Z2R)
KBERETH - MTAQFEE
T m 23 E N AEE AR 8
ROZIBIAEZE-

EZEZEWMIA

W—IANKZIAE N R ABIEL I
RBABEMSHE - AZTAS
AFEZE - T2EEERBRER I

B e

WIRERMGEECRERE
MAFEDRERFRACEERE
T BEATFENEATNTEEH
ABESERRREEE - R
R EREHE -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B %% 2 MY =

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 3 HMBEEBRERE®
(continued)
3.3 Fair value estimation (continued) 3.3 DFEME(E)
Financial instruments in level 3 (continued) E=EBzE&BMIA(E)
The following table presents the changes in TRE2VWWE=Z"ETLERHEZ_Z
level 3 instruments for the years ended 31 TERE_=F=ZA=+—
March 2024 and 2023. ALFEZ#E -
2024 2023
—E-MEF —E=F
HK$°000 HK$’000
FET FHET
At 1 April RMUA—H 13,079 12,684
Fair value gain recognised to RERBER
profit or loss NEE W= 368 395
At 31 March R=ZA=+—8H 13,447 13,079
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING
ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS

Estimates and assumptions are continually evaluated
and are based on historical experience and other
factors, including expectations of future events
that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances.

4.1 Critical accounting estimates and

assumptions

The Group makes estimates and assumptions
concerning the future. The resulting accounting
estimates will, by definition seldom equal to
the related actual results. The estimates and
assumptions that have a significant risk of
causing a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next
financial year are discussed below.

(@) Fair value of freehold land and
buildings and investment properties
The Group carries its freehold land and
buildings, and investment properties
at fair value with changes in the fair
value recognised in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income
and consolidated income statement,
respectively. It obtains independent
valuations at least annually. At the end of
each reporting period, the management
updates their assessment of the fair value
of each property, taking into account
the most recent independent valuations.
Refer to Notes 15 and 16 for the
assumptions, valuation technigques and
fair value measurement.

B 75 ¥ 2= BT AE

4 ERGEHEERHE

et KA & W AR - LB EL
BRLREMEREZ (BENEBBERTHEE
RABZREEM 2R MIEH -

4.1

EXREREFRER

REBF A% ERED BT ANE
® o ARE RS AR MEDH
ERERERET - BHERRE
SIARTETRFTFEHEER
EEMNREDABEEENAZRNMG
RRFEFWT o

(@) KAEELIHREFURE
EMEZAFE
AEBED NG E2ERE
ZEEERERIERATER
RKAERELT W RETFI
LEEMERANTFTEEZS -
AEBELEBFREE L
BE-REREHKR BHE
BHEEHEMELTFEZ
Al EHRET RBRIHNE
VihE- BEBE - HER
TTT&Q${5ﬁ+E =]
1516 °

ANNUAL REPORT 2024 4 [Z ¥ KIN YAT HOLDINGS LIMITED #E#&%EABR A a]

113



114

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 7% ¥R AR Y 5

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING

ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS

(continued)

4.1

Critical accounting estimates and
assumptions (continued)

(b)

(c)

Provision for inventories

The Group’s management reviews the
inventory aging analysis periodically and
makes allowance for obsolete and slow-
moving inventory items identified that
are no longer suitable for sales. The
Group carries out an inventory review
on a product-by-product basis at the
end of each reporting period and makes
allowance for obsolete and slow-moving
items through management’s estimation
of the net realisable value for such
obsolete and slow-moving items based
primarily on the latest invoice prices and
current market conditions.

Provision for impairment of financial
assets

The impairment for financial assets is
based on assumptions about risk of
default and expected loss rates. The
Company uses judgement in making
these assumptions and selecting the
inputs to the impairment calculation,
based on the Group’s past history,
existing market conditions as well as
forward-looking estimates at the end
of each reporting period, including the
consideration of the global health issues.
Details of the key assumptions and inputs
used and the impact of changes to these
assumptions are disclosed in Note 3.1(b).

KIN YAT HOLDINGS LIMITED #E#&EEAR A7

4

BEAREEE R HE =)

4.1

BREREFREBR(E)

(b)

(c)

FERE

AEBEZEEBTERENT
EZRESN  LRERR
THEAHEE ZBE &TIH
FEEBFEHEE - NER
TR ARBREBEER
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BXEREROERERR
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HEZ AR FEMGT R
B b SR B (F B o
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WEREEHERXNR
R ARABMEHZEFRR
FOERBREENBABE
B ITEHIE - B EREBEARE
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DR EE U

4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING
ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS

(continued)

4 EBEAREFHFTRHAE 2

EREFHAEFTRER(E)

4.1 Critical accounting estimates and 41

assumptions (continued)

(d)

ANNUAL REPORT 2024 4 [Z ¥

Impairment of goodwill, property,
plant and equipment and right-of-use
assets

Assets are tested for impairment in
accordance with the accounting policy
disclosed in Note 18. The recoverable
amounts of non-financial assets have
been determined based on the higher
of value-in-use calculations or fair value
less costs of disposal. These calculations
require the use of judgements and
estimates. Management judgement is
required in the area of asset impairment,
including the consideration of the
expected market conditions, in assessing:
() whether an event has occurred that
may indicate that the related asset values

(d)

BE -NX BMERKREMN
REREEENRE

EERBHTISPHREZ
SEBCRAETTRER A - 3F
EMEENARE SRR
BEAEBEAEXARFER
HEKRAKME ZBRSE
METE - ZFFEFETE
HE R AEET - REERET
o EIRERE LA
BREBEMTIZMAR - A
AHE () BABERERR
HEAEEEEEEEKE
E’J$1¢ (i) EERREERE

BRI K E R SHF
TH&Z@%%EEH’AIHE/W&%

. AN ELR RN SR ERFIE
may not be recoverable; (ii) whether (B (AR 18 WA 2 75 o 4 48 {5 F
the carrying value of an asset can be EEMETHE) MEY

supported by the recoverable amount,
being the higher of fair value less costs of
disposal and net present value of future
cash flows which are estimated based
upon the continued use of the asset in
the business; and (iii) the appropriate
key assumptions to be applied in
preparing cash flow projections including
whether these cash flow projections are
discounted using an appropriate rate.
Changing the assumptions selected by
management in assessing impairment,
including the discount rates or the
growth rate assumptions in the cash
flow projections, could materially affect
the net present value used in the
impairment test and as a result affect the
Group’s financial condition and results of
operations.

KIN YAT HOLDINGS LIMITED  #% 5%
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 7% ¥R AR Y 5

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING

ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS

(continued)

4.1

Critical accounting estimates and
assumptions (continued)

(e)

Impairment of properties under
development and completed
properties held for sale

The Group assesses the carrying
amounts of properties under development
and completed properties held for sale
according to their net realisable values
based on the realisability of these
properties and consideration of the
potential impact on selling price resulting
from the current economic situation.
Net realisable value for properties under
development is determined by reference
to management’s estimates of the
selling price based on prevailing market
conditions, less applicable variable
selling expenses and the anticipated
costs to completion. Net realisable
value for completed properties held
for sale is determined by reference
to management’s estimates of the
selling price based on prevailing market
conditions, less applicable variable selling
expenses. Based on management’s
best estimates, there were impairment
of HK$17,117,000 and HK$9,365,000
respectively for properties under
development and completed properties
held for sale as at date of statement of
financial position.

KIN YAT HOLDINGS LIMITED #E#&EEAR A7
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BREREFREBR(E)
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FE(ERZEMEZNE
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DR EE U

4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING 4 EXSFHEFTRHE 2
ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS
(continued)

4.1 Critical accounting estimates and
assumptions (continued)

(f)

ANNUAL REPORT 2024 4 [Z ¥

Current and deferred income tax

The Group is subject to taxes in Hong
Kong and the PRC. Significant judgement
is required in determining the provision
for various kinds of taxes. There are
many transactions and calculations for
which the ultimate tax determination is
uncertain. The Group recognises liabilities
for anticipated tax audit issues based
on estimates of whether additional taxes
will be due. Where the final tax outcome
of these matters is different from the
amounts that were initially recorded, such
differences will impact the consolidated
income statement in the period in which
such determination is made.

Deferred tax assets relating to certain
temporary differences and tax losses are
recognised when management considers
it is probable that future taxable profit will
be available against which the temporary
differences or tax losses can be utilised.
Where the expectation is different from
the original estimates, such difference
will impact the recognition of deferred tax
assets and income tax in the period in
which such estimates are changed.

KIN YAT HOLDINGS LIMITED

41 BEXREREFRBR(E)

f)
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BB ERERICHESED
[l -t FEZEGFEELU
FETHEZGARER

EERERRVBRAERE
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SEGMENT INFORMATION

Chief operating decision maker (“CODM”) has been
identified as the Board of Directors of the Company
(the “Directors”). CODM reviews the Group’s internal
reports in order to assess performance, allocate
resources and determine the operating segments.

For management purposes, the Group is organised
into business units based on their products and
services and has three reportable operating
segments as follows:

(@) the electrical and electronic products
segment consists of the manufacture and
sale of robotics, juvenile products, baby care
products, 0T, smart home products and
healthcare products;

(b) the motors segment consists of the
development, design, manufacture and sale of
electric motor drives and related products; and

(c) the real estate development segment.

Management monitors the operating results of the
Group’s business units separately for the purpose
of making decisions about resources allocation and
performance assessment. Segment performance is
evaluated based on operating profit or loss which in
certain respects, as explained in the table below, is
measured differently from operating profit or loss in
the consolidated financial statements.

Group financing (including finance costs and finance
income) and income taxes are managed on a group
basis and are not allocated to operating segments.

Intersegment sales and transfers are transacted with
reference to the selling prices used for sales made to
the third parties at the then prevailing market prices.

Segment assets exclude unallocated assets as these
assets are managed on a group basis.

Segment liabilities exclude unallocated liabilities as
these liabilities are managed on a group basis.

KIN YAT HOLDINGS LIMITED a5 E B R A A
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

5 SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

(a) Operating segments

The following tables present revenue, results
and certain asset, liability and expenditure
information for the Group’s operating segments
for the years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023.

31 March 2024

Segment revenue
Revenue from external customers
Timing of revenue recognition

- At a point of time
Inter-segment sales

Total

Cost of sales - Impairment of
property, plant and equipment

Cost of sales - Impairment of
properties under development and
completed properties held for sale

Other income and gains, net

Segment results

Unallocated losses, net
Unallocated expenses
Finance costs, net

Loss before income tax
Income tax expense

Loss for the year

ANNUAL REPORT 2024 4 [Z ¥

BEL 6
REHREPRME
EAUEER

- ERABEE

PRENBHE

@&t

HERE-M%
i R ERE

HERE-FERANE
REHHEZST
nERE

ERRARKE 5

SELE

*OWEE 58

KHRBR

HBER FE

BAERAER
FEBA

FERR

B 75 ¥ 2= BT AE

5 SEERM®
(@ EBoE
TREVNAEERBZE _ZT_IM
FR-ZE-=F=ZA=+—HLt
FE - EBoEs NG FERE
TEE BERIXLER -
—E-_mME=ZA=+—H
Electrical and
electronic Real estate
products Motors development Others C dated
BHER
EFEM BR EHERR Hito e #E
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000
FET FET FET FET FET FET
438,556 660,150 5,238 - - 1,103,944
22,766 2,889 - - (25,655) -
461,322 663,039 5,238 - (25,655) 1,103,944
(11,149) (141,490) - - - (152,639)
- - (26,482) o Q (26,482)
75,501 5,388 (1,566) - (7,806) 71,517
51,451 (163,095) (39,746) (990) - (152,380)
(7,043)
(15,264)
(15,884)
(190,571)
(21,561)
(212,132)

KIN YAT HOLDINGS LIMITED
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DR R E U

5 SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 5 S2EER®
(a) Operating segments (continued) (a) E¥oE(E)
31 March 2024 (continued) —E-_NE=A=+—A(#&)
Electrical and
electronic Real estate
products Motors development Others Elimination Consolidated
BER
ETER £ ] ERHERE 2t e #E
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FAET FET FET
Segment assets PEEE 865,410 669,234 483,495 70,705 (511,076) 1,577,768
Unallocated assets AAREAE 246,570
Total assets aEE 1,824,338
Segment liabilities PHEBRE 199,863 201,774 612,393 282,003 (511,076) 784,957
Unallocated liabilities AARERE 183,792
Total liabilities apfE 968,749
Other segment information: HinpEEs:
Capital expenditure BAY 6,171 26,515 9 - - 32,695
Depreciation e 43,621 64,573 27 1,217 - 109,438
Impairment of intangible assets ayEERE - 4,650 = = = 4,650
(Gain)/loss on disposal of HEME
property, plant and equipment BERZEZ
(k&) /BR (61,696) 146 - - - (61,550)
Deficit on revaluation of land and HENERRER
buildings recognised directly in THREFZ
equity EfBA 6,435 5,208 - 1,359 - 13,002
Fair value loss on RENEL
investment properties ATEEE - - 9,372 - = 9,372
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

5 SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

(@) Operating segments (continued)

31 March 2023

Segment revenue
Revenue from external customers
Timing of revenue recognition

- At a point of time
Inter-segment sales

Total

Cost of sales - Impairment of
property, plant and equipment

Cost of sales - Impairment of
properties under development and
completed properties held for sale

Other income and gains, net

Segment results

Unallocated gain, net
Unallocated expenses
Finance costs, net

Loss before income tax
Income tax credit

Loss for the year

ANNUAL REPORT 2024 4 [Z ¥

Bl
REHREFPRME
EAREER

- ERABEE
DREMMHE

HERE-M%
FERRERE

BERA-FRTNE
REELEZRT
MERE

B AR R B

NRER

RORWE  FE
RAEHX
HHER - FE

BRATEBAE R
FEHEL

FERR

B 7% ¥R 2R Y 5

aNy P BN =
5 SEERM®
(@) ¥EBoE(E)
—E-=F=ZA=+—H
Electrical and

electronic Real estate
products Motors development Others Elimination Consolidated
EFEM B FHEER Hit i g5a
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FET FET FET FET FET
459,846 745,516 4,240 - - 1,209,602
19,507 1,346 - - (20,853) -
479,353 746,862 4,240 - (20,853) 1,209,602
(14,076) (36,714) - - - (50,790)
- - (240,078) - - (240,078)
35,302 10,839 (9,906) 1 - 36,236
(15,211) 322 (257,521) (1,053) - (273,463)
343
(12,940)
(11,663)
(297,723)
3,654
(294,169)
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Operating segments (continued)

31 March 2023 (continued)

Segment assets
Unallocated assets

Total assets

Segment liabilities
Unallocated liabilities

Total liabilities

Other segment information:

Capital expenditure

Depreciation

Impairment of intangible assets

(Gain)/loss on disposal of
property, plant and equipment

Deficit on revaluation of land and
buildings recognised directly in
equity

Fair value loss on
investment properties

NREE
ANEBE

BEE

£ AN -

BAXM

&

BVEERE

HEME-
R R
(W) /1R

EENESER
TuREFz
BHEA

EEMEZ
ATEER

5 SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B %% 2 MY =

/'\ 3 3 M =
5 S2¥EERm®
(@) ¥EBoE(E)
ZEZ=F=R=+—R(#)
Electrical and

electronic Real estate
products Motors development Others Elimination Consolidated

BHEK EHE
EFEM ke TR Hith 5 e
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET FET FET
947,602 856,385 495,943 73,743 (525,653) 1,848,020
248,193
2,096,213
173,263 240,255 631,196 282,597 (525,653) 801,658
189,870
991,528
19,523 101,749 3,904 - - 125,176
56,736 67,956 119 1,367 - 126,178
6,207 - - - - 6,207
(1) 624 - - - 613
19,331 21,629 - 2,567 - 43,527
- - 9,906 - - 9,906

KIN YAT HOLDINGS LIMITED a5 E B R A A
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

5 SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

(b)

(c)

ANNUAL REPORT 2024 4 [Z ¥

B 75 ¥ 2= BT AE

5 oEER®)

Geographical information (b) HIEE R
United States of America Europe Asia Consolidated
EL: B [l E
2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023
CECME -TC-fF ZECME -T--F CBIME “To-F ZECME —TocF
HK$000  HK$'000  HK$000  HK$'000  HK$000  HK$'000  HK$000  HK$'000
TEr FET FET FET - FET FET FET
Segment revenue: 28N
Revenue from external customers RENFEPEMG 280,114 260,571 68,628 132,082 755202 816949 1,103,944 1,209,602
The revenue information above is based on the Fi R ER TIRIEEFEER
locations of the customers. gl o
Hong Kong Mainland China Malaysia Consolidated
5B FERH BERAE #a
2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023
ZECME CSC-F ZBCWE CZC-F ZBCME CT--E ZBCME CR-oCF
HK$000  HK$'000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$'000  HK$000  HK$'000  HK$'000
TET FET FET FET TET FET TET FET
Other segment information: Hit 2 EEH .
Non-current assets FRBEE 4,718 5993 656,867 955129 57508 36344 719,183 997,466

The non-current assets for the above segment
information consist of property, plant and
equipment, investment properties, right-of-
use assets, properties under development,
intangible assets and prepayments, deposits
and other receivables, but exclude deferred tax
assets.

Information about major customers
Revenue of HK$148,474,000 (2023:
HK$206,122,000) was derived from sales
of electrical and electronic products (2023:
derived from sales of motor products) to a
major customer, which accounted for 13%
(2028: 17%) of the Group’s total revenue.

(c)

LRDBEEMZIERDEERR
ME - BERRE REME £
REEE  BRTYE  BVEE
ARFENFOR  #2E N E Al UK
BETBRREENBEEE -

FEETEEFZER

I 25148,474,0008 L (Z T ==
£ 1 206,122,000/ 7t) J5 R & [A)
—REERFHEERRETE
m(ZE-_=F: FEHEEHE
W) REPEAEBE KRG EE
183% (ZE-=4% :17%) °
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DR R E U

5 SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 5
(d) Contract liabilities

The Group has recognised the following

liabilities:

Contract liabilities related to FHEEERZ
sales of goods (Note i) EBHaE(Wati)

Contract liabilities related to BHHEEMEL
sales of properties (Note ii) BHEaE W)

Receipt in advance (Note iij) T8 U TR IB (K #Fiii)

Notes:

(e)

(i) These consist of advanced payments received
from customers for goods that have not yet
been transferred to the customers.

(i) These consist of advanced payments received
from customers resulting from the sales of
properties that are still under development.

(i)~ These consist of advanced payments received
resulting from the sales of financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss.

Revenue recognised in relation to contract
liabilities

The following table shows how much of the
revenue recognised for the year ended 31
March 2024 and 2023 relates to carried-
forward contract liabilities:

Contract liabilities related to BAEEERZ
sales of goods BHEE

KIN YAT HOLDINGS LIMITED #E#&EEAR A7

TEER (#)
d) BaxnaE
AEEOHERBUTEE -
2024 2023
—ENEF —E=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHT FHT
18,027 6,435
138,571 140,523
- 12,000
156,598 158,958
Hat

(e)

(i)

(ii)

HERREREEEEP 2 EMm
A 5 P 38 S W AR 2 3R

IBEEREHEERTUERT
IS CU AN

It EE N EEBREEATED
R EREERAWIZAIRK -

BRENEECEI ZWE

TRERBE-_ZE_NMEREL-F
T ZA=t—HIFERE
HAEYNBEERZ SR

2024 2023
—ENEF —E-=F
HK$°000 HK$’000
FETT FET
6,435 42,894
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

5 SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

(e)

ANNUAL REPORT 2024 4 [Z ¥

Revenue recognised in relation to contract
liabilities (continued)

Revenue comprises the fair value of the
consideration received or receivable, for the
sale of goods or properties in the ordinary
course of the Group’s activities. Revenue
is shown net of value-added tax (“VAT"),
estimated returns and rebates (if any) and
after eliminating sales within the Group. The
Group recognises revenue when the amount of
revenue can be reliably measured; when it is
probable that future economic benefits will flow
to the entity; and when specific criteria have
been met for each of the Group’s activities.

A receivable is recognised when the goods
or properties are delivered as this is the point
in time that the consideration is unconditional
because only the passage of time is required
before the payment is due.

If the goods or properties delivered by the
Group exceed the payments made by the
counter parties, a contract asset is recognised.
If the payments exceed the goods or properties
delivered, a contract liability is recognised. A
contract liability is the obligation to transfer
goods to a customer for which the Group has
received a consideration (or an amount of
consideration that is due) from the customer.
If a customer pays the consideration before
the Group transfers goods to the customer,
a contract liability is recognised when the
payment is made or the payment is due
(whichever is earlier). Contract liabilities are
recognised as revenue when the Group
performs under the contract.

The following is a description of the accounting
policy for the principal revenue streams of the
Group.

B 75 ¥ 2= BT AE

5 oEER®)

(e)

RENEECERZWE(E)

WHBENRAEE A EXBEBRESD
HEEmAMEMBERKELZ
RENDFE - Was R MEREER
(MBEHR]) - HEHREREM (0
B)ARHHEEEANRFREER
2%H - AEERARENBFNERE
MU & FRRE R SEMAH B R ¢ 0K
KE BN AR ERATREE A
ERFUEAKRESBEXRHZHE

2o -

PR R B o A B R
2 RER AR ERAE EED
B RE - (878 AR e T B B
fit o

HEAEEREHNERIMER
HEF T IERRNFR - RIERE X
BE - MENFBLAARANE D
g% RIERENEE - BHEA
BRATFPFEEAKECDREP
WERE (KRESRIH) 2 &
M EE - WEEFRAKEKE
mEBRERTELZAIXMNRE - AR
ERNRIAREPABRREER
B)RBERACHAGE - EXKERE
TAENE ANBEERERSK
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DR R E U

5 SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

(e)

Revenue recognised in relation to contract
liabilities (continued)

Sales of goods

Revenue from the sales of goods is recognised
when control of the products has transferred,
being when the products are delivered to the
customer, and there is no unfulfilled obligation
that could affect the customer’s acceptance
of the products. Delivery occurs when the
products have been shipped to the specified
location, the risks of obsolescence and loss
have been transferred to the customer, and
either the customer has accepted the products
in accordance with the sales contract, the
acceptance provisions have lapsed, or the
Group has objective evidence that all criteria for
acceptance have been satisfied.

Sales of properties

For property sales contract for which the
control of the property is transferred at a point
in time, revenue is recognised when the buyer
obtains the physical possession or the legal
title of the completed property and the Group
has present right to payment and the collection
of the consideration is probable.

The revenue is measured at the transaction
price agreed under the contract. The Group
receives payments from customers based on
payment schedule as established in contracts.
Certain payments are usually received in
advance in pre-sales arrangement. Such
proceeds from customers are recorded as
contract liabilities before the relevant sales are
recognised.

KIN YAT HOLDINGS LIMITED a5 E B R A A
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

OTHER INCOME AND GAINS, NET

Fair value (loss)/gain on financial assets

at fair value through profit or loss, net

Fair value loss on investment
properties, net (Note 16)

Gain/(loss) on disposal of property,
plant and equipment (Note i)

Gain on disposal of a subsidiary
(Note ii)

Gain on termination of lease

Gross rental income

Sales of scrap materials

Subsidy income (Note iii)

Gain on deregistration of a subsidiary
(Note iv)

Others

FREBERBAFENEZ
TRMEEZATE
(E518) /U= - F 8

wREWEZ AN TERESE
SFEE (Hit16)

LEVE BEREEZ
Wz (&18) (M 72i)

HE— R B ARz W
(H1 &)

wIEHE 2 WS

Hael ALz

i & BE R

AR WA (BT i)

— I BB A &) s s B
Wezs (B9 a2iv)

Hih

KIN YAT HOLDINGS LIMITED #E#&%EABR A a]

B 75 ¥ 2= BT AE

6 HMWARKE  FHE

2024 2023
—E-EF —E-=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET
(6,706) 274
(9,372) (9,906)
61,550 (613)
5,208 -

- 21

2,702 2,669
5,424 5,320
4,899 15,556

- 18,142

769 5,116
64,474 36,579
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 7% ¥R AR Y 5

OTHER INCOME AND GAINS, NET

(continued)

Notes:

(i)

(ii

(i)

(iv)

During the year ended 31 March 2024, gain on
disposal of property, plant and equipment amounting
to HK$61,550,000 is recognised in profit or loss. It
mainly represents the gain on disposal of land and
building in Shaoguan. On 20 March 2023, the Group
entered into the Lands Resumption Agreement
with Shixing County Bureau of Natural Resources
at a consideration by way of cash compensation
of approximately RMB102,366,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$114,150,000) in total comprising
the compensation for land and building with net book
value of HK$41,100,000 and net of other transaction
cost of HK$19,921,000, resulting in a gain on
disposal of approximately HK$61,812,000.

On 10 January 2024, the Group entered into a sale
and purchase agreement with an independent third
party to dispose of the entire interest in an indirect
wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, which
was principally engaged in manufacture and trading
of electronic products, for a cash consideration of
RMB2 (equivalent to HK$2). The transaction was
completed on the same date, resulting in a gain on
disposal of approximately HK$5,208,000.

Various government subsidies have been received
from the local government authorities for subsidising
the operating activities, research and development
activities, and acquisition of fixed assets. During
the year ended 31 March 2024, subsidies income
amounting to HK$4,899,000 (2023: HK$15,556,000)
are recognised in profit or loss, including the
recognition of deferred government subsidy income
of HK$4,531,000 (2023: HK$9,158,000).

During the year ended 31 March 2023, management
has deregistered an indirect wholly owned subsidiary
of the Company located in British Virgin Islands. Gain
amounted to HK$18,142,000 was mainly resulted
from the reclassification of cumulative exchange
difference, previously recorded in exchange reserve,
to income statement according to HKAS 21.

KIN YAT HOLDINGS LIMITED a5 E B R A A

6

HwARWzE  FEE#)

Hit -

(i)

(i)

(iv)

REZEZE-_Z-_MF=A=+—HIL
FE LEDE BELEEZNE
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AEEBRBEZEAERBI L L
W EtHzE REARcHEAR
4 AN R #102,366,0007T (FHE R4
114,150,000 7T) * B #EME T &
12 5 BR % (B 41,100,000 7T I H
R 5 Bk AN 5819,921,000/8 T » I E
A H & IR ZE4961,812,00078 T °

R-ZT-WMFE-A+H AfEH—
FBYE=NRIVEERHZE  URE
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EE -ABEXSERRBTK  LE
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DR EE U

7 FINANCE COSTS, NET

Finance income

Interest expense on bank loans
Interest expense on lease liabilities
(Note 17(b))

Amount capitalised (Note)
Finance costs

Finance costs, net

Note:

7

f A

RITERZFERY
HeEaBEzMEMX
(Htzt17(b)

BREATE ML)

% E R

MBER  F8R

During the year ended 31 March 2024, no interest expense
(2023: HK$7,094,000) was capitalised upon completion of
the properties under development. The capitalisation rate
used to determine the amount of borrowing costs to be
capitalised is the weighted average interest rate applicable
to the entity’s borrowings during the year of 5.3% for the

year ended 31 March 2023.
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BBER FHE

2024 2023
—E_F =
HK$°000 HK$000
FHET FHT

2,653 1,599

(18,055) (19,960)

(482) (396)

(18,537) (20,356)

= 7,094
......(185837) (13,262)
(15,884) (11,663)

Wi -

REE-Z-_NE=ZA=+—HILFE %
BRPMERTRITEEAACHNERZ (ZF
Z=% :7,004,00087C) c REEZT ==
FZA=+—HLFE ARETBETER
IEOERRASENENMCERABANER
FRERZ NiEFHF = - B15.3% °
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LOSS BEFORE INCOME TAX

The Group’s loss before income tax is arrived at after

charging:

Cost of inventories sold

Cost of properties sold

Depreciation of property,
plant and equipment (Note 15)

Depreciation of right-of-use assets
(Note 17(a))

Employee benefit expenses (Note 9)

Auditor’s remuneration

Legal and professional fee

Short-term lease expenses

(Reversal of)/provision for impairment of
inventories, net (Note 21)

Impairment loss on properties,
plant and equipment (Note 15)

Impairment loss on right-of-use assets
(Note 17)

Impairment loss on goodwill (Note 18)

Impairment of properties under
development (Note 19)

Impairment of completed properties
held for sale (Note 20)

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DR R E U

8 KRFBBAER

BEEGFEMRA
EEMERK A
ME - BERERBTE
(HiE15)
FREEENE
(Hizt17(a)
EERMEAZ (Mi7F9)
1% B AT B &
EEREEER
HEHERX
BFERE(BE) BE -
SFEE (KT a21)
ME - BELEZEZRE
518 (#it15)
EREEBEZREEE
(HiE17)
BB ZRERE(HiE18)
BRERAYERE
(H1:#19)
BEHE 2R TYERME
(Hiat20)

KIN YAT HOLDINGS LIMITED a5 E B R A A

AEBZBEAEHABED G TS
I8 :

2024 2023
—BDNEF —E=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET TET
610,050 688,333
9,433 6,226
101,912 119,452
7,526 6,726
303,774 350,270
3,180 3,500
6,961 8,228
822 140
(24,360) 5,801
148,921 50,790
3,718 -
4,650 6,207
17,117 191,304
9,365 48,774
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9 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES

(a)

(b)

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Employee benefit expenses (including (a)
Directors’ emoluments)

Wages, salaries and other employee T & - %4 REMES

welfares 2 A
Retirement benefits costs RAKAE F A AN
Five highest paid individuals (b)

The five individuals whose emoluments were
the highest in the Group for the year include
four (2023: five) directors whose emoluments
are reflected in the analysis shown in Note
10. The emoluments paid and payable to the
remaining 1 individual during the years ended
31 March 2024 are as follows:

Wages, salaries and other employee I & - %4 &

welfares HEiiEERA
Retirement benefits costs RIRREFIR A

B 7% ¥R 2R Y 5

9 EERAAX

BEEANRAX (BEESHH)

2024 2023

=EF-mE —T_=F

HK$°000 HK$'000

FET FET

302,043 348,746

1,731 1,624

303,774 350,270
EfuSEmHMAL

AFEAEEAUSZSTHMAL

EPRENE (=% :1%)

EF ABERSEIZMERME0
JIEZDITRR - REE—F—
FZA=+—RHLEE RAHT—
AATENRENZBENT

2024
—E-NF
HK$°000
FET

1,542
18

1,560
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B %% 2 MY =

9 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES 9 EERABEX @
(continued)
(b) Five highest paid individuals (continued) (b) ENUBESHFEMAL(E)

The emoluments fell within the following bands: B < T IA T EE R
Number of
individuals

A
2024
—E-MEF
HK$’000
FET
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 7T, £2,000,000/% 7T 1
(c) During the year, no emoluments have been (c) REA AEBWEREBELZMNE

paid by the Group to the directors as an AN E A5 AR £ & 8 hn A A

inducement to join or upon joining the Group, EBRENEESEABERMEE (=

or as compensation for loss of office (2023: TEo=FE) o

Nil).
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

10 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF
DIRECTORS (DISCLOSURES
REQUIRED BY SECTION 383 OF
THE HONG KONG COMPANIES

ORDINANCE (CAP. 622),

COMPANIES (DISCLOSURE OF
INFORMATION ABOUT BENEFITS
OF DIRECTORS) REGULATION
(CAP. 622G) AND HK LISTING

RULES)

(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s

emoluments

The remuneration of every director and chief
executive for the year ended 31 March 2024
and 2023 is set out below:

2024

Executive directors and
the chief executive

Cheng Chor Kit (Note |

Liu Tat Luen

Cheng Tsz To

Cheng Tsz Hang

Non-executive director
Fung Wah Cheong, Vincent

Independent non-executive directors
Wong Chi Wal

Sun Kwai Yu, Vivian (Note i

Cheung Wang Ip

Chan Yim Por Bonnie (Note ii

ANNUAL REPORT 2024 4 [Z ¥

it Judik3

HTESR
BETHAR

grG )

g1

g1

FunEE
BZE

BukyTES
RN
Fhg

BRIk (W)

10

B 7% ¥R 2R Y 5

EEVakER (KEB(EEB
~ B & B (55622F) 55383
R (2A (HEBEEENRE
#) R B (5£622GE) R &EHE
LR A EER)

(@) EERTIETBRAEME

HE_Z_WNFR-_ZT-_=F=
A=+—HLFE SEERETE

TRAERNHFMEIIMT

Equity-settled Pension

Discretionary  share option scheme
Fee Salary bonus expense  contributions Total

kx&E &he
e #¢  BERA  BREMX  FAER @it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FEn Fén FEL FEr FEr FEr
3,738 - - - 3,738
1,596 - - 18 1,614
1,260 - - 18 1,278
1,266 - - 16 1,282
125 - - - - 125
300 - - - - 300
125 - - - - 125
300 - - - - 300
178 - - - - 178
1,028 7,860 - - 52 8,940

KIN YAT HOLDINGS LIMITED i 5 & B R A
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B 7% ¥R AR Y 5

10 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF
DIRECTORS (DISCLOSURES
REQUIRED BY SECTION 383 OF
THE HONG KONG COMPANIES
ORDINANCE (CAP. 622),
COMPANIES (DISCLOSURE OF
INFORMATION ABOUT BENEFITS
OF DIRECTORS) REGULATION
(CAP. 622G) AND HK LISTING
RULES) (continued)

(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s
emoluments (continued)

10

BEENRRERS (KBER
A B EBI) (55622%F) 5383
(28 (BHEEENRE
B RBI) ($622GE) R E B
EFHRABEER) &)

(@) EERTFETBRAEME (&)

Equity-settled Pension
Discretionary ~ share option scheme
Fee Salary bonus expense  contributions Total
RE&E U
ne B¢ BERL  BRERR  HEER &3t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK8'000 HK$ 000 HK$:000
FAT AT FAT FAT FAT FAT
2023 I
Executive directors and YTEER
the chief executive ERTHAR
Cheng Chor Kit (Note BRE W) 5340 - - - 5,340
Liu Tat Luen BiER 2,200 - - 18 2,098
Cheng Tsz To g1% 1,800 - - 18 15818
Cheng Tsz Hang LSS 2,160 - - 18 2178
Leg Kim Wa, Winston (Note i) FREWitw) 2546 - - 12 2,558
Non-executive director FunEs
Fung Wah Cheong, Vincent BE8 300 - - - - 300
Independent non-executive directors ~ BUKHTES
Wong Chi Wai Bl 300 - - - - 300
Sun Kwai Yu, Vivian (Note i BEWi) 300 - - - - 300
Cheng Kwok Kin, Paul (Note v) LGk ) 150 - - - _ 150
Cheung Wang Ip Rix 300 - - - - 30
1,350 14,126 - - 66 15,542

There was no arrangement under which a
director or the chief executive waived or agreed
to waive any remuneration during the year
(2023: Nil).

KIN YAT HOLDINGS LIMITED a5 E B R A A

RER - TEREFXESTRAR
HEXRERETAMS 2 28
—E-=fF ) o

=

ANNUAL REPORT 2024 4 [Z ¥



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

10 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF

DIRECTORS (DISCLOSURES
REQUIRED BY SECTION 383 OF
THE HONG KONG COMPANIES

B 7% ¥R 2R Y 5

10 EEFEZRERE (KBC(RR
A EEB) (56622F ) 55383
HF-(2F (HEEENEE
B EB) (F622GE) REB

ORDINANCE (CAP. 622),
COMPANIES (DISCLOSURE OF
INFORMATION ABOUT BENEFITS
OF DIRECTORS) REGULATION
(CAP. 622G) AND HK LISTING
RULES) (continued)

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

ANNUAL REPORT 2024 4 [Z ¥

Directors’ and chief executive’s
emoluments (continued)
Notes:

(i) Mr. Cheng Chor Kit, a director of the
Company, is also the chief executive of the
Company.

(i) Ms. Sun Kwai Yu, Vivian was resigned as an
independent non-executive director on 28
August 2023.

(iii) Mr. Chan Yim Por Bonnie was appointed as an
independent non-executive director on 28 August
2023.

(iv)  Mr. Lee Kim Wa, Winston was resigned as an
executive director on 2 December 2022.

(v) Mr. Cheng Kwok Kin, Paul deceased on 12
September 2022.

Directors’ retirement benefits

None of the directors received or will receive
any retirement benefits during the year ended
31 March 2024 (2023: Nil).

Directors’ termination benefits

None of the directors received or will receive
any termination benefits during the year ended
31 March 2024 (2023: Nil).

Consideration provided to third parties for
making available directors’ services

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the
Company did not pay consideration to any third
parties for making available directors’ services
(2023: Nil).

EFTHRAEEER) 2

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

BEERFTETHRAEME (Z)

Biat -

0] RRARESBRGIRETARR
AITTERABEL -

(i) HEWLZITHRZZTZ=F)NA
ZHN\BBEEELERITES -

(i) PBRABEERZZTZ=F)\A
T+ NBEZEABMIENTE
=.

(ivy ZFRIEXER-_ZT-_—_F+=A
—HBRITHRTES -

(v) BEZAEER-_FT__FNA
T HEH -
ESEKREF

BE-_ZT-_WFEF=A=+—HIt
FERN - BESERI RN
MEREFNN(ZZEZ=F:8\) -

EEBERAN
BE-_ZTZ-_WF=ZA=+—HIt
FERN - BESERIEERENIT
AFHEREFNN(ZZEZ=F &) -

MERHEEREMATE=H
R1E
HE-_Z-_WWF=-A=+—H1F
FE AR EREREES
REINREFENE=F(=ZF
—=F |
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 7% ¥R AR Y 5

10 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF
DIRECTORS (DISCLOSURES
REQUIRED BY SECTION 383 OF
THE HONG KONG COMPANIES
ORDINANCE (CAP. 622),
COMPANIES (DISCLOSURE OF
INFORMATION ABOUT BENEFITS
OF DIRECTORS) REGULATION
(CAP. 622G) AND HK LISTING
RULES) (continued)

(e) Information about loans, quasi-loans
and other dealings in favour of directors,
controlled bodies corporate by and
connected entities with such directors
During the year ended 31 March 2024, there
were no loans, quasi-loans and other dealing
arrangements in favour of the directors, or
controlled body corporates and connected
entities of such directors (2023: Nil).

(f) Directors’ material interests in
transactions, arrangements or contracts
Apart from those disclosed in Note 33, no
significant transactions, arrangements and
contracts in relation to the Group’s business
to which the Company was a party and
in which a director of the Company had a
material interest, whether directly or indirectly,
subsisted at the end of the year or at any time
during the year.

BEENNEZNES (KB(EFEB
A B BI) (565622EF) 5383
HT-(28 (HWEEENRE
B BB (F622GE) RE B
ETHRABEER) @)

(e) BAMMBES SEEEZHMEIAE
BrEEEEHEESRELENE
RRBEUER  URERZSES
HWEMARZHNER
He_Z-_WFE=ZA=+—HI
FE AQEBERNES RZE
EEHOEIAERBREAESZFEH
BEREHERRBEUER  UX
BRZEATHEMRZZZH (=
To=F ) o

() ESEXRS ZHFEIEHHTHEKX
R
FRHIAES3 PARBEE SN - MAFF
RFANEAAIRSE - i mEREE
EGABEZEER S  RHXA
% RAKRRBA—T7  ARAR
AEEERAEREMTFEEAN
ERE -

11 INCOME TAX Fri8 Bt
2024 2023
—E-mOEg —E-=4F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Current — Hong Kong KEE-BE

Charge for the year FRLH 1,676 1,668
Adjustment for current tax of prior years B EE AR B (257) (6,047)

Current — Elsewhere REFE - Hhi[E
Charge for the year FARALZH 19,375 212
Deferred tax (Note 29) EERIE (M1 5729) 767 613
Total tax charge/(credit) for the year FABEIL (Kr) B8 21,561 (3,554)
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

INCOME TAX (continued)

A reconciliation of the tax charge/(credit) applicable
to loss before tax at the statutory rates for the
locations in which the Company and the majority of
its subsidiaries are domiciled to the tax expense at
the weighted average tax rate of 22% (2023: 24%) is

B 75 ¥ 2= BT AE

11 FEH @)

BARBIREXZHEMBRARELZ
AERRAB 2 EARGBRATEERZR
By (ER) B niEF R E22%
TR CF 24%)FEIHIBRYE
R -

as follows:

Loss before tax

Tax at the statutory tax rates

Adjustments in respect of current tax of
previous periods

Income not subject to tax

Expenses not deductible for tax

Temporary differences not recognised

Tax losses from previous periods utilised

Tax losses not recognised

Tax charge/(credit)

Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate
of 16.5% (2023: 16.5%) on the estimated assessable
profits arising in Hong Kong during the year, except
for one subsidiary of the Group which is a qualifying

2024 2023

—E-MEF —E =4

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FET

B AT 18 (190,571) (297,723)

BEEMRETEZHIE (42,431) (70,888)
BB EHAR IR

2 A (257) (6,047)

AR Z WA (3,982) (554)

T‘Hﬂ MeHX 6,203 1,899

MAER TR ZE5 44,411 63,098

EBABAEHMZ

B E 18 (3,194) (1,657)

AER ZHIBEHE 20,811 10,595

HEzH,/ (Ke) 21,561 (3,554)

BEABRER L E WF%SE%F&F EZE

16.5% ) 2 Fit &
BB A RIBRIN - 2 A

HERT R FIE16.5% (Z T - =4 ¢
TIREE  EAEE—
AAR-—Z—N/

entity under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime
effective from the year of assessment 2019/2020.
The first HK$2,000,000 of assessable profits of this
subsidiary is taxed at 8.25% (2023: 8.25%) and the
remaining assessable profits are taxed at 16.5%
(2023: 16.5%).

Taxes on profits assessable elsewhere have been
calculated at the applicable rates of tax prevailing in
the countries in which the Group operates. The tax
rate applicable to the subsidiaries in the PRC is 25%
(2023: 25%).

T TEMNFERERZMRAFERH
RHETZEEARER - ZMBRAZ
B2,000,000/% JT F& 3% i i F1) #28.25%
(ZEB =4 :8.25%) L EHF fﬁﬁ
BRIERDUHE R BIZ16.5% (—E - =
16.5% ) B = HF -

FAE i th [ 2 FE ER o a F) 2 FR I8 BIIE AR
CSEREMEBRRBETZEAB X

cFRN - RBEZHBARZERKEE
B05% (= EFE =4 : 25%) o
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DR R E U

12 DIVIDENDS 12 B2
ERATEERBE_T_MF

The Board has resolved not to declare any final
dividend for the year ended 31 March 2024 (2023:

=
A=t HULEFEZREEE (ZF

Nil). —=F ) o
13 LOSS PER SHARE 13 EREE
(a) Basic (a EX

(b)

Basic loss per share is calculated by dividing
the loss attributable to owners of the Company
by the weighted average number of ordinary
shares in issue during the year.

Loss attributable to owners of KABHEA ANEREE
the Company

Weighted average number of ordinary & 31T % i@ A% hn4E

shares in issue (thousands) FEHE(FR)
Basic loss per share GRAXNEBIE
(HK cents per share) (FRBM)
Diluted (b)

For the year ended 31 March 2024 and 2023,
the diluted loss per share equals to the basic
loss per share since the conversion of the
outstanding share options would not have a
dilutive effect on the loss per share.

KIN YAT HOLDINGS LIMITED #E#&EEAR A7

BREXRERILDRARTEER A
EIEERRAFACBRITERRK

IAEF L -

2024 2023
—SE-mEg —E-=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
(212,132) (294,169)
438,960 438,960
(48.33) (67.01)

B

BE-_ZT-_NER_ZT_=F=
A=+—H1tFE  ARIRTE
ERE ERESRERERIL
EEAHTENE  WEREEEES

REBREXRER -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DR EE U

14 SUBSIDIARIES

The following is a list of the principal subsidiaries at
31 March 2024 and 2023:

Place of incorporation/
establishment and

Particulars of
issued share

14 EA T

TR EZOFER T _=F=
A=Z+—HZXBHNERF:

Ownership interest

Name kind of legal entity capital held by the Group  Principal activities
WAL/ HILBHR rEEBEL
ARER EARRER BRTRAFS gk ¥ $ TEEHR
2024 2023
ZBImE —To=F
Directly held
EERE
Kin Yat Holdings (BVI) British Virgin Islands, Ordinary share 100% 100%  Investment holding
Limited limited liability company US$1
BHEEE(RBEBRES) ABARRES ARRA ETRR REEKR
BRAT Y
Indirectly held
BERE
Guizhou Kin Yat Property  The PRC, Ordinary shares 100% 100%  Property development
Company Limited limited liability company RMB10,000,000
EMZERHERRRA HE FRAF ERRARE BHERE
10,000,0007T
BNEHELRERFME  The PRC, Ordinary shares 100% 100%  Property development
BERAF limited liability company RMB10,000,000
hE ARAR ERRARE BHERE
10,000,0007T
Guizhou Standard Electric  The PRC, Ordinary shares 100% 100%  Manufacture and trading
Motor Company Limited ~ limited liability company RMB100,000,000 of motors
EMREERARNDA hE - BARAR ERRARE HERBEEH
100,000,0007T
Kin Yat (Guizhou) Robot ~ The PRC, Ordinary shares - 100%  Manufacture and trading
Company Limited limited liability company RMB100,000,000 of electronic products
#iE(EMBEABRAR pE ARAA ERRARE HERBEETEM
100,000,0007T
Kin Yat (Hong Kong) Hong Kong, Ordinary shares 100% 100%  Trading of electrical

Corporation Limited
B (BB)EXARAR

ANNUAL REPORT 2024 4 [Z ¥

limited liability company
B BRAR

HK$10,000
L BAT10,00078 T
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DR R E U

14 SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 14 B QR (#)
The following is a list of the principal subsidiaries at TRIEIWR _E-_WNFER T -_=F=
31 March 2024 and 2023: (continued) AR=+—BzxEWBAR : (&)
Place of incorporation/  Particulars of
establishment and issued share Ownership interest
Name kind of legal entity capital held by the Group  Principal activities
ARMAL/ HILBHR rEEREZ
AEER EARRER BRTRAFE gk 1§ TEXH
2024 2023
—EC@mE —FT-=F
Indirectly held (continued)
BERE (£
Kin Yat Industrial Company Hong Kong, Ordinary shares 100% 100%  Trading of toys,

Limited limited liability company HK$3,200,000 electronic products,
and sourcing of
materials

BEEFAERAA BE BRAR £ iB/R3,200,000% 7T EENA BTER

RYVTERE

Newway Electrical Industries Hong Kong, Ordinary shares 100% 100%  Trading of electrical
(Hong Kong) Limited limited liability company HK$10,000 household appliances

MEEREE(FHR) & ARRA £iBk10,0008 T BEEXE
ERAA

Penta Blesses Enterprises  Hong Kong, Ordinary shares 100% 100%  Investment and property
Limited limited liability company HK$1,000,000 holding

hBEXERAF B BRRF Ei8iR%1,000,000% T RERFAEN%

Kin Yat (Guangdong) Al The PRC, Ordinary shares 100% 100%  Manufacture and trading

Company Limited limited liability company US$8,000,000 of toys and electrical
appliances

2 (BR) ALBg hE - BRAR £ 377%8,000,000% 7T HERBEMARESR

BRAA

Shenzhen Kin Yat Power  The PRC, Ordinary shares 100% 100%  Manufacture and trading
Electronic Company limited liability company US$10,000,000 of toys and electronic
Limited products
FNBEREETERRA  FE BRAA £ ®H%10,000,000% 7T HEREEMAR
TTES
Guangdong Standard Motor The PRC, Ordinary shares 100% 100%  Property holding,

Technology Company
Limited

ERE E@%ﬂ&
BRR

140

limited liability company

FE BERAA
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US$47,000,000

38 k47,000,000 7T

BasEARAR
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DR EE U

14 SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

14 B2 =) (&)
TR EZOFER T _=F=

The following is a list of the principal subsidiaries at
31 March 2024 and 2023: (continued)

Place of incorporation/
establishment and

Particulars of
issued share

A=Z+—RZEXE2WBRR : (&)

Ownership interest

Name kind of legal entity capital held by the Group  Principal activities
ARMAL/ HILBHR rEEREZ
AEER EARRER BRTRAFE gk 1§ TEXH
2024 2023
—EC@mE —FT-=F
Indirectly held (continued)
BERE (£)
Smart Electric Motor Hong Kong, Ordinary share 100% 100%  Trading of motors and
Company Limited limited liability company HKS$1 materials
BRERERAA B8 BRDA LTERIET EEBH MK
Smart Electric Motor Singapore, Ordinary shares 100% 100%  Trading of motors
Singapore Pte. Limited limited liability company SG$100
Mg BRAR EiBR10037 MK T EETH
Standard Encoder Malaysia, Ordinary shares 100% 100%  Manufacture and trading
(Malaysia) Sdn Bhd limited liability company RM500,000 of encoder film
SRAR  ARAA £ 1%500,0005 % HERBBERERFM
Standard Land (Malaysia) ~ Malaysia, Ordinary shares 100% 100%  Property holding
Sdn Bhd limited liability company RM500,000
SRAL GERAF £ 8£500,000% % L EIES
Standard Motor Company  Hong Kong, Ordinary shares 100% 100%  Trading of motors and
Limited limited liability company HK$40,000,000 sourcing of materials
SRMBEITERAF B8 BRDA %% 1%40,000,000/8 7 EEEHRREDH
Standard Motor Japan Japan, Ordinary shares 100% 100%  Trading of motors
Company Limited limited liability company JPY10,000,000
A BRAF % #0%10,000,0008 [ EEEH
World Talent Enterprise Hong Kong, Ordinary shares 100% 100%  Trading of toys
Limited limited liability company HK$1,000,000
RECEERAA B8 BERDA L4 1,000,000/8 T BEEMA
PHEMREEXERRDA  The PRC, Ordinary shares 100% 100%  Manufacture and trading

ANNUAL REPORT 2024 4 [Z ¥

limited liability company
mE - ERAA

HK$1,000,000
3% 1%1,000,0005 7T
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DR R E U

15 PROPERTY, PLANT AND 15 Y% - BMERRE
EQUIPMENT
Moulds, tools, Furniture,
Freehold land  Construction and plantand equipment and
Buildings  and buildings in progress machinery motor vehicles Total
XA%R BR-T2  GR-#F
B  i#EET ERIE REREME kAE @t

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Fén Fén Fén Fén Fén Fén

31 March 2024 “Z-ME=A=1-A

Cost or valuation: RABEMHE:

At 1 April 2023 RZE-ZEMA-H 281,550 21,203 25,260 1,327,106 430,143 2,141,262
Additions AE 612 - - 25,482 6,059 32,153
Disposals e - - (8,655) (30,697) (7,128) (46,480)
Transfers @ - - (532) 532 - -
(Deficit)/surplus on revaluation Ef (B /B4 (14,2372) 1,370 - - - (13,002)
Write-back on revaluation EfREE (11,425) (158) - - - (11,583)
Exchange realignment [ (3,347) (1,369) (305) (30,553) (7,860) (43,434)
At 31 March 2024 WZE-ME=A=1-H 259,018 21,046 15,768 1,291,870 471,214 2,058,916

Accumulated depreciationand ~ EFHFEREHE:

impairment:
At 1 April 2023 RZE-ZEMA-H - - - 941,783 417,950 1,359,733
Provided during the year EREE 11,425 158 - 75,94 14,388 101,912
Disposals e = = = (27,850) (6,796) (34,646)
Impairment HE - - 14,371 120,354 14,196 148,921
Write-back on revaluation L (11,425) (158) - - - (11,583)
Exchange realignment EiAE - - - (22,732) (6,829) (29,561)
At 31 March 2024 R-B-RE=ZA=T-H - - 14,371 1,087,496 432,909 1,534,776
Net book value: BHFE:
At 31 March 2024 R-B-RE=ZA=1-H 259,018 21,046 1,397 204,374 38,305 524,140
31 March 2024 ZECMEZf=1+-R
An analysis of cost or valuation:  RAEH(EEZ 24
At cost RAARE - - 15,768 1,201,870 411,214 1,778,852
A revaluation RERE 250,018 21,046 - - - 280,064

259,018 21,046 15,768 1,201,870 411,214 2,058,916
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DR R E U

15 PROPERTY, PLANT AND 15 Y% - BERRE 2
EQUIPMENT (continued)
Moulds, tools, Fumiture,
Freeholdland  Construction  and plantand  equipment and
Buidings  and buildings in progress machinery  motor vehicles Total
KAZE ER-IE &R -3RE
BF  L1iRET ERIE REREKE S GES @t

HK$ 000 HK$:000 HK$:000 HK$:000 HK$:000 HK$:000
TET TET TET TET TET TET

31 March 2023 ZECCEZR=t-R

Cost or valuation: RABSREE

At 1 Aprl 2022 N-B--EmA-R 333,427 25,446 82,349 1,354,161 484,040 2279423
Additions AE - - 18,667 90923 11,689 121,079
Disposals HE - - (5,088) (2,281) (32) (7,401)
Transferred to assets classified EREAEA

as held for sale BENEEE (29,841) - - (12,508) (2,946) (45,295)
Transfers 2% 52,586 - (65,754) - 13,168 -
Deficit on revaluation EfEEH (40,824 (2,703) - - - (43527)
Write-back on revaluation EfREE (12,386) (168) - - - (12,554)
Exchange realignment ERHR (15,412) (1,372) (4,914 (103,189) (25,776) (150,669)
At 31 March 2023 R-EZEZAZH-F 287,560 21203 25,260 1,327,106 480,143 2,141,962

Accumulated depreciationand ~ EiFHEREE:

impairment:
At 1 April 2022 R-E-"EMA-H - - - 918,908 377,216 1,296,184
Provided during the year EREE 12,983 168 - 81,216 25,085 119,452
Disposals HE - - - (1.471) (29) (1,500)
Transferred to assets classified EREAEA

as held for sale RENEEE (597) - - (5,047) (1,316) (6,960)
Imparment W - - - 14,861 35,929 50,790
Write-back on revaluation EEEA (12,386) (168) - - - (12,554)
Exchange realignment Ei AR - - - (66,684) (18,995) (85,679)
At 31 March 2023 RZEZZFZfA=1-H - - - 941,788 417,950 1,359,733
Net book value: BAFE.
At 31 March 2023 RoE-ZEZAZ+-H 287,550 21,203 25,260 385,328 62,193 781,529
31 March 2023 ZECZEZA=t-R
An analysis of cost or valuation: KABHAEEZ A4
At cost B AE - - 25,260 1327106 480,143 1,832,500
At revaluation RERE 287,550 21,203 - - - 308,758

287,550 21,208 25,260 1,327,106 480,143 2,141,262
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15 PROPERTY, PLANT AND

EQUIPMENT (continued)

Depreciation of approximately HK$98,337,000
(2023: HK$112,641,000) is included in cost of sales;
HK$3,575,000 (2023: HK$6,811,000) is included in
administrative expenses in the consolidated income
statement.

During the year ended 31 March 2024, management
considered that impairment indicator existed for the
non-financial assets of the Motors CGU as a result of
its unfavourable performance. Based on value-in-use
assessment, impairment losses of HK$131,040,000
(2023: HK$14,076,000 for E&E CGU) were
recognised on properties, plant and equipment.

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group
decided to scale down one of its production plants
which resulted in a provision of impairment of the
relevant non-current assets totaling HK$17,881,000
(2023: HK$36,714,000).

At 31 March 2024, the Group’s building in Hong
Kong and Mainland China were revalued based
on valuation performed by Valplus Consulting
Limited (20283: Sinoappraisal Advisory Limited),
an independent professionally qualified valuer,
at HK$2,267,000 (2023: HK$2,800,000) and
RMB233,001,000 (equivalent to HK$256,751,000)
(2023: RMB252,300,000 (equivalent to
HK$284,750,000)) respectively.

Freehold land and buildings in Malaysia were
revalued based on valuation performed by Valplus
Consulting Limited (2023: Sinoappraisal Advisory
Limited), an independent professionally qualified
valuer, at Malaysian Ringgit (“RM”) RM12,814,000
(equivalent to HK$21,046,000) (2023: RM12,100,000
(equivalent to HK$21,203,000)).

KIN YAT HOLDINGS LIMITED a5 E B R A A

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DR R E U

15 ¥ - BMERRE#®)

I 4998,337,0008 T (=& =
F:112,641,0008 L) Bt A E
XA 5 3,575,000 0 (Z 2 = = ¢
6,811,000/ T) EFt ASRE MEmER A2
THEX -

REBEE-_FE-_WMF=ZA=+—HIF
B -ARREXE BEERASHRE
mRECEABMNIETMEETARE
TR - ARNFEREMBRTG  EmsE -
B B K 3% 15 e 3R R 1B /B5 81131,040,000
/’%E(_v—fﬁz-%%éuufﬁigi
B {714,076,000/&7T) °

REBEZEZ-_FE-_WNF=ZA=+—HILF
B RKEH /%E%ﬁ/@iﬁ A E R
RIFRE - BEEREIER S EEFTIRA
BB A 17,881,000 L (T ==
£ 136,714,000 7T) °

RZZEZWFEF=ZA=+—H KA&E
REBRFBEAD ZEFHREBEL
BEALAERGEMBEMABB AR QA
(_?_7¢ FEETEENERMN
BERAR)FTETZEHEMEMN - HE
5 Bl /2,267,000 5T (Z 2 = = F ¢
2,800,000/ 7t) & A R #233,001,000
7T (% 256,751,000 ) (=&
— =% AR¥252300,0007T (HHER
284,750,000/ 7T) ) ©

RERALZKAEREIHMREEFT
ﬂi%ﬁﬁiﬁ%AiéﬁNEﬁEﬂi%fEEEFﬁ
ERAG(ZE2EZ=F  hHETEE
TEBEMARAR)FTETZHEME
fir - {518 512,814,000 & ([ ¥ )
(FBE 121,046,000/ L) (T - =4
12,100,00055 # (8 %5 721,203,0007%
JT)) e
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

15 PROPERTY, PLANT AND

EQUIPMENT (continued)

Revaluation deficits of HK$13,002,000 (2023:
HK$43,527,000) resulting from the above revaluation
were debited to the asset revaluation reserve.

Each year, the Group appoints external valuers
to be responsible for the external valuations of
the Group’s properties. Selection criteria include
market knowledge, reputation, independence and
whether professional standards are maintained.
The management discusses with the valuers on the
valuation assumptions and valuation results when
the valuation is performed for financial reporting.

There has been no change from the valuation
techniques used in prior years. In estimating the fair
value of the properties, the highest and best use of
the properties is their current use.

Fair value hierarchy

The fair values of the Group’s land and buildings at
31 March 2024 are estimated by using significant
unobservable inputs and the fair value measurement
is categorised within Level 3 (2023: Same).

During the year ended 31 March 2024, there were
no transfers of fair value measurements between
Level 1, Level 2 and Level 3 (2023: Nil).

KIN YAT HOLDINGS LIMITED

15

B 75 ¥ 2= BT AE

WX BERRE @

At S E £ 2 B E 413,002,000/
T (ZE =4 : 43,527,000/ 1) &R
EESMHFEENE -

BF AEEZBIEGHEMHAEEAR
SEZ2MFEETIBAEE - WEFTER
EmSHE BE BUUELRELHER
EXRE - ZRMBRBETHER
EEEgEMGEMNREERRLGE
BR -

BEFEMABERMILEZES - R
AMEZATER  FEVEZES
RIEAGEAHEBRRAE -

AFEEH
R-ZT-_NE=A=+—0 NEEZ
THREFZAFEDRAEATAS
REAHBEARAFEAESERNSE
SEN(ZEZ=F:HR) -

RBE_ZT_MEF=A=+t—HILF
B BEEAAFEAEES E 3
TERE-EZREBBR(ZT_=%F:
&) -

HaREERAR
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 7% ¥R AR Y 5

15 PROPERTY, PLANT AND
EQUIPMENT (continued)
Fair value hierarchy (continued)

Reconciliation of fair value measurements
categorised within Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy:

15 W% - BMERRE#E)
DNEEEE(E)
EDBRRATERBE=ZERNZATE
TR

Freehold
Buildings in land and
Building in Mainland  buildings in
Hong Kong China Malaysia
(Industrial)  (Industrial)  (Industrial) Total
RERAZ
REE  ReERE  ZKARE
BT BT IhRER
(I%) (I%) (I%) H
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TiErx FET FEr FEr
2,800 284,750 21,203 308,753
- 612 - 612
(101) (11,324) (158) (11,583)
(432) (13,940) 1,370 (13,002)
- (3,347) (1,369) (4,716)
2,267 256,751 21,046 280,064
2,630 330,797 25,446 358,873
- 52,686 - 52,686
- (29,244) - (29,244)
97) (12,886) (168) (13,151)
267 (41,091) (2,708) (43,527)
- (15,412) (1,372) (16,784)
2,800 284,750 21,203 308,753

Carrying amount: REfE:

At 1 April 2023 RZZZ=#mA—A

Additions NE

Depreciation e

(Deficit)/surplus on revaluation Bt (B4) /B

Exchange realignment X RE

At 31 March 2024 RZZZME=A=1—H

At 1 April 2022 RZE--%#MA—H

Transfer a

Transferred to assets classified as held for sale  BEZHEABIEHELE

Depreciation ik

Surplus/(deficit) on revaluation BHER/ (B4)

Exchange realignment Rk

At 31 March 2023 RZBZ=ZF=A=1-H
146 KIN YAT HOLDINGS LIMITED  325% £ B AR AT
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DR R E U

15 PROPERTY, PLANT AND 15 Y% - BMERRE®)
EQUIPMENT (continued)
Fair value hierarchy (continued) NP EEE(E)
Below is a summary of the valuation techniques used MEMEBERRAZEERERTEH A
and the key inputs to the valuation of properties: EMENT
Significant Range of unobservable inputs
Class of properties ~ Valuation techniques unobservable inputs (weighted average)
TUEZBAHEEE
EL] ER % EXTABERAEE (tn#ET19)
2024 2023
—E-NE —E-F
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Hong Kong Market comparable method Gross unit rate per square foot 436 538
G st A BYRREBNER
- Buildings
BF
- Industrial
T%
- Level 3
£=F
Mainland China Direct replacement cost method Gross unit rate per square foot 46 to 120 52 t0 137
RE A BEREEEKAE BERRGBEMER 462120 525137
- Buildings
BF
- Industrial
I%
- Level 3
E=-E
Malaysia Direct replacement cost method  Gross unit rate per square foot 401 404
BRED EREERAZE BEARBENER
- Buildings
BT
- Industrial
I%
- Level 3
E=E
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15 PROPERTY, PLANT AND

EQUIPMENT (continued)

Fair value hierarchy (continued)

As at 31 March 2024, had the Group’s buildings
stated at valuation been carried at cost less
accumulated depreciation, they would have been
included in the financial statements at approximately
HK$47,964,000 (2023: HK$49,677,000).

Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line
method to allocate their cost or revalued amounts,
net of their residual values, over their estimated
useful lives as follows:

Freehold land Not depreciated
Buildings in Hong Kong Over the shorter of
lease terms and 4%
Buildings outside Over the shorter of
Hong Kong lease term and 3.3%
Moulds, tools, and 10%-20%
plant and machinery
Furniture, equipment 10%-25%

and motor vehicles

See Note 39.5 for the other accounting policies
relevant to property, plant and equipment.

KIN YAT HOLDINGS LIMITED #E#&EEAR A7

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DR R E U

15 ¥ - BMERRE#®)

DNPERE(E)
MN-BE-mNE=A=+—0 " HEX&£H
WEBEIREZEFURAREBENTE
FTEEREE IWAMBRER CERAA
15 %) 547,964,000 T (Z T = =F
49,677,000/ 7T) ©

WEDNRBEGEFTEUDBEK AL
EHEE HBREHERFH 2 RE
[T N

KAZERELH TFITE
REBARMEZ RRAYOFER
1gF A% 2 B HE
REBLAIMNEE Z RRHFER
g¥F 3.3%ZEEH
A TANUK 10%Z%E20%

R 5= Re A 2%

Bk~ BERRE 10% % 25%

ME BELEEEZHMEBST KR
W BAMNES95 -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Carrying amount at the beginning of year F#ERE &

Additions 190

Loss from fair value adjustment KEAFERAEZ
(Note 6) &8 (K7 it6)

Exchange realignment & N 2

Carrying amount at the end of year FREREE

Notes:

(i) The balance included the commercial building in The

Royale Cambridge Residences, residential units and
car park, and a commercial leasehold land in Guizhou
Province.

(if) As at 31 March 2024, no commercial leasehold
land (2023: RMB44,000,000 (equivalent to
HK$54,236,000)) was pledged to the bank to secure
a bank facility (Note 28). During the year ended
31 March 2024, the Group fully repaid the bank
borrowings and released the securities.

The Group’s investment properties were revalued
on 31 March 2024 based on valuations performed
by Valplus Consulting Limited (2023: Sinoappraisal
Advisory Limited), independent professionally
qualified valuers, at RMB39,456,000 (2023:
RMB47,860,000) (equivalent to HK$43,477,000
(2023: HK$54,016,000)).

Each year, the Group appoints an external valuer
to be responsible for the external valuations of
the Group’s properties. Selection criteria include
market knowledge, reputation, independence and
whether professional standards are maintained.
The management discusses with the valuer on the
valuation assumptions and valuation results when
the valuation is performed for financial reporting.

B 75 ¥ 2= BT AE

16 REWHE

2024 2023
—E-NEF =
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET
54,016 65,280

= 3,897

(9,372) (9,906)
(1,167) (5,255)
43,477 54,016

EE

() HHBEEEMNENRBERZHEE
FoEEEMURERES URBEHA
B4t e

iy M-ZZE-mME=A=+—H0 &
FARELIH(ZE=_=F: AR
44,000,0007T (48 %5 754,236,000/
70)) B FIRIT ARG IRITRE (M
F28) c REHE T -_NNFE=—A=+—
AEFE AEEC2HEBERITHE
B E BRI o

R-ZZE-_WE=A=+—H £A&EEH
ZEREMERBEBIEESERGEE
MITEAERERAR (ZE_=F
RETEENEBBAERAR)ET
2 HEEM A ARK39,456,0007T (=
T - =% : AR #¥47,860,0007T) (48
FR43,477,0008 L (ZFE == F -
54,016,000/ 7T)) °

BF  AREZRBEIBEEMATHA
SEZYMERETINEMGE - TBRITEER
BmsHE B8 BUUELREGHR
HERE - BEAMERRETHER
BEESEGEMNWEERR N MGE
R
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DR R E U

16 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued) 16 REWHE »)

There has been no change from the valuation
techniques used in prior years. In estimating the fair
value of the properties, the highest and best use of
the properties is their current use.

Below is a summary of the valuation techniques used
and the key inputs to the valuation of investment
properties:

RBEFERBZEETELEZS -
WEFTMEZRAFER  BENEZRK
BREEAERSERFAE -

KREWMELEMAZGHETEREIZEH
ABUEBR AT

Significant Range of unobservable inputs
Class of properties Valuation techniques unobservable inputs (weighted average)
FUBERAHBEEE
W E Rl HEF % BEATTEHERABE (MnEE¥H)
2024 2023
—E-ME —TE-=F
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Leasehold land in Market comparable Gross unit rate 18 22
Mainland China method per square foot*
REBEAR EELH WIELEE B ARABA(ERE
Commercial properties in  Income method Gross unit rate 355 412
Mainland China per square foot*
REBEAN 2 BEDNE WAL BERREELBR
# The higher the gross unit rate per square foot, the ¢ BEFFREBMERDAS  AFER

higher the fair value.

Investment property, principally comprising leasehold
land and buildings, is held for long-term rental yields
or for capital appreciation or both, and that is not
occupied by the Group. It also includes properties
that are being constructed or developed for future
use as investment properties. Investment property
is initially measured at cost, including related
transaction costs and where applicable borrowing
costs. After initial recognition, investment properties
are carried at fair values. Changes in fair values are
presented in profit or loss as part of other gains.

KIN YAT HOLDINGS LIMITED a5 E B R A A

,% o

KREDE (TERFEHETHNRET) T
FIERMERAHEEHEARTTELRNE &
A MIERAKREGER  REMENE
BEFRERBERFEBRAERENRE
ZYE - RENENTRUATE - B
EHREXZRAREERA (HER) °
RERERE REVERAVER
B AFEEPIREaNZ2FR/EMR

smH)— & ©
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DR EE U

17 LEASES 17 &
(a) Right-of-use assets (a) FHEEE
Prepaid Office and
land lease Leasehold other
payments land properties
(Note(i)) (Note(ii)) (Note(iii)) Total
Bt BAER
ik HELH Hiyz #at

(MEEG)  (BPREGE))  (BEEE(i)
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$000  HK$'000
FER FET FER FET

At 1 April 2023 R-Z2-=5NmA—H 17,686 186 11,612 29,484
Inception of lease contracts 7 47514 - - 7,820 7,820
Depreciation (Note (iv)) & Hiz) (518) ) (7,000) (7,526)
Impairment (Note (v)) SRR (M EE () - - (3,718) (3,718)
Exchange realignment & 5 38 B (185) - (352) (537)
At 31 March 2024 RZEZMF
=—A=+—H 16,983 178 8,362 25,523
At 1 April 2022 RZTBZZFMA—H 22,093 194 12,365 34,652
Inception of lease contracts A 475 14 - - 6,984 6,984
Transfer to asset classified EEZ A
as held for sale BIELEEE (2,765) - - (2,769)
Depreciation (Note (iv)) e (B3 v) (642) (8) (6,076) (6,726)
Termination of lease BIERE - - (996) (996)
Exchange realignment M 5, 3 2 (1,000) - (665) (1,665)
At 31 March 2023 R-ZE-=F
=A=+—H 17,686 186 11,612 29,484
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 7% ¥R AR Y 5

17 LEASES (continued)

(a)

Right-of-use assets (continued)
Notes:

(i)

(i)

(ii)

(iv)

The Group obtains the land use rights through
lease contracts with local governments in the
PRC with 50 years term.

The Group’s interest in leasehold land is on
medium term lease of 50 years located in Hong
Kong.

The Group obtains right to control the use
of office and other properties for a period
of time through lease arrangements. Lease
arrangements are negotiated on an individual
basis and contain a wide range of different
terms and conditions including lease payments
and lease terms ranging from 1 to 3 years.

The Group’s lease expenses (Note 8) are
primarily for short term leases.

Depreciation of approximately HK$492,000
(2023: HK$614,000) is included in “Cost
of sales” and HK$7,034,000 (2023:
HK$6,112,000) is included in “Administrative
expenses” in the consolidated income
statement.

During the year ended 31 March 2024,
management considered that impairment
indicator existed for the non-financial
assets of the Motors CGU as a result of its
unfavourable performance. Based on value-
in-use assessment, impairment losses of
HK$3,718,000 (2023: Nil) were recognised in
right-of-use assets.

KIN YAT HOLDINGS LIMITED #E#&EEAR A7

17 & (»)
GERREEE(£)

(a)

e -

(i)

(i

(ii)

(iv)

AR (B35 38 B2 rh B3 7 BUR AT 32
AEBOFM ARG L EM
T -

REMEZIBE TR AH50
FZHHEEREURLRE
e

REEFBEELHFIEN B
iSAEINaEE B ENED S R/ E 3
FIEROREN - ME LR EE
TR - BE RSB TRGR R
- BEEENRENF1E234F
Z T -

AEHZHEMX (HEs) T2
KEMHMEE -

#r & #9492,0008 T (Z T = =
F 1 614,000%% JT) &7,034,000
BT (2T - =4 :6,112,000
BIT) B A RIFT AR B WE R
[EERA] RITERAX] -

REBEE-_Z-_WF=A=1+—H
LHFE BEERE ARER
ERRSELBNHTHERE -
HIESMEELBRREDNSR -
RIREAEEN S FAEEE
B #3305 (B 5 183,718,000 7T
(ZZTZ=F:|) -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 75 ¥ 2= BT AE

17 LEASES (continued) 17 & (»)

(b) Lease liabilities by HEESRE
2024 2023
—ENE —T-=F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET
At 1 April REOA—H 12,073 12,920
Inception of lease contracts kol 7,820 6,984
Termination of lease BIEHRE - (1,017)
Interest expenses on lease liabilities HEBBE FEHT
(Note 7) (Bi&t7) 482 396
Payment for lease liabilities YRHREAE
(including interest) (BEFE (7,542) (6,444)
Exchange alignment [E 3, 7 2 (458) (766)
At 31 March R=B=+-—H 12,375 12,073
Amount due for settlement M2E AN HER 2
within 12 months A 7,282 5,596
Amount due for settlement W12 AZEEEE 2
after 12 months I 5,093 6,477
12,375 12,078

FRNHEHERL R HBLEA
8,364,000 L (=& = = F
6,584,000 7T) ©

The total cash outflows for leases for the year
were HK$8,364,000 (2023: HK$6,584,000).

The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is
disclosed in Note 3.1(c).

FE R (&2 B ES TR I 3E8.1(0)
W -
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INTANGIBLE ASSETS

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DR R E U

18 BEEE

Goodwill
GRS
HK$’000
FETT
At 31 March 2023 and R-E-_=ZFZA=Z=+—HK
1 April 2023 —E-_=F1HA—H
Cost and net book value AR K BREDFE 4,650
Opening net book value FYE®EFEEAE 4,650
Impairment (Note 8) BB (H77E8) (4,650)
Closing net book value RZE-WMF=A=+—HZ
at 31 March 2024 FREEFE -
At 31 March 2022 and NR-ZE-_—FE=A=+—BK
1 April 2022 —ZE-_FA—H
Cost and net book value AR K BR TR B 10,857
Opening net book value FYE®EFEEAE 10,857
Impairment (Note 8) BB (H7528) (6,207)
Closing net book value R-ZE-_=F=A=+—8~
at 31 March 2023 FARIRMEFE 4,650

Impairment of non-financial assets

Goodwill and intangible assets that have an indefinite
useful life are not subject to amortisation and are
tested annually for impairment, or more frequently
if events or changes in circumstances indicate that
they might be impaired. Other assets are tested
for impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount
may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is
recognised for the amount by which the asset’s
carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount.
The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s
fair value less costs of disposal and value in use.
For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets
are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are
separately identifiable cash inflows which are largely
independent of the cash inflows from other assets
or groups of assets (cash-generating units). Non-
financial assets other than goodwill that suffered an
impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the
impairment at the end of each reporting period.

KIN YAT HOLDINGS LIMITED a5 E B R A A

FERMEERE
BELRAREREEAFRNETLEER
FHE UYEFETRENR  HWE
EHHBERNEERRAED HBRRE
A AEETAS - HEERRSE
11 oK 52 &) {ok B 10 < B8 A RE K BE MR B B 2
TTRERD - BEBREEEZREE
BERT KO ERE s ZRERREES
B OSBENEEN R FERNR D
ERARREREBEMEZRRERE
REHERE  BESRBYABFRS
MA(BRREDBILNKE EMEER
BEMAGNAESAAN) MKEBRAS
(REELEM) NBEJBEHR - Y
BHERENFTBEE FREEAINE
THRE  AETRERST A ERMD -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

18 INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

Impairment test for goodwill
Management reviews the business performance
based on type of business as follows:

Motors ER:

In accordance with HKAS 36 “Impairment of Assets”,
the recoverable amount of a CGU is determined
based on the higher of fair value less costs of
disposal or value in use calculations. The Group has
calculated the recoverable amounts of the Motors
CGU based on the valuation report issued by an
independent valuer. These calculations use pre-tax
cash flow forecast covering a five-year period. Cash
flows beyond the five-year period are extrapolated
using the terminal growth rate stated below.

Inherent in the development of the present value
of future cash flow forecast are assumptions and
estimates derived from a review of the expected
revenue growth rates, gross profit margins,
terminal growth rate and discount rate. Changes
in assumptions or estimates could materially affect
the determination of the recoverable amount of
a CGU, and therefore could eliminate the excess
of recoverable amount over carrying value of a
CGU entirely and, in some cases, could result in
impairment.

KIN YAT HOLDINGS LIMITED  #% 5%

B 75 ¥ 2= BT AE

BEEE®)

7
CHERENTERENERHEL S
I

2024 2023
—ENF —ETE-=F
HK$°000 HK$’000
FE T FET

= 4,650

RIBEBB ST EREI6R I EERE] -
REEAFMHAWESEIREQF
BEREEXANFTE AN ERABETEE
(ABESERE)ETE - AEEDRES
SEERE LA EERS ﬁ”?éff%éuu
REeEEEMMNAIRWEE ZFTHE
KARFHRTAIERETRRAET -
AFHENReREMNA FlkAERE
EHfEE

FTERKBR S RETEN MIREFNRIRE
FEIFEARAL RE - ERE - KA
RERRBRE R RE M EET o RaRE
ﬁ%“@Tﬁﬁﬁ?iﬁuTW@é%
METERERATE WA REIL 2
ﬁ%ﬁi?iiuTW@ $EM$E
ENEE  E£&TERTIAREER
(=

EBRAR]

155



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DR R E U

18 INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued) 18 B EE &)
Impairment test for goodwill (continued) EERENR (Z)
The key assumptions and parameters used for value FREBEFTELIMANEERENZHE
in use calculations are as follows: N
2024
ZEZNmEF
E&E CGU Motors CGU
ETEmR BERESR

ReELEN BREELEBEN

Average revenue growth (Note i) YW IR (H ) 9.3% 5.9%
Average gross profit margin (Note i) EHEFIE (KD 18.0% 12.0%
Terminal growth rate (Note i) KA R (K7 22i) 2.0% 2.0%
Discount rate (Note i) BEER 3 (ff atii) 14.2% 14.1%
2023
—E-=F
E&E CGU Motors CGU
ETEM BHE M

ReELSU REELSBU

Average revenue growth (Note i) EYW IR R (f ) 18.3% 10.4%

Average gross profit margin (Note i) T E R R (B 52) 18.1% 13.5%

Terminal growth rate (Note ii) KA R (B 22i) 2.0% 2.0%

Discount rate (Note iii) BEIR 3 (ff atiii) 14.8% 14.4%

Notes: Baz

iy  Average revenue growth rate and average gross (i) U RERERFHEMNERER
margin covers the five-year forecast period. It is FIEBE - DUBTRBAREREEY
based on the past performance and management’s MSEBNTEABKIE -

expectations on market development.

(i) ~ The terminal growth rates do not exceed the long- iy XAERTSHOBRSELENM
term average growth rate of the business in which KENEBHRAFTHERESE -

the CGUs operate.

@iy ~ Pre-tax discount rate applied to the pre-tax cash flow @iy FEARBRMAIESREENABRTA
forecast. ALIR & o

156 KIN YAT HOLDINGS LIMITED #E#&EEAR A7 ANNUAL REPORT 2024 4 [Z ¥



ANNUAL REPORT 2024 4 [Z ¥

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

18 INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

Impairment test for goodwill (continued)

These assumptions and parameters have been
used for the analysis of each CGU within the
operating segment. Management determined the
financial forecast based on past performance and
its expectations for the market development. The
discount rates used are pre-tax and reflect specific
risks relating to the relevant segments.

In the Motors CGU, the recoverable amount
calculated based on value in use was lower than the
carrying amount by HK$139,408,000. Accordingly,
HK$4,650,000, HK$131,040,000 and HK$3,718,000
provision for impairment were recognised for
goodwill, properties, plant and equipment and right-
of-use assets respectively.

The Group has performed a sensitivity analysis
for the recoverable amount as at 31 March 2024.
The below analysis shows how total provision for
impairment of goodwill would be changed as a result
of change in the significant assumptions, with all the
variables taken in isolation:

Motors CGU: A fall in average revenue growth by
0.8%, a fall in average gross profit margin by 0.1%,
a fall in terminal growth rate by 0.4%, or a rise in
pre-tax discount rate by 0.2%, all changes taken
in isolation, would lead to approximately further
HK$5,000,000 impairment to the non-financial
assets for the Motors CGU; and

E&E CGU: A fall in average revenue growth by 0.1%,
a fall in average gross profit margin by 0.1%, a fall
in terminal growth rate by 0.4%, or a rise in pre-tax
discount rate by 0.2%, all changes taken in isolation,
would lead to approximately further HK$5,000,000
impairment to the non-financial assets for the E&E
CGU.

18

B 75 ¥ 2= BT AE

BEEE®)

BB R AR ()
ZEBRRSUC ARSI NELHE
SESCELBR - SEERATERR
HEMISRROBHETHEE - 5
MR EARBATLE ¥ ARK
EEEHEABNSTRR -

NE#BSELSEMN  BHEAEEFE
/) A Uk [0 < B8 K 7 BR [ {8 139,408,000
BLoEI EREE WE--HBER
BEARGRAEEED B BERAER
#4,650,000/% 7T * 131,040,000/ 7T &
3,718,000/ 7t °

AEEER-_ZT-_NF=A=+—H#
A Bl BRETHRERE NN o AT DA
BrARBZRERBRESIFEEE
RRESMAMES  EPEBUFE
PrE®E :

BERERBECELBMN  WEFER
K 10.8% « FHEF EFAD01% -
KB IR D 0.4% B R B Al B IR R 1
hno2% (FTEEE B tE)  HER
ERERREELSEMNNIIECHEEE
— % H{E #75,000,00058 7T + &

BEfERRSELEN  WuaFHER
R A01% - FHEFERKL01% -
XAB IR K A 0.4% 8 Br 71 AT BL IR &K 1%
Mmo2% (FTBEEBBIUE)  BEE
EFERRESEASBNNIEEREEE
— BB #75,000,0007 7T ©
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 7% ¥R AR Y 5

19 PROPERTIES UNDER 19 BEDPYWE

DEVELOPMENT

2024 2023

—E-NF —E=F

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FET

At 1 April RPMA—H 310,620 454,115

Additions NE 11,223 78,192

Impairment (Note 8) BB (K158) (17,117) (191,304)

Exchange alignment bE 3 & (7,275) (30,383)

At 31 March (Note) R=R=+—8Wi#) 297,451 310,620

Current portion BIHER &R 5> (199,765) (207,404)

Non-current portion EENHAES 97,686 103,216

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group
provided impairment loss of HK$17,117,000 (2023:
HK$67,748,000) to write down the carrying value of
properties under development to their net realisable
value due to the decline in market price. During the
year ended 31 March 2023, the Group also provided
impairment loss of HK$123,556,000 to write down
the carrying value of a shelved project which the
management decide to cease further development.

KIN YAT HOLDINGS LIMITED #E#&EEAR A7

REZE-ZE-_WF=A=+—HILHF
[ AEEBEFHRRIEEE17,117,000
B (ZZT =4 : 67,748,000/ T) -
LA ERAMENREDERTE T
WREEJSRFEE REE_T_=
FZAZ+—HULEFE  AEEBE
12 38 {8 B 18123,556,0007% 7T » LA iR
EREBRAEPILE—PERMNIBEIRE
RIBRTEI(E °
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

19 PROPERTIES UNDER

DEVELOPMENT (continued)

Note:

Properties under development comprise:

Construction costs and BERAR
capitalised expenditures BRI
Interests capitalised FEE AR
Land use rights + b0 FA A
Impairment VEREEN

Properties under development is stated at the lower of
cost and net realisable value. Net realisable value takes
into account the price ultimately expected to be realised,
less applicable variable selling expenses and anticipated
cost to completion, or by management estimates based on
prevailing market conditions.

Development cost of property comprises mainly
construction costs, cost of land use rights, borrowing
costs capitalised, and professional fees incurred during the
development period.

Properties under development is classified as current
assets unless those will not be realised in one normal
operating cycle.

KIN YAT HOLDINGS LIMITED

B 7% ¥R 2R Y 5

19 BERHYE (»)

Mt
BERPMERE
2024 2023
11 -3 ZEZ=F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FHET
334,316 331,054
41,857 42,871
121,471 124,413
(200,193) (187,718)
297,451 310,620

BERTMERNABATER FEZRES
SR o AT BAIR R AN E B &R IER A # IR (E
% REERAR2EERY RBERRTRA
REE  mERBRIEZATREL G -

MEBERRATEZBFEZERAN - LHEH
BRA  ERCBRERARBERINEEZ
BEXEM-

BRTVEDBRADEE  ETEN —(E
CHE2EFHUNERENTEUR -

HaREERAR
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20 COMPLETED PROPERTIES HELD

FOR SALE

At 1 April R A—AR
Properties sold BEEME
Impairment (Note 8) BB (K15#8)
Exchange realignment bE 58 &

At 31 March R=A=+—H

Impairment for the year ended 31 March 2024
amounting to HK$9,365,000 (2023: HK$48,774,000)
were recognised to write down the carrying value
of unsold inventory of completed properties held for
sale to their net realisable value.

Completed properties held for sale is stated at the
lower of cost and net realisable value. Net realisable
value takes into account the price ultimately
expected to be realised, less applicable variable
selling expenses and anticipated cost to completion,
or by management estimates based on prevailing
market conditions.

Development cost of property comprises mainly
construction costs, cost of land use rights,
borrowing costs capitalised, and professional fees
incurred during the development period.

Completed properties held for sale is classified as
current assets unless those will not be realised in
one normal operating cycle.

KIN YAT HOLDINGS LIMITED a5 E B R A A

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DR R E U

20 FEHEZERTIYE

2024 2023
—ENF —ETE-=F
HK$°000 HK$’000
FE T FET
79,128 143,954
(9,433) (6,226)
(9,365) (48,774)
(1,648) (9,826)
58,682 79,128

HE-_Z-_NF=-ZA=+—HIFE"
BIEHREZRTIWMEZAREETE
AEEMAZETERFE B2
{E£ %8 49,365,000 L (ZE - =F :
48,774,000/87T) °

Fr{E & 2 3% T W) 3R 4% BOA B 8431 )%
BEZBEENR - AIZBEFEREERK
RIEFTRAIZRER  HEERAEHE
X RFEHETRARET @ LHEE
BAREE AT AR AT

MEBRKMATEBIREZENAN - L
ERERAE EREBERARERY
NEEZBEXER -

FIELEZRTINELBRRBEE
HErER—ELEEEBRANERER
LR -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

INVENTORIES

Raw materials o
Work in progress EEm
Finished goods YK o

Less: Provision for impairment

Raw materials, work in progress and finished goods
are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost comprises direct materials, direct
labour and an appropriate proportion of variable
and fixed overhead expenditure, the latter being
allocated on the basis of normal operating capacity.
Costs are determined using the weighted-average
cost method. Costs of purchased inventory are
determined after deducting rebates and discounts.
Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in
the ordinary course of business less the estimated
costs of completion and the estimated costs
necessary to make the sale.

The cost of inventories recognised as expense
and included in “Cost of inventories sold”
amounted to approximately HK$610,050,000
(2023: HK$688,333,000). Reversal of provision
amounted to HK$24,360,000 (2023: Provision of
HK$5,801,000) was included in “Cost of sales” in
the consolidated income statement during the year
ended 31 March 2024.

B ORER R

B 75 ¥ 2= BT AE

21 FE

2024 2023
—E-NEF =
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET
99,220 130,120
22,545 26,319
58,874 75,953
180,639 232,392
(12,473) (36,833)
168,166 195,559

PR TR SR B A e T
PFE Y BIRE I - A B E RN
HOEBSTREELNZ TERESE
BISH I - MR E R — MRS E AL R
I FRA TSR I TR A -
0 B A A AR 0 B 0 90 B 3 0 44
FE o AR A — R AR
£ E R TR R Y T B
WAE -

BREAIERFAIEEFTEXNA] 2
7 &k R 49 4610,050,0005 7T (=&
— =4 : 688,333,000 JT) ° BB
[6124,360,0008 7T (Z T = = F : ##
5,801,000/ L) ERBEE_T - MF =
A=+ BLEFEFAGZAKRIERD
[HERA] -
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22 ACCOUNTS AND BILLS RECEIVABLE

Accounts receivable JE Ui BR 3R
Bills receivable FE W = %
Accounts and bills receivable FE U BR FR N =R
Loss allowance Er BB

Accounts and bills receivable, net

Accounts and bills receivable are amounts due from
customers for goods sold or services performed in
the ordinary course of business. Accounts and bills
receivable are generally due for settlement within 60-
90 days and therefore are all classified as current.

Accounts and bills receivable are recognised initially
at the amount of consideration that is unconditional
unless they contain significant financing
components, when they are recognised at fair value.
The Group holds the accounts and bills receivable
with the objective to collect the contractual cash
flows and therefore measures them subsequently at
amortised cost using the effective interest method.
See Note 3.1 for a description of the Group’s
impairment policies.

The Group’s trading terms with its customers are
mainly on credit, except for new customers, where
cash on sale or payment in advance is normally
required. The credit period is generally for a period of
one to two months, extending up to three months for
certain well-established customers. Each customer
has a maximum credit limit. The Group seeks to
maintain strict control over its outstanding receivables
and has imposed tightened control to minimise
credit risk. Overdue balances are reviewed regularly
by senior management. The Group does not hold
any collateral or other credit enhancements over its
accounts and bills receivable balances. Accounts and
bills receivable are non-interest-bearing.

KIN YAT HOLDINGS LIMITED a5 E B R A A

MR R RR - 35

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DR R E U

22 EWERAKRERE

2024 2023
—E-NEF =
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET
239,011 219,573
15,632 -
254,643 219,573
(12,564) (8,831)
242,079 210,742

FEMERAR R RIEEIR —REF BT
HEmmIEERRFMEKREP 2K
7 o YR M RF AT ARE0EI0R
N&EE WA BERRE -

UL BRI RBEIRESHE
BR - BRIFEBRSEARMES D B
A TR AFEER - AREFARK
ERERERENENRERANRER
B Rt HERERERN KRS HK
AEE - ERAKERERRZFE
A2 ESA -

AEBERP ZEFHERABOUEE
FRET  EFEP—RFEUARSHAE
NEABEERI - EEH-—RR—EM
BA ETEERRARFZEFPZEER
HAMERZ=@A - BREFPHAE
B ER o AN BE R Uk Bl & R IB R 1
BRAR R B 05R 2 I LA KHE & R BR FE
ERE - BREEAESTHRIEBH
KERR o AEEY B EBURA N RE
EHREEMNERRIEBERERT -
FEU IR R K BB TR ©
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DR EE U

22 ACCOUNTS AND BILLS RECEIVABLE 22 EWERFNERE &)

(continued)
An aging analysis of the accounts and bills receivable RMEHR - BUREREERZERS
as at the end of the reporting period, based on the fURBEZEE) WNT -

invoice date, is as follows:

2024 2023

—E_F —E-=F

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FET

0-30 days 02 30H 106,570 113,850
31-60 days 31£60H 55,441 52,437
61-90 days 61£90H 41,152 24,762
Over 90 days 90H I E 51,480 28,524
254,643 219,673

Loss allowance ESERE (12,564) (8,831)
242,079 210,742

At 31 March 2024, the Group had certain RZZE-_WMF=A=+—H8 » KEHFA
concentrations of credit risk that may arise from EREHAARF AR AREFHE RO
the exposure to the five largest customers and the MEAEZTEFEERE  97E4RE
largest customer which accounted for approximately BEWGRIBATE 2 4162% (ZE —=F

62% (2023: 56%) and 10% (2023: 16%) of the 56%) R10% (ZZFE =% : 16%) °

Group’s total accounts receivable, respectively.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 7% ¥R AR Y 5

22 ACCOUNTS AND BILLS RECEIVABLE

(continued)

The movements in provision for impairment of
accounts and bills receivable are as follows:

At beginning of the year

Impairment losses/(reversal of
impairment losses) recognised
during the year

Exchange realignment

At end of the year

22 EWERFNERE &)

ERBRA R RR 2 RMEREZSHMT

2024 2023

—EF —EZ=F

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FET

REF ) 8,831 14,998

RERERZBEEE,
CRfEEIERE)

3,940 (5,302)

e H AT (207) (865)
RER 12,564 8,831

The Group applies the HKFRS 9 simplified approach
to measuring expected credit losses which uses a
lifetime expected loss allowance for all accounts
receivable. Note 3.1(b) provides details about the

calculation of the allowance.

The carrying amount of accounts and bills receivable

approximate their fair values.

Denominated in:

HKD BT
Usbh ETT
RMB AR
Others Http
164 KIN YAT HOLDINGS LIMITED

HaREERAR

AEEEREBMBGHRELRFIRE

fEHFEFERBEERE

BLPT A R

BBk (E B 2 HRTE RS R A o T R
3.1(b) WA MR E R 2 @A -

EBEEFREREZ REEREE A FER

E o
NN
2024 2023
—EMEF —E-=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
3,690 13,907
130,510 131,515
107,635 65,167
244 153
242,079 210,742
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

23 PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND

OTHER RECEIVABLES

Prepayment for property, plant and
equipment

Prepaid construction costs (Note i)

Prepayment for materials

VAT recoverables

Utility and other deposits

Staff advance

Other prepayments

Other receivable from disposal of
property, plant and equipment
(Note ii)

Other receivables

Less: Provision for impairment

Less: Current portion

Non-current portion

Notes:

15

ME - BERREBENA

TERBEKAN ()
MEHTE FRIB

AT U [B] 42 (F X
NEFIEREMMIZS
ET# iil,

E@ﬁﬁm

HEWE - WELEEN
H b JE YU 5B

(Bt &tii)

H th & Y FRI8

OB

B BERER

FERNEAEL 7

23 FANRE

B 75 ¥ 2= BT AE

s RERH AWK

2024 2023
—E-NEF TE-=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
26,380 22,610
4,869 8,787
18,457 20,742
35,155 28,641
6,375 10,244
1,565 2,009
1,344 1,738
63,176 -
41,115 47,333
198,436 142,104
(6,748) (3,200)
191,688 138,904
(163,331) (114,333)
28,357 24,571

g

(i)

(ii

ANNUAL REPORT 2024 4 [Z ¥

As at 31 March 2024, prepaid construction costs
include prepaid construction cost of approximately
HK$4,840,000 (2023: HK$7,107,000) to certain
contractors for the property development project in
Dushan County, Guizhou Province, the PRC. The
properties, upon completion, are for selling purpose
and are expected to be completed within operating
cycle, therefore, it is classified as current assets.

As at 31 March 2024, the Group had a receivable
for land compensation income from disposal of
property, plant and equipment in Shaoguan. The
Group is entitled to collect the receivable within two
years from the successful bidding date, therefore, the
balance is classified as current assets.

KIN YAT HOLDINGS LIMITED  #% 5%

(ii

R-_E-_WNFE=ZA=+—H" BH
BERABRERULAPEENE B
LWEsmERRBEE SN TFE T &
£ 494,840,000 L (Z T = =F :
7,107,000/ 7T) Z T EEE K © 2
i%%%ﬁl%%%ﬁﬂ‘ + 3P FE HA

N ERB\ART Al HoHM|
ﬁm®§F

RZZE-_WNFE=A=+—H ~5%H
REEURBEANYE  BERZE
B ERARKRIE ~NEEE
PR R T B A2 B B AR AT M A IR ER 3%
U GRIE Bt BEBTEESEA
MENEE o

EBRAR]
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 7% ¥R AR Y 5

23 PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND
OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)

The Group applies the HKFRS 9 general approach
to measuring expected credit losses which uses
12-month or lifetime expected loss allowance for
all deposits and other receivables which constitute
financial assets at amortised cost. Note 3.1(b)
provides for details about the determination of the
allowance.

The carrying amount of prepayments, deposits and
other receivables approximate their fair values.

Denominated in:

HKD BT
RMB AR
Others E i

KIN YAT HOLDINGS LIMITED a5 E B R A A

23 NI BEREMEWK

H (4)

7 8 8 8 7 7% B 765 3 2 0 R 2509 &9
—BATRHEEMEEEE  HEBRE
BHRAHEZ SBEENFERER
it e S AR 121 B S 2 RS
1B o W EE3.1(0) BB A T
BRI o

BNHIE  Ze REMERIRZ KRR
BEEARQFERS -

LTI EHEEE :

2024 2023

—ENF —E-=%F
HK$°000 HK$’000

FE T FET

9,677 11,087

173,958 121,797

8,053 6,020

191,688 138,904
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DR EE U

24 FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE 24 EBREREAFEIERz2EH

ANNUAL REPORT 2024 4 [Z ¥

THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS BE
2024 2023
—E-ME —E-=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Listed equity investment, at market value AR E @ RH1{E 1,812 85
Unlisted equity investment, at fair value 3 F IR AR E - IR A FE - 14,244
Key management insurance, at fair value TEEEERE @ IR A FE 13,447 13,079
15,259 27,408

The above investments at 31 March 2024 were
classified as held for trading and were, upon initial
recognition, classified by the Group as financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss (2023:
Same).

An insurance plan relating to the chairman of the
Company was included in financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss as at 31 March 2024.
The total insured sum as at 31 March 2024 was
US$3,500,000 (2023: US$3,500,000) (equivalent
to HK$27,397,000 (2023: HK$27,361,000)). If the
Group withdrew from the insurance policies, the
account value, net of surrender charges, would be
refunded to the Group. The insurance plan was
classified as financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss as their contractual cash flows are not
solely for payments of principal and interest.

RZZE-ZWMFEF=ZRA=+—Hz L#iZ#&
JABEES R B RERNHAE
EoEARBEREATEYIEZEH
BE(ZZEZ=F : #HR) -

RZTE-_MNF=A=+—HB ' —HEHH
ARBEFEEBZREBAZIEBLER
FRBEZRATENEZEREE
WeR—_ZT_MF=A=+—8 " 8%
R %8 &3,500,000F L (Z T = =4 :
3,500,0003 7t) (48 & 727,397,000/
L) (ZZFE = =4 : 27,361,000 7T) °

MAEBRR  AEBAERERFE
BEBRERRER) - ARESHORER
EVIFEARIAAE LFE - BUIRR
HENEAEEBEREAFEIRZE
BhEE -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 7% ¥R AR Y 5

25 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS,
TIME DEPOSITS AND RESTRICTED

BANK DEPOSITS

Time deposits — original maturity of

more than three months
Restricted bank deposits (Note)
Cash and cash equivalents

Denominated in:

HKD
usD
RMB
Others

KIN YAT HOLDINGS LIMITED a5 E B R A A

25 REkRASTERY EHER

LZREIRITER

2024 2023
—EEF —ET =4
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAET

EHFZ - R EE
Hwmidm=1{EA 129,990 10,006
SR BIRITFER (K2 581 1,093
HeMReERY 118,810 203,372
249,381 214,471

LTI EHEEE :

2024 2023
—E_NFE —E-=%F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FET
BT 47,701 41,776
ETT 153,591 96,712
AR 39,994 62,328
) 8,095 13,655
249,381 214,471
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

25 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS,

TIME DEPOSITS AND RESTRICTED
BANK DEPOSITS (continued)

Note:

Included in restricted bank deposits as at 31 March 2023:
RMB968,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$1,093,000)
placed in a bank for trade financing. During the year ended
31 March 2024, the Group fully repaid the bank borrowings
and released the restricted bank deposits.

As at 31 March 2024, the cash and cash
equivalents, time deposits, restricted bank deposits
and pledged deposits of the Group denominated
in RMB amounted to HK$39,994,000 (2023:
HK$62,328,000). RMB is not freely convertible
into other currencies; however, under Mainland
China’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and
Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment
of Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group is
permitted to exchange RMB for other currencies
through banks authorised to conduct foreign
exchange business.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based
on daily bank deposit rates. Time deposits are made
for varying periods of between four months and one
year (2023: Same) depending on the immediate cash
requirements of the Group and earn interest at the
respective time deposit rates.

KIN YAT HOLDINGS LIMITED

B 7% ¥R 2R Y 5

25 BERREZEFY EHEX

EEZRFBITER &)

Wiz

R-E-=F=ZA=+—B2ZRHET
GREEAREIMEMBEARITZARKE
968,0007T (A7 491,093,000/ 7T) = RE
E-FE-_NF=A=+—HLEFE £F%EH
ERYEBRITIEE REHRZREIEITER -

M-ZT-ME=A=+—H KEEI
ARBHEZEERBSERAY T
AERRZRERHABITERARLE K
T3 A39,994,0008 T (ZE - =4
62,328,000/ L) - ARBERAIE A K
BREEMER A BREMPEAR
HABIINE B IR0 R (EE - EER
NEEEHRT)  ANEEEELRIR
TBARESBAEHMEEEITINE
7% -

RITRSRE BT BIRITF A KR
ME - AEBZAKREFE - fEHN
FEAAZE—F(ZT==4: {HR) H
B2 F R - WIS TE MMM R R
EUFE »

HaREERAR
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26 ASSETS CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR

SALE

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group
entered into the Lands Resumption Agreement
with Shixing County Bureau of Natural Resources
(“SXBNR”), pursuant to which SXBNR agreed to
resume, the Group agreed to surrender, the land use
rights of the three parcels of land situated at Huang
Hua Yuan Industrial Area, Tai Ping Town, Shi Xing
County, Shaoguan City, Guangdong Province, the
PRC and certain assets thereon and entered into a
cooperation agreement with a property developer
according to the relevant rules and regulations
in the PRC including but not limited to the policy
pertaining to the Three-old Renovation, subject
to the successful bidding through public auction.
Agreement has already been signed before the year-
end and management considered the completion of
the transaction is unconditional and highly probable.
As a result, the relevant property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets of approximately
HK$38,335,000 and HK$2,765,000, respectively,
have been presented as assets held for sale as at 31
March 2023.

In accordance with HKFRS 5, the assets classified
as held for sale are measured at lower of their
carrying amount immediately prior to being
classified as held for sale and fair value less cost
to sell. At the date of initial classification as held
for sale, the carrying amount of the assets were
lower than the fair value less cost to sell as at that
date. Accordingly, no loss was recognised due to
remeasurement at the initial classification.

In April 2023, Debao Real Estate Development Co.,
Ltd. has successfully won the public auction. The
resulted gain on disposal is disclosed in Note 6.

Up to 31 March 2024, the Group has received
RMB54,139,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$59,657,000) from SXBNR, and the remaining
RMB57,332,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$63,176,000) are receivable from Debao Real
Estate Development Co., Ltd within two years under
flexible terms as disclosed above.

KIN YAT HOLDINGS LIMITED a5 E B R A A

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DR R E U

26 PEARBFELHEEE

HE-_Z-_=—F=ZF=+—HIFE"
AEERPBREZIAERE ([ H&
BRERB]) I L e @ 7 % -
it IREZ B RERBRIET HEER
BN R BRERETRENE=ZENER
BER RAERDERAEERERE
R RERERETREEKFHE
EEETIERZ BT HER
ERETEE WH—RMWEZHEMNF]
YEERE HAXRRERAREE
BRI - B RN FERIEE - M
EIRERAB RS E KT
BEAEEEX At RZZT=Z=F
—RA=+—8 B8 - BELXHE
RAFEFREEE D 54938,335,000/%8 7T &
2,765,000 LE 25 BIFELEEE ©

REBEMBHRELNFESR  DER
FIFREEERER D BRAFIIFLER
MEEAEERAFERLEXNARE Z
BIEEE - RYADBABIELREZ
B BEZKREEERZBZAFER
HERA » Bt - RAA D 8B E I & H
EMtEMEREE -

R-ZF-_=FNA rEZKEEFHBE
FEBRARCKYBEAFHMAE - A
I EE AR B M S P SR R R

HE-_Z-_WF=A=+—H &&
BEHREZAERERRBIARE
54,139,0007T (18 5 7 #959,657,000/%
L) R EXFHEENEFEIER  JE
Wi E ZEERMEREAR QTR
TE #4580 A R #57,332,0007T (MER L
63,176,000/870) AR M F RN AT o
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

27 ACCOUNTS AND BILLS PAYABLE,

OTHER PAYABLES AND
PROVISIONS

Accounts and bills payable (Note i)
Accrued expenses

Other borrowings (Note ii)

Other payables

Payable for construction work

Financial liabilities

Accrued employee benefit expenses
VAT and other tax payable

Deferred income (Note iii)

Total trade and other payables
Less: Non-current portion of
deferred income (Note iii)
Non-current portion of
other borrowings (Note ii)

Current portion

Denominated in:

HKD
RMB
Others

B 75 ¥ 2= BT AE

27 BNERRERRE - HttEARK
EEEE

2024 2023
—E-ME —EC-=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FET
N BRR R (K i) 184,059 202,402
FESTF X 19,161 19,390
E A& 3k (B 7i) 24,333 27,882
E b pE (S 308 20,066 20,756
BETREZEMNIE 6,769 7,314
TREE 254,388 277,744
FEsT R ERAIMAX 46,817 59,246
AR I E b e B IE 30,198 26,869
PEIEUR A (BT atiii) 11,454 19,233
FEAS BR 3R I E b fE A 3B

@R 342,857 383,092

B EIEW A 2 FERNERER 1
(B atiii) (8,009) (14,553)

H b g5k 2 FERDER 15
(B &zii) (11,968) (22,214)
BIEA =B {0 322,880 346,325

LT3 & #EHE :

2024 2023
—E-E —E-=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
F T FAET
BT 48,771 45,885
AR 274,212 309,559
Em 19,874 27,648
342,857 383,092

These amounts represent liabilities for goods and
services provided to the Group prior to the end
of financial year which are unpaid. The amounts
are unsecured and are usually paid within 60 days
of recognition. Accounts and other payables are
presented as current liabilities unless payment is
not due within 12 months after the reporting period.
They are recognised initially at their fair value and
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the

effective interest method.

ANNUAL REPORT 2024 4 [Z ¥

ZESRERNMBFEAERAREHRTA
SEzAMMERBZAERAR - %F
THEAEEMBEERRAGORNANX
o AR R AR SRR AR
BRE  BRIFNRLIENHE B HES
128 AREIH - BRARNIIGAFE
R HREBERMNSARBHERA

e
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DR R E U

27 ACCOUNTS AND BILLS PAYABLE,
OTHER PAYABLES AND
PROVISIONS (continued)

Notes:

(i)

(ii

The accounts and bills payable are non-interest-
bearing and are normally settled within credit terms
of two months, extending up to three months.

The carrying amounts of accounts and bills payables
are considered to be the same as their fair values,
due to their short term nature.

At 31 March 2024, the aging analysis of the accounts
payable based on invoice date are as follows:

0 - 30 days 0&30H

31 - 60 days 31£260H
61 — 90 days 61290H
Over 90 days 90H M £

As at 31 March 2024, the other borrowings comprise
(i) loan from spouse of Mr. Cheng Chor Kit, the
major shareholder of the Company, amounted to
HK$9,000,000 (2023: HK$15,000,000), which is
interest bearing and repayable in 2026, (i) loan from
an individual third party, amounted to HK$9,493,000
(2023: HK$9,722,000), which is interest bearing
at 2.8%-6.4% and repayable by instalment until
September 2025, and secured by certain properties
under development amounting to HK$14,825,000
and (iii) loan from an individual third party, amounted
to HK$5,840,000 (2023: HK$3,160,000), interest
bearing and repayable within one year, and is
secured by certain properties held for sale amounting
to HK$4,826,000.

KIN YAT HOLDINGS LIMITED #E#&EEAR A7

27 BENERAREE - HttEAR
HEEBE e

Wiz

() ENERERRBEITHE BER®
BEANEERNEN RZAEEE
=@A-

HREMNERRERAGEREE
A HREERRESERREAFE -

RZZB-WE=R=+—H0 " ENEK
R (RBEZAH) OT

2024 2023
—E-MNF T =F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET
67,624 57,253
34,313 43,953
52,667 37,697
29,455 63,499
184,059 202,402

iy M-ZZE-_MF=ZA=+—8 E#
ERBREOARBDEZRREDEMG L
4 7 B 48 2 B 549,000,000 T (=
T = =4 : 15,000,000 ) * Z &
RAFERANR T NEEE (i)
— & B E = 7 2 B 509,493,000
T (=T = =4 :9,722,000/ 7T) -
ZE R AIR2.8%E6.4%T B R AR
ZTEZRFNARMSBHEERE WS
B 514,825,000 w2 A TEESY
EEBEE R BBILE=ZH
2 B 35,840,000 L (Z T = =4 :
3,160,000/ L) - Z B X B B kA
R—FREE - B E %5 54,826,000
Bz ETRIELEMEERIER -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

27 ACCOUNTS AND BILLS PAYABLE,
OTHER PAYABLES AND
PROVISIONS (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(i)

ANNUAL REPORT 2024 4 [Z ¥

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the balance
mainly represented government grants received
in respect of the subsidies from The People's
Government of the Shixing County, Guangzhou
Province (the “Shixing County Government”) for the
Group's manufacturing company located in Shixing
County, Guangzhou Province, the PRC. These grants
are held as deferred income and recognised to the
income statement on a systematic basis to match
with the costs or the assets' useful lives that they
are intended to compensate in accordance with the
agreements with the Shixing County Government.
Subsidies of HK$4,531,000 (2023: HK$9,158,000)
had been recognised during the year and included in
subsidy income of “Other income and gains, net” in
the consolidated income statement.

The movements in deferred income are as follows:

At beginning of the year REA]
Additions NE
Disposal of a subsidiary

Grant recognised during the year RERNERZ AL
Exchange realignment FE i B
At end of the year RER

Hu:’l%_FEﬁMTE/D\ET

KIN YAT HOLDINGS LIMITED

B 7% ¥R 2R Y 5

27 BENERAREE - HttEAR
HEEBE e

Wiz - (3&)

(il

RBE-ZZ-_NF=A=+—HAItF
B HAHRIBEEREHREZARK
FI(THa BER BT ]) i Bl 48 AN SR E AL 7
FRERERESG 2 REEQNTND
WK B - ZEWBIZRGFEER
W RERTERAERUE S ZEE
B IR B 45 FER B AT 3 2 1 R B A
BZRASEENAFERFY - FR
B 7 324 B 57184,531,0000 T (=&
— =4 :9,158,000/8 7T) W 5t A4 A&
WS ERMTEMRA RIS - B8] &
B BRI o

FLEMWAZ ZEhnT -
2024 2023
—E-NF —E-=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
19,233 25,599
= 4,767
(2,883) -
(4,531) (9,158)
(365) (1,975)
11,454 19,233

HaREERAR
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DR R E U

28 BANK BORROWINGS 28 RITEE

Current portion BN EREL
Non-current portion JEBNEREF

Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value,
net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are
subsequently measured at amortised cost. Any
difference between the proceeds (net of transaction
costs) and the redemption amount is recognised
in profit or loss over the period of the borrowings
using the effective interest method. Fees paid on
the establishment of loan facilities are recognised as
transaction costs of the loan to the extent that it is
probable that some or all of the facility will be drawn
down. In this case, the fee is deferred until the draw
down occurs. To the extent there is no evidence that
it is probable that some or all of the facility will be
drawn down, the fee is capitalised as a prepayment
for liquidity services and amortised over the period of
the facility to which it relates.

Borrowings are removed from the statement of
financial position when the obligation specified in
the contract is discharged, cancelled or expired.
The difference between the carrying amount of
a financial liability that has been extinguished or
transferred to another party and the consideration
paid, including any non-cash assets transferred or
liabilities assumed, is recognised in profit or loss as
other income or finance costs.

KIN YAT HOLDINGS LIMITED a5 E B R A A

2024 2023
—E-NEF =
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET
369,146 269,065

= 82,200

369,146 351,265

EENZRAFEMRAEER HKA
BEER - BERRZB KA E - 7
BHREFBRRXSRA) BERSENE
BENMEEMEABRN AT RS HE
R RUEFBMEXNNER - RAJ&E
REETHAERERSERSERNR
SRR - RUBAT  ZEAGELE
REEERLL - WE L EEBERBER A6
REETHMERE  MIZERERER
BA IHERBE @ IRGHOFER KA
WRHEH BB R S -

EAMNTRENEEMEL - BUESEW
B {EEASRAMBIARFTEEG -
BRAERERT RS- THERAENERE
BHEENKE(BRCEZRNRTE
EXMAENER) 2HNER £18
mPERASEMBAXTHE -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

28 BANK BORROWINGS (continued)

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless
the Group has an unconditional right to defer
settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after
the reporting period.

As at 31 March 2024, the Group’s banking facilities
are secured by the corporate guarantees given
by the Company and certain subsidiaries of the
Company and the properties in the PRC owned
by the Group (20283: secured by the corporate
guarantees given by the Company and certain
subsidiaries of the Company).

Bank borrowings mature until 2025 and bear
average interest at 4.0% (2023: 5.3%) per annum.

At 31 March 2024, based on the contractual
repayment terms including repayable on demand
clause, the Group’s bank borrowings maturity
analysis would be as follows:

Within 1 year or on demand

Between 1 and 2 years

As at 31 March 2024, there are no bank borrowings
subject to repayment on demand.

R—FAFRER
iR —FENBIBRE

KIN YAT HOLDINGS LIMITED  #% 5%

B 75 ¥ 2= BT AE

28 WITHEE

EEREARDEE HEAKEHAE
RFEFNSEERENARECE RS
HiR & & D 1218 A & RIBR S ©

R_ZB_MF=A=+—H KxEEZ
RITMEARRBRARBETHER
ARt 2 AR RER M AREEA
RABZMER/RBR(ZT_=F: %
KRB RANRRETH BRI R
NEERSER) -

ﬁﬁ%gﬁ_q_ﬁiﬂ% Wiz F 15
ﬁz*”‘}?‘lo —T= g 53%)u+§ °

R-ZZE_NE=A=1t—H ZRaHNE
RHEE (BREEBREEGNK) A%
B ZRITEESIMOTMT

2024 2023

—F-MmF —EB-=F

HK$’000 HK$°000

FET TET

369,146 269,065

- 82,200

369,146 351,265

R-ZF-WME=A=+—8  BERT
fEEARBERER -

EBRAR]
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 7% ¥R AR Y 5

28 BANK BORROWINGS (continued) 28

The following table summarises the maturity
analysis of the bank borrowings which are subject
to repayment on demand based on scheduled
repayment dates as at 31 March 2023:

Within 1 year R—F R
Between 1 and 2 years BB —FETNBAMF

The carrying amounts of the Group’s bank
borrowings approximate their fair value.

Denominated in:

RMB AR
HKD BT
UsD ETT

As at 31 March 2024, the Group has uncommitted
undrawn bank facilities amounting to HK$88,154,000
(2023: HK$197,221,000).

KIN YAT HOLDINGS LIMITED #E#&EEAR A7

RITEE®)
TEBHR-—E—=F=A=1+—A8K
BIRBREBIEXZRTEENIES
W DREE TR A RES

2023
—E-=F
HK$’000
FET

30,289
28,394

58,683

AEBRITEEZFEEMERE A FER

++
o

LTHEMESTE :

2024 2023

—ENF —ET-=
HK$°000 HK$’000
FAET FET
369,146 170,257
o 172,649
= 8,359
369,146 351,265

RZZE-_NMF=A=+—H X&EHZ
AIBEUIEAFHIRTTRYE 588,154,000/
T (ZEZ=% :197,221,000 ) °
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DR EE U

29 DEFERRED TAX 29 EEHIE

B A E A B 1T RN AT A% BB P AS Y
BEEANMMEHABELRAENE &
FEFTISMER R — B IR B A BE - B AJ #%

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset
when there is a legally enforceable right to offset
current income tax assets against current income tax
liabilities and when the deferred income taxes related REMEHAEEBEREERE - &8
to the same fiscal authority. The balances shown in EHEE  SEVBRRRRESR
the consolidated statement of financial position, after T

appropriate offsetting, are as follows:

2024 2023
—ENE —T=Z=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHEIT
Deferred income tax assets RIEFSTHEE 2,215 4,145
Deferred income tax liabilities RIEMEHAE (21,731) (29,387)
Net deferred income tax liabilities RIS HAaE F5 (19,516) (25,242)
The movements in deferred tax liabilities and assets BELCHIBAEREERFTFAZEEH N
during the year are as follows: o
Gross deferred tax liabilities ELEHREBEEELEE
Depreciation
allowance in
excess of
related
depreciation Others Total
nERE
BEEH
TENSE Hith #at
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000
FET FET FET
At 1 April 2022 RZE-__FMA—H 39,286 2,723 42,009
Deferred tax credited to FARERFTAZ
equity during the year REFIE (9,102 - (9,102)
Deferred tax credited to FARMERITAZ
the income statement BT IE
during the year (Note 11) (Bfet11) - (712) (712)
Exchange realignment (AL (1,130) - (1,130)
At 31 March 2023 NZEZ=F
—A=+—H 29,054 2,011 31,065
Deferred tax credited to FARERFTALZ
equity during the year EIERIE (7,575) - (7,575)
Deferred tax credited to FARMERITAZ
the income statement BT IE
during the year (Note 11) (Bfet11) - (167) (167)
Exchange realignment P& 5 AR (20) - (20)
At 31 March 2024 NZEZE
—A=+—H 21,459 1,844 23,303

ANNUAL REPORT 2024 4 [Z ¥
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 7% ¥R AR Y 5

29 DEFERRED TAX (continued)

Gross deferred tax assets

At 1 April 2022 RZZE-_ZFMA—A

Deferred tax debited to the income — ERRUZEE MK 2
statement during the year (Note 11)  EIEFRIIE (f17711)
Exchange realignment BEE 3¢, 38 B

At 31 March 2023
Deferred tax (debited)/credited to the

RZE-_=F=A=+—H
FRRIRER OB A

29 EAERIE (&)

income statement during the year ZIELERIAE
(Note 11) (Btet11)

Released upon disposal of
a subsidiary

& — R B LR ER

Exchange realignment P& 5, %

At 31 March 2024 RZE_MF=A=1+—H
The Group has tax losses arising in Hong Kong of
HK$61,012,000 (2023: HK$41,947,000) that are
available indefinitely for offsetting against future
taxable profits of the companies in which the losses

arose.

The Group also has tax losses arising in Mainland
China of HK$75,672,000 (2023: HK$95,294,000)
that will expire in one to five years for offsetting
against future taxable profits.

178 KIN YAT HOLDINGS LIMITED #E#&EEAR A7

EERBEELE
Deferred
subsidy
income Others Total
EEBBEBA Hit @t
HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$°000
FET FET FET
6,400 1,279 7,679
(1,061) (264) (1,325)
(5631) - (531)
4,808 1,015 5,823
(1,156) 222 (934)
(697) - (697)
(405) - (405)
2,550 1,237 3,787

AEBEREBEE 2 FITEEEG1,012,000
B (ZE =4 : 41,947,000 7T) -
AERIAREHEEEABEB AR ZR
RIERBLAEAF)

AREB IR E R E S ES
875,672,000 T (ZF = = F :
95,294,000 7T) * R —ZE R FHH
FARA R 8 R PR FE SR B s A o
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

29 DEFERRED TAX (continued)

Deferred tax assets have not been recognised
in respect of these losses as they have arisen in
subsidiaries that have been loss-making for some
time and it is not considered probable that taxable
profits will be available against which the tax losses
can be utilised.

Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law,
a 10% (2023: 10%) withholding tax is levied on
dividends declared to foreign investors from the
foreign investment enterprises established in
Mainland China. The requirement is effective from
1 January 2008 and applies to earnings after 31
December 2007. A lower withholding tax rate may
be applied if there is a tax treaty between Mainland
China and the jurisdiction of the foreign investors.
For the Group, the applicable rate is 5% (2023:
5%). The Group is therefore liable to withholding
taxes on dividends distributed by those subsidiaries
established in Mainland China in respect of earnings
generated since 1 January 2008.

At 31 March 2024, no deferred tax has been
recognised for withholding taxes that would be
payable on the unremitted earnings that are subject
to withholding taxes of the Group’s subsidiaries
established in Mainland China (2023: Nil). In the
opinion of the directors, it is not probable that
these subsidiaries will distribute such earnings
in the foreseeable future. The aggregate amount
of temporary differences on undistributed profit
of the subsidiaries in Mainland China for which
deferred tax liabilities have not been recognised
totalled approximately HK$668,007,000 (2023:
HK$796,772,000) at 31 March 2024.

29

B 75 ¥ 2= BT AE

EERIE (2)

BEHBEEAEL AR RS HEEIENR
2 RAREEHEELECE —BRERE
BB R HBAT - B RERB%F
4R A T B B R IK S R I 5 98 o

RIBRBRPEMESRE - R BN
VZANEEECERIRNEEESTIR
fE 8 - ZBIZ10% (ZFEZ=F : 10%) &
WHEMH - R EE S NF—A—
BfEAR  WERAR -_ZT+F+ A
=+ —BEZEF o f§F R EIN
WEEZRZREBZFHBEH BB
o AMEASE CTENHE - giAE
EmME  BRAMERI% (ZTE_=%F:
5%) - At ANEEH ETE R EAHAK
VZZEMBRARABREBE-_EENF—A
—HREAZAFNAD IR KR EHBFTE
HFL o

RZEZWME=ZA=+—H  WERAK
EE AP E R 2 BB E AR
MBIz AELEEF 2 EREOH
MRELHB(ZE_=ZF &) BF
RE - ZEMNBAREAIERLARTIK
AN RBHARAT - RZTZMF = A
—t—BH AURAMRECHREERE
2B A B A R R DK ) 2 R
B 48 B A 1 41 /5668,007,000% 7T (—
T =4 : 796,772,000 7T) °
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30 SHARE CAPITAL 30 A&
2024 2023
—E-mEg —TEC-=F
HK$°000 HK$’000
F#ET FET
Authorised: VETE
1,000,000,000 ordinary shares of 1,000,000,000% & A%
HK$0.10 each FECA0B T LBk 100,000 100,000
Issued and fully paid: BEITRER
438,960,000 ordinary shares of 438,960,000M% & i
HK$0.10 each H1E0. 108 T 2 LB AR 43,896 43,896
A summary of movements in the Company’s share RATIEARSEHHENT -
capital is as follows:
Number of Share
shares in Share premium
issue capital account Total
BET
RAEE BEA  ROREE @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET
At 1 April 2022, WZB--—EmMA-A-
31 March 2023 and ZECZF=A=+—AM
31 March 2024 “E-MFEZA=+—H 438,960,000 43,896 156,015 199,911

KIN YAT HOLDINGS LIMITED a5 E B R A A
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 SHARE OPTION SCHEMES

During the year ended 31 March 2013, the Company
terminated the share option scheme adopted by
the Company on 20 August 2002 (the “Old Share
Option Scheme”) and adopted a new share option
scheme (the “New Share Option Scheme”) pursuant
to a resolution passed in the annual general meeting
dated 20 August 2012 which became effective on
the same date. The New Share Option Scheme will
remain in force for ten years commencing from the
effective date, after which period no further options
will be granted but the provisions of the New Share
Option Scheme shall remain in full force to the
extent necessary to give effect to the exercise of any
option granted prior thereto or otherwise as may be
required in accordance with the provisions of the
New Share Option Scheme.

The New Share Option Scheme

The Company operates the New Share Option
Scheme for the purpose of providing incentives
and rewards to eligible participants who contribute
to the success of the Group’s operations. Eligible
participants of the New Share Option Scheme
include the directors, including independent non-
executive directors, other employees of the Group,
suppliers of goods or services to the Group,
customers of the Group, any person or entity
that provides research, development or other
technological support to the Group, the Company’s
shareholders and any non-controlling interests in
the Company’s subsidiaries. The New Share Option
Scheme became effective on 20 August 2012 and,
unless otherwise cancelled or amended, will remain
in force for 10 years from that date.

31

B 75 ¥ 2= BT AE

B
REEZZT—=F=-A=1+—HILFE
A ARAIERERRFTRZZTZT_F
NAZ+BERMNERETS ([EER
EE ) WIREBEBHA-Z——F)N
AZ+RAZBRBAFARE LBBZRE
RN — IR RT B ([ 3B AR =T
1) - WA ENZEER - B
AR HERT B B £ H BRB AT T F N g
BEY - RzBEEETeREE—TE
At - HEFTIE AR R Bl 2 E SR (D A
RS  AEE R EAR T B4R E A
Tk AT REAR IR RIS IR AT B 2 X 1T
BRERTE 2 EMERETTEEITE -

B R RS B
ARBBITHEREFEEERAER
S8 E RSB PTEE R 22
KElfE - Bk aER2EER
RES (BRBIFNTES) A5HE
HitES  mAREREERIRSE 2
HER  AEEEF - $AKE R/
7 RBESEMEMEZEMALS
B ARABBRRRARAMEBARZ
EAIFE R R - FTBRER BN =F
——HENAZTHEN  BIERTEH
HEF > BRIBEAEF T FRERE
/‘—ﬁ °
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31 SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (continued)

The New Share Option Scheme (continued)

The offer of a grant of share options may be
accepted within 28 days from the date of the offer,
upon payment of a nominal consideration of HK$1 in
total by the grantee. The exercise period of the share
options granted is determinable by the directors, and
commences after a certain vesting period and ends
on a date which is not later than 10 years from the
date of offer of the share options.

The New Share Option Scheme expired on 19
August 2022. No new share option was granted
during the Year before the expiry of the New Share
Option Scheme.

As at 31 March 2024, there were 700,000 options
(2023: 1,000,000 options) granted under the New
Share Option Scheme.

The foregoing share options shall become lapsed if
the share options remain unexercised on and before
10 years from the date the options were granted as
disclosed in the following table.

KIN YAT HOLDINGS LIMITED #E#&EEAR A7

31

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DR R E U

BARESTE (2
FERES R (2)
EEATROBEHBREZZASE
HoF\BRESNEERBA L1
TERBREE RS - BHBREY
TEHEEERT  NETRBE%H
#h o AR R AR R B AR+
7 BRI -

MBREAER T - —FN\A+HA
JE# o REEBER B E M AT - AFE
PR h AT A -

MRZZ_ME=A=+—H  BEFHE
A AE =T 2| 2 3% H 700,000 BBRS#E (==
Z =% :1,000,0001D BERAE) -

il 70 SR P IEEE 2 BB AR X B X

A2 EHH o 2 BB DR 748 - Eit
LIS PR

ANNUAL REPORT 2024 4 [Z ¥



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (continued)

The following share options were outstanding under

the New Share Option Scheme during the year:

2024

Directors

g2
Wong Chi Wai
Sun Kwai Yu, Vivian

#En

Cheng Kwok Kin, Paul
L

Cheung Wang Ip
Rif

Date of share
options granted

RuRBEAS

1112017
112017
9112018
9112018
112017
9112018

9112018

ANNUAL REPORT 2024 4 [Z ¥

Vesting period
L B

from

:

ot
9/7/2018

91712018

9712018

to

120902017
12/9/2018

12/9/2018

200712018

B 75 ¥ 2= BT AE

31 BREE (2
RENERETERFARMNRITE 2B
RIEMT :

—E-MMEF
Number of share options Price of the
BREEE Company's
shares
immediately
At At before the
1 April 31 March grant date
02 Granted  Exercised  Lapsed 2024 Bxercise AL ARAR
i during during during i price 2%
ZECZE theyear  theyear  theyear ZFIRE Exerciseperiod ~ pershare  HUHAHH
BA-B RERRY REAGR REAKN ZB=t-8 8 SRiEE ZkE
HKS HKS$
AT AT
400,000 - - - 400,000 7/7/2017 - 6/7/2027 2.262 2.0
100,000 - - - 100,000 13/9/2017 - 6/7/2027 2.062 2.200
100,000 - - - 100,000 13/9/2018 - 8/7/2028 2410 2410
100,000 - - (100,000 - 13/9/2018 - 8/7/2028 2410 2410
100,000 - - (100,000 - 1[102017 - 6/7/2027 2.062 2.200
100,000 - - (100,000 - 90712018 - 8/7/2028 2410 2410
100,000 - - - 100,000 21/7/2018 - 8/7/2028 2410 2410

1,000,000 - - (300,000 700,000

KIN YAT HOLDINGS LIMITED #E#&%EABR A a]
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31 SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (continued) 31

The following share options were outstanding under
the New Share Option Scheme during the year:

BRETE (2
R 3T R AR S BN E R AT 2 B
BT ()

(continued)
2023 —E-=F
Number of share options
BhiEgn
At At
1 Apr 31 March
Vesting period 202 Granted  Exercised Lapsed 2023
Date of share GEH B during during during i
options granted from o Z%zZ the year the year theyer —E-=%
RiERERS i E OBA-R REARE  REAAE  REAKR ZPZT-8
Directors
H
Wong Chi Wai 11017 400,000 - - - 400,000
gl 017 017 12092017 100,000 - - - 100,000
972018 97018 121922018 100,000 - - - 100,000
Sun Kwai Y, Vivian 972018 97018 121922018 100,000 - - - 100,000
HEn
Cheng Kwok Kin, Paul 11017 100,000 - - - 100,000
gay 9712018 100,000 - - - 100,000
Cheung Wang Ip 9712018 91018 20712018 100,000 - - - 100,000
[
1,000,000 - - - 1,000,000

KIN YAT HOLDINGS LIMITED a5 E B R A A

Exercise

price

Exercise period per share
ks eRAKE

HKS

&

11112017 - 8/7/2027 2262
130972017 - 6/7/2027 2.262
13/9/2018 - 8/7/2028 2410
13/0/2018 - 8/7/2028 2410

11112017 - 6/7/2021 2262

9/7/2018 - 8/7/2028 2410

211712018 - 8/7/2028 2410

Price of the
Company's
shares
immediately
Defore the
grant date
L
Ring#
RhASH
ZBE
HKS

b4

220
220
2410
2410
220

2410

2470
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B 75 ¥ 2= BT AE

the Schemes. Should they be fully exercised,
the Company will receive HK$1,642,000 (2023:
HK$2,345,000) (before issue expenses). The
exercise in full of these share options would, under
the present capital structure of the Company, result
in the issue of 700,000 (2023: 1,000,000) additional
ordinary shares of the Company and additional share
capital of HK$70,000 (2023: HK$100,000) and share
premium of approximately HK$1,572,000 (2023:
HK$2,245,000) (before issue expenses).

31 SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (continued) 31 BREE 2
During the year ended 31 March 2024, 300,000 HE-_T-_HF= H ‘1’ HIEFE -
(2023: Nil) share options are lapsed and no share 300,000 (==& = CE)BERED
option expenses were recognised during the year %&ﬁ&ﬁﬁqiﬁﬁﬁiﬁﬁ%ﬁ%ﬂx%ﬁi(_?
(2023: Nil). T=FE) o
The following share options were outstanding under FAN - ZEFFTEE T RITEAERE
the Schemes during the year: U N
2024 2023
—S-mE —E-=F
Weighted Weighted
average average
exercise Number of exercise  Number of
price options price options
IR niEFH
TEE BREA TE(E BRESE
HKS$ per HK$ per
share share
ZRET FRE T
At the beginning and RE R
end of year FR 2.345 700,000 2.345 1,000,000
As at 31 March 2024, the Company had 700,000 RZB_MF=ZA=+—H KXRQF
(2023: 1,000,000) share options outstanding under RZE st 8118 T % A700,00000 (=&

— =% : 1,000,000 ) 8 AR1TE 2 BB
TE o fh%i%ﬂ%%ﬁéz%%%(ﬁﬁ PN/NG]!
#& U E1,642,0008 T (ZE = = F :
2,345,000 7T) (R $0BR 21T Sﬁs&)
BEARBZHEGENERE B8
1 52 5 B R M 1S B B RE ANEE 17700, ooo
f% (—Z = =4 : 1,000,0000%) & A

2 IR KRB AN ETHE iR K70, ooo,% T
—F = =4 : 100,000 7T) K K 15
i B 491,672,000 L (ZZE - =4
2,245,000/ 70) (KRR ETHE) °

KIN YAT HOLDINGS LIMITED #E#&%EABR A a]
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32

33

RESERVES

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the
movements therein for the current and prior years
are presented in the consolidated statement of
changes in equity of the financial statements.

The contributed surplus of the Group represents the
difference between the nominal value of the shares
of the aggregate share capital of the subsidiaries
acquired pursuant to the Group reorganisation on 7
April 1998 and the nominal value of the Company’s
shares issued in exchange therefor.

Other reserve represents the excess of the
consideration over the share of net assets acquired
from non-controlling interests.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
AND BALANCES

(a) Key management compensation
Key management includes executive directors
of the Group. The compensation of key
management personnel of the Group is shown
below:

32

33

Salaries, allowances and
benefits in kind
Pension scheme contributions

Total compensation paid to
key management personnel

Note:

e R R
BEWE T
BARESETEIHR

ENETEEEASR
e EE

Further details of the directors’ and the chief
executive’s emoluments are included in Note 10 to

the financial statements.

186 KIN YAT HOLDINGS LIMITED

HaREERAR

fit

AEBRAFERBEFE ZHERE
RESHHBENMBRRZGEER
HERANZT -

AEBZFANBBRERBER -ANNEF
MAEtRETZEESHEMEBERER
AIARRCAR 2 B HE R AR BB IAR
ZHMBITROEEIERE -

H b i e (U E R L G A SRR A s
T EEFEZHBD °

BFEBALRZ RER

(a) TEEEAEFHN
FTEEBAEBRRAEERTE
EoAREBETEEEAB ZH MM
™~

2024 2023
—E_NEF —E-=F
HK$°000 HK$’000
FHET FHT
7,860 14,126

52 66

7,912 14,192

Biat -

EENERSTHRABHMZE—THF
BEHRMBRERM 0.
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33 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 3B FRABMALIREZRES @)
AND BALANCES (continued)
(b) Significant transactions with related (b) HEBEBATZEERS
parties

The directors of the Company are of the view
that Unicon Investments Limited and Century
Grand International Limited (Notes), companies
owned by Mr. Cheng Chor Kit, are related
parties of the Group.

Lease expense paid to a related party [A @A T X2

Hefx
Unicon Investments Limited MEIREBRAT
(Note i) (Htati)
Century Grand International Limited 18 ¢ BB AR A 7
(Note ) (W ati)
Addition of right-of-use assets NEFREEE
Unicon Investments Limited WERERRAA
(Note i) (K7 &ti)
Interest expense of lease liabilities HEAGEMNEZH
Unicon Investments Limited WMERIEEBR AR
(Note i) (B z#i)
Century Grand International Limited BHREBER RN A
(Note i) (H1:i)
Addition on other borrowing H b & Y1 0
Spouse of Mr. Cheng Chor Kit BRIE S A 2 BB
(Note i) (K1 atii)
Repayment on other borrowing EEH M E K
Spouse of Mr. Cheng Chor Kit ERHE ST A 2 BB
(Note i) (H15#ii)

Notes:

(i) The lease agreement was conducted in
accordance with the terms as agreed by both
parties.

(i) The borrowing from spouse of Mr. Cheng Chor
Kit, the major shareholder of the Company, is
unsecured, interest bearing at 4% per annum
and repayable on March 2026.

ARBESERR  MEELALLEH
BEHNRRIMEREERARRE
RKEBEERATE (M) RAEHE

WA AL -

2024 2023
—E-ME —E-=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
1,498 1,498
215 215

- 4,201

158 29

10 18

- 15,000

6,000 -

Wit -

() THEEBEDRETOSIHEZ

BT ©

(i) AREEFBHREBBGELEY
Bz ERAEER  RFEFE
A%FTETS BN T - NF=A

fEi& -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B %% 2 MY =

34 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED 34 ZMEBEEREXRKE
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
(a) Proceeds from disposal of property, plant (a) HEVE BERREBEFAEBRE
and equipment
In the consolidated statement of cash flows, REERERERA - HEME
proceeds from disposal of property, plant and BB M RAE PTG RIE R IE ¢

equipment comprise:

2024 2023
—E-_MmE —E=%F
HK$°000 HK$’000
FET FET
Net book amount: BREFAE -
Property, plant and equipment Y BB MR E
(Notes 15) (HiiF15) 11,834 5,901
Loss on disposal of property, HEWE BMELRHEZ
plant and equipment &8 (262) (613)
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEWE  WE L&E
plant and equipment Fr18 3018 11,572 5,288

188 KIN YAT HOLDINGS LIMITED #E#&EEAR A7 ANNUAL REPORT 2024 4 [Z ¥
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34 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED 34 ZEBEREXRWT &)
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
(continued)
(b) Net debt reconciliation (b) FEKHE
This section sets out an analysis of net debt AEE Y Z R AR AFEE
and the movement in net debt for each of the BH DT A EE)

periods presented:

2024 2023
—E-_NE —_E_=
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHEIT
Cash and cash equivalents RekREZERY 118,810 203,372
Liquid investment (Note 24) MBNIEIRE (K7 5724) 1,812 14,329
Bank borrowings (Note 28) RITEE (K:#28) (369,146) (351,265)
Other borrowings (Note 27) HMEE (fi7e7) (24,333) (27,882)
Lease liabilities (Note 17) HEBE(HMF17) (12,375) (12,073)
Net debts FEB (285,232) (173,519)
Note: Bt -
Liquid investments comprise current investments that MBI ERERNERTEEE N
are traded in an active market, being the Group’s B§iRE  IAEBEIFEABEIEA
financial assets held at fair value through profit or FENEZCREE -
loss.
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34 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

34 ZREBRERERMT @

190

KIN YAT HOLDINGS LIMITED

(continued)
(b) Net debt reconciliation (continued) (b) FEBXHERE)
Cash
and cash Liquid Pledged Bank Other Lease
equivalents  investment deposits borrowings  financing liabilities Total
RBeREE
AN NBtRE CHEAER  BARE  HeRE  HEEE @z
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T Tz FET T Tz FET T
2024 ZECQE
Net debt as at W-E-=F=F
31 March 2023 St-BZEER 203,372 14,329 - (351,265)  (27,882) (12,073  (173,519)
Net cash movement Re283E (81,979) (5,462) - 21,720 3,212 7,542 (54,967)
Exchange realignment EREE (2,583) 19 - (39,601) 337 458 (41,370)
Other movements g9 - (7,074) - - - (8,302) (15,376)
Net debt as at RZBE-mE=R
31 March 2024 ST-BFER 118,810 1,812 - (369,146) (24,333) (12,375) (285,232
2023 —Z-ZF
Net debt as at W-Z--F=f
31 March 2022 =t-BZERER 256,934 14,508 12326 (529,147) - (12,9200 (258,299)
Net cash movement IEEY Eh2 (47,205) - (11,783 161,225 (28,450) 6,444 80,211
Exchange realignment XAk (6,337) - (543) 16,657 568 766 11,111
Other movements Hip# - (179) - - - (6,363) (6,542)
Net debt as at W-E-=F=AH
31 March 2023 “+-BZEER 208,372 14,329 - (351,26) (27,882) (12,073 (173,519)

HaREERAR
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35 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY

35 BEHESZEMTA

CATEGORY
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of RBEHR  SESRTAEZEMEN
financial instruments as at the end of the reporting o
period are as follows:
2024 2023
“E-mE s
Financial Financial Financial Financial
assets at fair assets at  assets at fair assets at
value through amortised  value through amortised
profit or loss cost  profit or loss cost
BZAYE REH BATE REH
SIiRZ BATTERZ 1| RAFTEZ
SREE SREE SREE EHEE
HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET
Financial assets SREE
Accounts and bills receivable T ES - 242,079 - 210,742
Deposits and other receivables Be RE M EW R - 105,484 - 56,386
Cash deposits BeHR = 249,381 - 214,471
Financial assets at fair value EREEATEYE
through profit or loss LEMEE 15,259 - 27,408 -
15,259 596,944 27,408 481,599
Financial liabilities E4
Financial liabilities at REERATEL
amortised cost: SRAGE:
Accounts and bills payable BRI RERE 184,059 202,402
Financial liabilities included in HAEMESTER
other payables, accrued EiaEseR
liabilities a8 70,329 75,342
Bank borrowings BIEE 369,146 351,265
Lease liabilities HEER 12,375 12,078
635,909 641,082
Note: Btz -
The fair values of the financial assets at amortised cost RBHEKATEZERMEEZ ATFERER
approximate their carrying amounts. EEBEE °

ANNUAL REPORT 2024 4 [Z ¥
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36 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL

POSITION AND RESERVE

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DR R E U

36 KATZHBRRRREHES
5

MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY

Statement of financial position of the Company

ASSETS

Non-current assets
Interests in subsidiaries

Current assets

Prepayments

Financial assets at fair value through
profit and loss

Cash and cash equivalents

Tax recoverable

Total current assets
Total assets

EQUITY

Equity attributable to equity
holders of the Company

Share capital

Reserves (Note)

Total equity

LIABILITIES

Current liabilities
Accrued liabilities and other payables
Bank borrowings

Total current liabilities

Non-current liability
Bank borrowings

Total liabilities

Total equity and liabilities

¥NNCT Bl B 3
2024 2023
=E'-mE T
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
BE
I RBEE
N ENEIPA 553,786 770,070
REBEE
FET KA 2 4
BREBERIEAFEYEREZ
SRVEE 13,447 13,079
HeMReERY 76,584 5,504
Al g B % I8 195 195
MEEEHERR 90,228 18,782
wEE 644,014 788,852
%
ARTAEREEARGERS
& 7 43,896 43,896
s (W) 595,287 605,655
EXEE 639,183 649,551
=R
REBEE
FESHE & N E A4 EM 08 4,831 5,776
RITIEE = 69,475
mE B EER 4,831 75,251
kRBERE
RITIEE = 64,050
FER=R 4,831 139,301
BEXREE 644,014 788,852

KIN YAT HOLDINGS LIMITED a5 E B R A A
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36 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL

B 75 ¥ 2= BT AE

36 KATZHBRRRREHES

POSITION AND RESERVE By (&)
MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY
(continued)
Note: Wi -
A summary of the Company’s reserves is as follows: ARBZHBREWLT
Share Share-based Capital
premium payment redemption Contributed Retained
account reserve reserve surplus profits Total
MR A
RERZ BRARE
R EER AREE 1 HABH RERT @t
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$’000
TET TET TET -2 -2 TEx
At 1 April 2022 WZE-__FmA-AH 156,015 670 14 104,750 353,435 614,884
Loss for the year FEER - - - - (9,229) (9,229)
At 31 March 2023 and W-E-ZFZR=1+-AK
1 April 2023 ZZZ=FPmA-H 156,015 670 14 104,750 344,206 605,655
Loss for the year FEEE - - - - (10,368) (10,368)
Lapse of share option BRERN - (221) - - 221 -
At 31 March 2024 RZE-mME=-A=1-AH 156,015 449 14 104,750 334,059 595,287

The contributed surplus of the Company represents
the excess of the then combined net assets of
the subsidiaries acquired pursuant to the same
reorganisation, over the nominal value of the
Company’s shares issued in exchange therefor.

Under the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda, the
Company’s contributed surplus is available for
cash distribution and/or distribution in specie under
certain circumstances prescribed by section 54
thereof.

RRBZHABBRIERER —ZAMK
BHBARERZAHEEFERD
ARBRZAXHMETRNOEEZZE
%ﬁ o

REARE-NN\—FRFDE - EFE54
GETAARRRIAER THERATABAR
MIERESDIRR,/ HEYDIK

KIN YAT HOLDINGS LIMITED #E#&%EABR A a]
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37 OPERATING LEASE
ARRANGEMENTS

(a) As lessor
The Group leases its investment properties
(Note 16) under operating lease arrangements,
with leases negotiated for terms of one year.

At 31 March 2024, the Group had total
future minimum lease receivables under non-
cancellable operating leases with its tenants
falling due as follows:

Within one year —F R
In the second to fifth years,

inclusive

(b) As lessee
The Group leases certain of its office properties
and warehouses under operating lease
arrangements. Leases for properties are
negotiated for terms ranging from one to two
years.

At 31 March 2024, the Group had total
future minimum lease payments under non-
cancellable operating leases falling due as
follows:

Within one year —F R
In the second to fifth years,

inclusive

From 1 April 2019, the Group has recognised
right-of-use assets for these leases, except for
short-term lease commitments as disclosed
above.

KIN YAT HOLDINGS LIMITED a5 E B R A A

37

E_FEFELF
(BRREEMF)

E_FEFERF
(BREREEMF)

(a)

(b)

EHENZH

ERHBEA
AEBRELLHOLTHEHE
BRAEWE (ME16) HAKER
MEE2 BB —%F -

RIZE-_WMFE=ZA=+—8 K%
EAREN T3 BB H 2 82
AZ DA HEEEHOMER 2
RREFEBESEBUOT

2024 2023
—EMEF —E-=F
HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FHEIT

761 3,067

35 3,910

796 6,977

fEREBAA

AEBERBEEEHNLHHERAES
THRAEMERRE - WERBENK
EEMEE2EAMNF—EMF -

RZZBE-_NME=A=+—H  &&
AR E 7 T 71 HA RS B 2 71 AT 4B
HEEHEOFEMN ZRRKIER
SEFEHMT

2024 2023
—E-NE —E-=F
HK$’000 HK$’000

F & T FHET
331 313

49 -

380 313

BE-T-NFOA-RAE  KLEX
PR ER < FE HATE B A S) - REE
ERREHERREREEE -
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38 COMMITMENTS

Capital expenditure contracted for at the end of the
year but not yet incurred is as follows:

39

ANNUAL REPORT 2024 4 [Z ¥

Property, plant and equipment

Properties under development and
investment properties

BREME

SUMMARY OF OTHER
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

39.1 Principles of consolidation and equity
accounting

(a)

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are all entities (including
structured entities) over which the Group
has control. The Group controls an
entity when the Group is exposed to, or
has rights to, variable returns from its
involvement with the entity and has the
ability to affect those returns through its
power to direct the activities of the entity.
Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from
the date on which control is transferred to
the Group. They are deconsolidated from
the date that control ceases.

The acquisition method of accounting
is used to account for business
combinations by the Group. The excess
of the consideration transferred and
amount of any non-controlling interest
in the acquired entity over the fair value
of the net identifiable assets acquired is
recorded as goodwill.

E =T S

BERTMER

KIN YAT HOLDINGS LIMITED

HaREERAR

B 75 ¥ 2= BT AE

(a)

38 KiE
RERBFTHEEREEZEART TN
T

2024 2023

—TE_NOE —EC-=F

HK$’000 HK$’000

FETT FET

14,583 32,470

16,429 23,706
Hit2BRBE

391 BERAREZRSTERE

M B A =
WMEAREAEEEHEASR
*%‘J%Zﬁﬁﬁffﬁg(&% s
BHEER)  2AKEES2HE
ZEBMAE ZREH R
sk =B AT S B Es
WEHENFREFTEZER
%f“z%j]%%&t#@#&
5 AR E AT A§§§°
l‘ﬁ% AT RS E B
rEBEE Ei¥§i?$A
B WREHIERIEE B R
TNEERE AR -

AEBEFERKBEEYE
BEMETEEE -
ERERRKRETBNEM
FEFR Il 144 5 WO B BRGER L A
W AT SR B E R EN AT
BN ERREE -
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39 SUMMARY OF OTHER
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

39.1 Principles of consolidation and equity
accounting (continued)

(a)

(b)

Subsidiaries (continued)

Intercompany transactions, balances
and unrealised gains on transactions
between group companies are eliminated.
Unrealised losses are also eliminated
unless the transaction provides evidence
of an impairment of the transferred asset.
Accounting policies of subsidiaries have
been changed where necessary to ensure
consistency with the policies adopted by
the Group.

Non-controlling interests in the results
and equity of subsidiaries are shown
separately in the consolidated income
statement, consolidated statement of
comprehensive income, consolidated
statement of changes in equity and
consolidated statement of financial
position respectively.

Changes in ownership interests

The Group treats transactions with non-
controlling interests that do not result
in a loss of control as transactions
with equity owners of the Group. A
change in ownership interest results
in an adjustment between the carrying
amounts of the controlling and non-
controlling interests to reflect their
relative interests in the subsidiary. Any
difference between the amount of the
adjustment to non-controlling interests
and any consideration paid or received
is recognised in “Other reserves” within
equity attributable to owners of the
Company.

KIN YAT HOLDINGS LIMITED #E#&EEAR A7

39 HSBERE 2

39.1 FERAREREEE (&)

(a)

(b)

ML R (&)
SEARARRS AR
SEARAERZREHRIK
@ GEE - REREET
S ERRHAREBR
RNEWREENRBERR
Sho B ARG BEE
EEFERFHRAE - AE
PRELZRER B TR B R EROR
_ﬁ °

B8 A A S48 Mk P RO 3F
ZRE m 0 R R AR A M
R FAERERER K&
RS E R MREPBAOR
RTPEFEY -

BEESH

N ER [ B IR AR o M A s
TEATEEREZH RN
SRSEREEEDRREE A
MR 5 REREEKEH
V2 O A o B IR R )
SREECFEEHRHE
VA B BR A B B 2 A O 4 S 4
oo JRIERIE RS ZARES
BmEAFRDANRERNRE
ZHEMERERE  RARA
BEm A ARBGEZTH
[E h fof | P AR
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

39 SUMMARY OF OTHER
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

39.1 Principles of consolidation and equity
accounting (continued)

(b)

ANNUAL REPORT 2024 4 [Z ¥

Changes in ownership interests
(continued)

When the Group ceases to consolidate
an investment because of a loss of
control, any retained interest in the entity
is remeasured to its fair value with the
change in carrying amount recognised in
profit or loss. This fair value becomes the
initial carrying amount for the purposes
of subsequently accounting for the
retained interest as an associate, joint
venture or financial asset. In addition, any
amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income in respect of that
entity are accounted for as if the Group
had directly disposed of the related
assets or liabilities. This may mean that
amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income are reclassified
to profit or loss or transferred to another
category of equity as specified or
permitted by applicable HKFRSs.

KIN YAT HOLDINGS LIMITED

fEinE S

B 7% ¥R 2R Y 5

Htb g5t BEME @)

391 FERAREREEE (&)

(b)

EBRAR]

BEESE(E)

EAKEEKEZGIED
BRAaAR-ERER R
ZERTEMNRERGEHE
MAERERFE UNE
S ERREENES - A
FEARK B8 REE - A
BHEKREA % SABRYIE
BENE RELERTR
BE- M BEREME
RSP ERTEZERR
A2 EM 2R HRAKRE
BEAEECD BERHEHEA
BESAB - HEKBER
Hite2mkaPERNE R
REHDREEE WS
BREERBAMBHELER
P E s A str) s — B
Bhl -
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39 SUMMARY OF OTHER
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

39.2

39.3

39.4

Separate financial statements

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for
at cost less impairment. Cost includes direct
attributable costs of investment. The results
of subsidiaries are accounted for by the
Company on the basis of dividend received and
receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in
subsidiaries is required upon receiving a
dividend from these investments if the dividend
exceeds the total comprehensive income of the
subsidiary in the period the dividend is declared
or if the carrying amount of the investment in
the separate financial statements exceeds the
carrying amount in the consolidated financial
statements of the investee’s net assets
including goodwill.

Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a
manner consistent with the internal reporting
provided to the chief operating decision maker
(“CODM?”), comprising the Board of Directors of
the Company.

Foreign currency translation

(@) Functional and presentation currency
ltems included in the financial statements
of each of the Group’s entities are
measured using the currency of the
primary economic environment in which
the entity operates (the “functional
currency”). The consolidated financial
statements are presented in HKD,
which is the Company’s functional and
presentation currency.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

39 SUMMARY OF OTHER
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

39.4 Foreign currency translation (continued)

(b)

ANNUAL REPORT 2024 4 [Z ¥

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are
translated into the functional currency
using the exchange rates at the dates
of the transactions or valuation where
items are re-measured. Foreign exchange
gains and losses resulting from the
settlement of such transactions and
from the translation of monetary assets
and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies at year end exchange rates are
generally recognised in profit or loss.

Foreign exchange gains and losses that
relate to borrowings are presented in the
consolidated income statement, within
“Finance costs, net”. All other foreign
exchange gains and losses are presented
in the consolidated income statement
on a net basis within “Other income and
gains, net”.

Non-monetary items that are measured
at fair value in a foreign currency are
translated using the exchange rates at the
date when the fair value was determined.
Translation differences on assets and
liabilities carried at fair value are reported
as part of the fair value gain or loss. For
example, translation differences on non-
monetary assets and liabilities such as
equities held at fair value through profit
or loss are recognised in profit or loss as
part of the fair value gain or loss.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 7% ¥R AR Y 5

39 SUMMARY OF OTHER

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

39.4 Foreign currency translation (continued)

39 HSBERE 2

39.4 SEEBE ()

(c)

Group companies

The results and financial position of
foreign operations (none of which has the
currency of a hyperinflationary economy)
that have a functional currency different
from the presentation currency are
translated into the presentation currency
as follows:

o assets and liabilities for each
statement of financial position
presented are translated at the
closing rate at the date of that
statement of financial position;

o income and expenses for each
income statement and statement
of comprehensive income are
translated at average exchange
rates (unless this is not a reasonable
approximation of the cumulative
effect of the rates prevailing on the
transaction dates, in which case
income and expenses are translated
at the dates of the transactions);
and

o all resulting exchange differences are
recognised in other comprehensive
income.

On consolidation, exchange differences
arising from the translation of any
net investment in foreign entities,
and of borrowings and other financial
instruments designated as hedges of
such investments, are recognised in other
comprehensive income. When a foreign
operation is sold or any borrowings
forming part of the net investment
are repaid, the associated exchange
differences are reclassified to profit or
loss, as part of the gain or loss on sale.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments
arising on the acquisition of a foreign
operation are treated as assets and
liabilities of the foreign operation and
translated at the closing rate.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

39 SUMMARY OF OTHER
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

39.4 Foreign currency translation (continued)

(d)

ANNUAL REPORT 2024 4 [Z ¥

Disposal of foreign operation and
partial disposal

On the disposal of a foreign operation
(that is, a disposal of the Group’s entire
interest in a foreign operation, or a
disposal involving loss of control over
a subsidiary that includes a foreign
operation or a disposal involving loss of
significant influence over an associate
that includes a foreign operation), all
of the currency translation differences
accumulated in equity in respect of that
operation attributable to the owners of the
company are reclassified to profit or loss.

In the case of a partial disposal that
does not result in the Group losing
control over a subsidiary that includes
a foreign operation, the proportionate
share of accumulated currency
translation differences are re-attributed
to non-controlling interests and are not
recognised in profit or loss. For all other
partial disposals (that is, reductions in the
Group’s ownership interest in associates
that do not result in the Group losing
significant influence), the proportionate
share of the accumulated exchange
difference is reclassified to profit or loss.
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39 SUMMARY OF OTHER
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

39.5 Property, plant and equipment

Freehold land and buildings are recognised
at fair value based on annual valuations by
external independent valuers, less subsequent
depreciation for buildings. A revaluation deficit/
surplus is debited/credited to asset revaluation
reserves in shareholders’ equity.

All other property, plant and equipment are
stated at historical cost less depreciation.
Historical cost includes expenditure that is
directly attributable to the acquisition of the
items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s
carrying amount or recognised as a separate
asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable
that future economic benefits associated with
the item will flow to the Group and the cost of
the item can be measured reliably. The carrying
amount of any component accounted for as a
separate asset is derecognised when replaced.
All other repairs and maintenance are charged
to profit or loss during the reporting period in
which they are incurred.

Changes in the carrying amounts arising on
revaluation of buildings are recognised, net
of tax, in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in reserves in shareholders’
equity. To the extent that the increase reverses
a decrease previously recognised in profit or
loss, the increase is first recognised in profit or
loss. Decreases that reverse previous increases
of the same asset are first recognised in other
comprehensive income to the extent of the
remaining surplus attributable to the asset; all
other decreases are charged to profit or loss.
Each year, the difference between depreciation
based on the revalued carrying amount of the
asset charged to profit or loss and depreciation
based on the asset’s original cost, net of tax,
is reclassified from the property, plant and
equipment revaluation surplus to retained
earnings.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

39 SUMMARY OF OTHER
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

39.5

39.6
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Property, plant and equipment (continued)
The assets’ residual values and useful lives are
reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the
end of each reporting period.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down
immediately to its recoverable amount if the
asset’s carrying amount is greater than its
estimated recoverable amount.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined
by comparing proceeds with carrying amount.
These are included in profit or loss. When
revalued assets are sold, it is the Group’s
policy to transfer any amounts included in other
reserves in respect of those assets to retained
earnings.

Construction in progress represents property,
plant and equipment under construction or
pending installation and is stated at cost
less impairment losses, if any. No provision
for depreciation is made on assets under
construction in progress until such time as the
relevant assets are completed and available
for their intended use. On completion, the
relevant assets are transferred to property,
plant and equipment at fair value or cost less
accumulated impairment losses.

Leases

Leases are recognised as a right-of-use asset
and a corresponding liability at the date at
which the leased asset is available for use by
the Group.

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are
initially measured on a present value basis.
Lease liabilities include the net present value
of the fixed payments (including in-substance
fixed payments), less any lease incentives
receivable.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DR R E U

39 SUMMARY OF OTHER
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
39.6 Leases (continued) 39.6 HE (&)

39 HSBERE 2

The lease payments are discounted using
the interest rate implicit in the lease. If that
rate cannot be readily determined, which is
generally the case for leases in the Group, the
lessee’s incremental borrowing rate is used,
being the rate that the individual lessee would
have to pay to borrow the funds necessary to
obtain an asset of similar value to the right-of-
use asset in a similar economic environment
with similar terms, security and conditions.

To determine the incremental borrowing rate,
the Group, where possible, uses recent third-
party financing received by the individual
lessee as a starting point, adjusted to reflect
changes in financing conditions since third
party financing was received, and makes
adjustments specific to the lease.

Lease payments are allocated between
principal and finance cost. The finance cost is
charged to profit or loss over the lease period
so as to produce a constant periodic rate of
interest on the remaining balance of the liability
for each period.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost
comprising the following:

° the amount of the initial measurement of
lease liability;

° any lease payments made at or before
the commencement date less any lease

incentives received; and

° any initial direct cost.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

39 SUMMARY OF OTHER
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

39.6

39.7
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Leases (continued)

Subsequent to initial recognition, right-of-
use assets are stated at historical cost less
depreciation. They are generally depreciated
over the shorter of the asset’s useful life and
the lease term on a straight-line basis. If
the Group is reasonably certain to exercise
a purchase option, the right-of-use asset is
depreciated over the underlying asset’s useful
life.

Payments associated with short-term leases
of properties, equipment and vehicles and all
leases of low-value assets are recognised on
a straight-line basis as an expense in profit or
loss. Short-term leases are leases with a lease
term of 12 months or less.

Rental income from operating leases where the
Group is a lessor is recognised in income on
a straight-line basis over the lease term. The
respective leased assets are included in the
consolidated statement of financial position
based on their nature.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of presentation in the
consolidated statement of cash flows, cash
and cash equivalents includes cash on hand,
deposits held at call with financial institutions,
other short-term, highly liquid investments with
original maturities of three months or less that
are readily convertible to known amounts of
cash and which are subject to an insignificant
risk of changes in value, and bank overdrafts.
Bank overdrafts are shown within borrowings in
current liabilities in the consolidated statement
of financial position.
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39 SUMMARY OF OTHER
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

39.8 Intangible assets

Goodwill on acquisitions of subsidiaries is
included in intangible assets. Goodwill is
not amortised but it is tested for impairment
annually, or more frequently if events or
changes in circumstances indicate that it
might be impaired, and is carried at cost less
accumulated impairment losses. Gains and
losses on the disposal of an entity include the
carrying amount of goodwill relating to the
entity sold.

Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating
units (“CGU”) for the purpose of impairment
testing. The allocation is made to those CGU
or groups of CGU that are expected to benefit
from the business combination in which the
goodwill arose. The units or groups of units
are identified at the lowest level at which
goodwill is monitored for internal management
purposes, being the operating segments (Note
5).

39.9 Investment and other financial assets

(@) Classification
The Group classifies its financial assets in
the following measurement categories:

° those to be measured subsequently
at fair value through profit or loss
(“FVPL"); and

° those to be measured at amortised
cost.

The classification depends on the entity’s
business model for managing the financial
assets and the contractual terms of the
cash flows.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

39 SUMMARY OF OTHER
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

39.9 Investment and other financial assets
(continued)

(a)

(b)

(c)

ANNUAL REPORT 2024 4 [Z ¥

Classification (continued)

For assets measured at fair value,
gains and losses will be recorded in
profit or loss. For investments in equity
instruments that are not held for trading,
this will depend on whether the Group
has made an irrevocable election at the
time of initial recognition to account for
the equity investment at fair value through
other comprehensive income (“FVOCI”).

The Group reclassifies debt investments
when and only when its business model
for managing those assets changes.

Recognition and derecognition
Regular way purchases and sales of
financial assets are recognised on trade-
date, the date on which the Group
commits to purchase or sell the asset.
Financial assets are derecognised when
the rights to receive cash flows from the
financial assets have expired or have
been transferred and the Group has
transferred substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership.

Measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures
a financial asset at its fair value plus, in
the case of a financial asset not at fair
value through profit or loss, transaction
costs that are directly attributable to
the acquisition of the financial asset.
Transaction costs of financial assets
carried at FVPL are expensed in profit or
loss.

Financial assets with embedded derivatives
are considered in their entirety when
determining whether their cash flows are
solely payment of principal and interest.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DR R E U

39 SUMMARY

OF OTHER

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

39.9 Investment and other financial assets

(continued)

(c) Measurement (continued)

Debt

instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt
instruments depends on the Group’s

busin
and

ess model for managing the asset
the cash flow characteristics of

the asset. The Group classifies its debt

instru

ments as:

Amortised cost: Assets that are
held for collection of contractual
cash flows where those cash
flows represent solely payments of
principal and interest are measured
at amortised cost. Interest income
from these financial assets is
included in finance income using the
effective interest rate method. Any
gain or loss arising on derecognition
is recognised directly in profit
or loss and presented in “other
income and gains” together with
foreign exchange gains and losses.
Impairment losses are presented
as separate line item in the
consolidated income statement.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

39 SUMMARY OF OTHER
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

39.9 Investment and other financial assets

(continued)

(c) Measurement (continued)
Debt instruments (continued)

ANNUAL REPORT 2024 4 /&

FVOCI: Assets that are held for
collection of contractual cash
flows and for selling the financial
assets, where the assets’ cash
flows represent solely payments
of principal and interest, are
measured at FVOCI. Movements
in the carrying amount are taken
through OCI, except for the
recognition of impairment gains
or losses, interest income and
foreign exchange gains and losses
which are recognised in profit or
loss. When the financial asset is
derecognised, the cumulative gain
or loss previously recognised in
OCI is reclassified from equity to
profit or loss and recognised in
other income and gains. Interest
income from these financial assets
is included in finance income using
the effective interest rate method.
Foreign exchange gains and losses
are presented in other income and
gains and impairment expenses are
presented as separate line item in
the statement of profit or loss.

FVPL: Assets that do not meet the
criteria for amortised cost or FVOCI
are measured at FVPL. A gain or
loss on a debt investment that is
subsequently measured at FVPL
is recognised in profit or loss and
presented net within other income
and gains in the period in which it
arises.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DR R E U

39 SUMMARY OF OTHER
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

39.9 Investment and other financial assets
(continued)

(c)

(d)

Measurement (continued)

Equity instruments

The Group subsequently measures all
equity investments at fair value. Where
the Group’s management has elected
to present fair value gains and losses on
equity investments in OCI, there is no
subsequent reclassification of fair value
gains and losses to profit or loss following
the derecognition of the investment.
Dividends from such investments
continue to be recognised in profit or loss
as other income when the Group’s right
to receive payments is established.

Changes in the fair value of financial
assets at FVPL are recognised in other
income and gains in the consolidated
income statement as applicable.
Impairment losses (and reversal of
impairment losses) on equity investments
measured at FVOCI are not reported
separately from other changes in fair
value.

Impairment

The Group assesses on a forward-
looking basis the expected credit losses
associated with its debt instruments
carried at amortised cost and FVOCI. The
impairment methodology applied depends
on whether there has been a significant
increase in credit risk.

For accounts and bills receivable, the
Group applies the simplified approach
permitted by HKFRS 9, which requires
expected lifetime losses to be recognised
from initial recognition of the receivables,
see Note 3.1 for further detalils.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

39 SUMMARY OF OTHER
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

39.10 Provisions

39.11

ANNUAL REPORT 2024 4 [Z ¥

Provisions are recognised when the Group
has a present legal or constructive obligation
as a result of past events, it is probable that
an outflow of resources will be required to
settle the obligation, and the amount has
been reliably estimated. Provisions are not
recognised for future operating losses.

Where there are a number of similar
obligations, the likelihood that an outflow will
be required in settlement is determined by
considering the class of obligations as a whole.
A provision is recognised even if the likelihood
of an outflow with respect to any one item
included in the same class of obligations may
be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value
of the expenditures expected to be required
to settle the obligation using a pre-tax that
reflects current market assessments of the time
value of money and the risks specific to the
obligation. The increase in the provision due
to passage of time is recognised as interest
expense.

Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and
the net amount reported in the consolidated
statement of financial position when there
is a legally enforceable right to offset the
recognised amounts and there is an intention
to settle on a net basis or realise the asset and
settle the liability simultaneously. The legally
enforceable right must not be contingent on
future event and must be enforceable in the
normal course of business and in the event
of default, insolvency or bankruptcy of the
company or the counterparty.
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39 SUMMARY OF OTHER

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

39.12 Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity (Note
30).

Incremental costs directly attributable to the
issue of new shares or options are shown in
equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the
proceeds.

39.13 Current and deferred income tax

The income tax expense or credit for the period
is the tax payable on the current period’s
taxable income based on the applicable income
tax rate for each jurisdiction adjusted by
changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities
attributable to temporary differences and to
unused tax losses.

(a) Current income tax

The current income tax charge is
calculated on the basis of the tax
laws enacted or substantively enacted
at the end of the reporting period in
the countries where the Company’s
subsidiaries and associates operate and
generate taxable income. Management
periodically evaluates positions taken in
tax returns with respect to situations in
which applicable tax regulation is subject
to interpretation. It establishes provisions
where appropriate on the basis of
amounts expected to be paid to the tax
authorities.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

39 SUMMARY OF OTHER
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

39.13 Current and deferred income tax
(continued)

(b)

ANNUAL REPORT 2024 4 [Z ¥

Deferred income tax

Deferred income tax is provided in full,
using the liability method, on temporary
differences arising between the tax
bases of assets and liabilities and their
carrying amounts in the consolidated
financial statements. However, deferred
tax liabilities are not recognised if they
arise from the initial recognition of
goodwill. Deferred income tax is also
not accounted for if it arises from initial
recognition of an asset or liability in
a transaction other than a business
combination that at the time of the
transaction affects neither accounting nor
taxable profit or loss. Deferred income tax
is determined using tax rates (and laws)
that have been enacted or substantially
enacted by the end of the reporting
period and are expected to apply when
the related deferred income tax asset is
realised or the deferred income tax liability
is settled.

Deferred tax assets are recognised only if
it is probable that future taxable amounts
will be available to utilise those temporary
differences and losses.

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are not
recognised for temporary differences
between the carrying amount and
tax bases of investments in foreign
operations where the Company is able to
control the timing of the reversal of the
temporary differences and it is probable
that the differences will not reverse in the
foreseeable future.

B 75 ¥ 2= BT AE
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39 SUMMARY OF OTHER

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

39.13 Current and deferred income tax

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DR R E U

39 HSBERE 2

30.13 ENEIRIEFEFR S (2)

(continued)

(b) Deferred income tax (continued)
Current and deferred tax is recognised
in profit or loss, except to the extent
that it relates to items recognised in
other comprehensive income or directly
in equity. In this case, the tax is also
recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity, respectively.

(c) Offsetting

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities
are offset when there is a legally
enforceable right to offset current tax
assets against current tax liabilities and
when the deferred income taxes assets
and liabilities relate to income taxes levied
by the same taxation authority on either
the taxable entity or different taxable
entities where there is an intention to
settle the balances on a net basis.

39.14 Borrowing costs

General and specific borrowing costs that
are directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of a qualifying asset
are capitalised during the period of time that
is required to complete and prepare the asset
for its intended use or sale. Qualifying assets
are assets that necessarily take a substantial
period of time to get ready for their intended
use or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary
investment of specific borrowings pending
their expenditure on qualifying assets is
deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for
capitalisation.

Other borrowing costs are expensed in the
period in which they are incurred.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

39 SUMMARY OF OTHER
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

39.15 Employee benefits

(a)

ANNUAL REPORT 2024 4 [Z ¥

Pension obligations

Employees of the Group in Hong Kong
are required to participate in a defined
contribution scheme as defined in
mandatory provident fund scheme
(“MPF Scheme”). The assets of the
MPF Scheme are held separately from
those of the Group under independently
administered funds. Contributions to
the schemes by the employers and
employees are calculated as a percentage
of employees’ basic salaries. Under the
MPF Scheme, each of the company
(the employer) and its employees make
monthly contributions to the scheme at
5% of the employees’ earnings as defined
under the Mandatory Provident Fund
legislation. The monthly contributions of
each of the employer and the employees
are subject to a cap of HK$1,500 and
thereafter contributions are voluntary.
The Group has no further obligations for
the actual payment of post-retirement
benefits beyond the contributions.

Employees of the Group in the PRC
are required to participate in defined
contribution retirement schemes
administered and operated by municipal
governments. The Group’s subsidiaries
in the PRC contribute funds to the
retirement scheme to fund the retirement
benefits of the employees which are
calculated on certain percentage of the
average employee salary as agreed by the
municipal government. Such retirement
schemes are responsible for the entire
post-retirement benefit obligations
payable to the retired employees. The
Group has no further obligations for
the actual payment of post-retirement
benefits beyond the contributions.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 7% ¥R AR Y 5

39 SUMMARY OF OTHER

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

39.15 Employee benefits (continued)

39 HSBERE 2

3015 EERH (&)

(b)

(c)

Employee leaves entitlements
Employee entitlements to annual leave
are recognised when they accrue to
employees. A provision is made for the
estimated liability for annual leave as a
result of services rendered by employees
up to the date of statement of financial
position. Employee entitlements to sick
and maternity leave are not recognised
until the time of leave.

Share-based compensation
Share-based compensation benefits are
provided to employees via the share
option scheme. Information relating to
these schemes is set out in Note 31.

Employee options

The fair value of options granted under
the share option scheme is recognised
as an employee benefits expense with
a corresponding increase in equity.
The total amount to be expensed is
determined by reference to the fair value
of the options granted:

- including any market performance
conditions (e.g. the entity’s share
price);

- excluding the impact of any service
and non-market performance
vesting conditions (e.g. profitability,
sales growth targets and remaining
an employee of the entity over a
specified time period); and

- including the impact of any non-
vesting conditions (e.g. the
requirement for employees to save
or holding shares for a specific
period of time).
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 75 ¥ 2= BT AE

39 SUMMARY OF OTHER 39 Htt St HERME»)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
39.15 Employee benefits (continued) 3015 EERFI (&)
(c) Share-based compensation (continued) (c) UBRHKOAEBRNHEE)

Employee options (continued)

The total expense is recognised over
the vesting period, which is the period
over which all of the specified vesting
conditions are to be satisfied. At the
end of each period, the entity revises its
estimates of the number of options that
are expected to vest based on the non-
market vesting and service conditions.
It recognises the impact of the revision
to original estimates, if any, in profit or
loss, with a corresponding adjustment to
equity.

(d) Termination benefits (d)
Termination benefits are payable when
employment is terminated by the Group
before the normal retirement date,
or whenever an employee accepts
voluntary redundancy in exchange for
these benefits. The Group recognises
termination benefits when the Group is
demonstrably committed to either: (a)
terminate the employment of an employee
or group of employees before the normal
retirement date; or (b) provide termination
benefits as a result of an offer made in
order to encourage voluntary redundancy.
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39.16 Interest income 39.16 F| 2 W A

Interest income is recognised using the FBWAFEAERFEEER - &
effective interest method. When a receivable FEWEIERERN  ~AEESEET
is impaired, the Group reduces the carrying BHIEEEWEIESEE - BlgZT
amount to its recoverable amount, being the ENRBERFERBEN-BEER
estimated future cash flow discounted at the KIREME - EREERGFEK
original effective interest rate of the instrument, NERRIAERN KR - WS
and continues unwinding the discount as RERELIRIEAT BUL A °

interest income. Interest income on impaired
loans is recognised using the original effective
interest rate.
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39 SUMMARY OF OTHER
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

39.17 Government grants

Grants from the government are recognised
at their fair values when there is a reasonable
assurance that the grants will be received
and the Group will comply with all attached
conditions.

Government grants relating to costs are
deferred and recognised within “Other income
and gains, net” in the consolidated income
statement over the period necessary to match
them with the costs that they are intended
to compensate. Government grant related to
property, plant and equipment are recognised
as deferred income and is recognised in the
consolidated income statement on a systematic
basis over the expected useful lives of the
related assets.

39.18 Non-current assets held for sale

Non-current assets are classified as held for
sale if their carrying amount will be recovered
principally through a sale transaction rather
than through continuing use and a sale is
considered highly probable. They are measured
at the lower of their carrying amount and fair
value less costs to sell, except for assets
such as deferred tax assets, assets arising
from employee benefits, financial assets and
investment property that are carried at fair
value and contractual rights under insurance
contracts, which are specifically exempt from
this requirement.

KIN YAT HOLDINGS LIMITED #E#&EEAR A7

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DR R E U

Htb g5t BEME @)

39.17 BUAT w8 Bh

BA#MRAEEEREANEERF
Yo B #eRs - Ha%ﬁé\ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ*ﬁﬂm
1¢ Eﬂ‘ *E Z\\ $ ﬁ EE N

BRARRA 2 BURF 8 RA #S BOEIE -
BEREMEKRAAFEYE HHE
REFEWaERERR/EMBAR
Yeas - FHEE] - BYE - BB AR
1 18 B - U 1 B B 28 A o T IR
AL ZEFREEREHBEEN
BHERFE RN G E W R R -

3.18 HFHEZHRBEE

i 3E 7 B & 2 M) BR (B = 238

B-EEEXSMIEFEELRAM
Yeel - BERHERRB LA A
e BIDBARHELE - AT
12 i T B 82 2 P B R 3H & X AN
ERHNBIRERTE - EARAARE
HMEMELEHRAEE - BERIE
ENEE  REELZATFET
RNREMEURRBRARET
Z B HIRERERSN -

ANNUAL REPORT 2024 4 [Z ¥



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DR R E U

39 SUMMARY OF OTHER
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

39.18 Non-current assets held for sale (continued)

39 HSTBERE 2

30.18 FHEFHEZHRBEE (&)
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An impairment loss is recognised for any initial
or subsequent write-down of the asset to fair
value less costs to sell. A gain is recognised
for any subsequent increases in fair value less
costs to sell of an asset, but not in excess
of any cumulative impairment loss previously
recognised. A gain or loss not previously
recognised by the date of the sale of the
noncurrent asset is recognised at the date of
derecognition.

Non-current assets are not depreciated or
amortised while they are classified as held for
sale. Interest and other expenses attributable
to the liabilities of a disposal group classified as
held for sale continue to be recognised.

Non-current assets classified as held for sale
and the assets of a disposal group classified
as held for sale are presented separately
from the other assets in the consolidated
statement of financial position. The liabilities of
a disposal group classified as held for sale are
presented separately from other liabilities in the
consolidated statement of financial position.
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY

MBBE

Year ended 31 March
BEZ=RA=1t-HLEE

RESULTS E4 2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
—E-NE —T-=F —E-—F —T-—4F —T_FTF
HK$000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$000  HK$000
FET FET FET FET FET
REVENUE & 1,103,944 1,209,602 2,316,315 2,693,865 3,114,221
(LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE BRETBBIAT
INCOME TAX (&8) /&R (190,571)  (297,723) 74,407 140,055 106,458
Income tax (expense)/credit e (Rx) /HEe (21,561) 3,554 (17,549)  (35,914)  (22,821)
Loss for the year from BREEEER L
discontinued operation FABE - - - (702) (8,272)
(LOSS)/PROFIT FOR THE YEAR £ (&) /%7 (212,132)  (294,169) 56,858 103,439 165,365
(LOSS)/PROFIT BT & B RE4L
ATTRIBUTABLE TO: (B8 /%5
Equity holders of the Company ARAEREFEAA (212,132)  (294,169) 56,858 103,626 170,049
Non-controlling interests IR R - - - (187) (4,684)
(212,132)  (294,169) 56,858 103,439 165,365
As at 31 March
R=A=+—-H
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BERERE 2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
—E-WME -—ZT-=F —T--F —FT-—F —T-FTF
HK$000  HK$'000  HK$000  HK$'000  HK$000
FET FET FET FET FET
NON-CURRENT ASSETS ERBEE 721,398 1,001,611 1,240,517 1,336,631 1,325,819
CURRENT ASSETS MEEE 1,102,940 1,094,602 1,677,566 1,874,202 1,548,542
TOTAL ASSETS BEE 1,824,338 2,096,213 2,918,083 3,210,833 2,874,361
CURRENT LIABILITIES HEEE (921,948)  (836,697) (1,151,842) (1,456,316) (1,265,474)
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES krBaE (46,801)  (154,831)  (176,331)  (255,021)  (382,805)
TOTAL LIABILITIES “wef (968,749)  (991,528) (1,328,173) (1,711,337) (1,648,279)
NET ASSETS EERE 855,589 1,104,685 1,589,910 1,499,496 1,226,082
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